Introduction
Melvin 1. Urofsky

This particular issue provides an even
greater potpourri than usual, since we have
some articles that came in “over the
transom,” some from previous contribu-
tors, some from the Leon Silverman
Lecture Series, and the “Judicial Bookshelf.”
While we are certainly delighted to offer you
such a rich repast, there is also a note of
SOITOW.

In December 2018, a colleague, friend,
and all around nice person passed away.
David M. O’Brien, contributed his talents to
the Journal as a member of the editorial
advisory board, as a contributor, and as a
sounding board for questions from time to
time. He and I collaborated on a few
projects, read each other’s manuscripts, and
as I have mentioned several times, the field
of Supreme Court history is small in
numbers, and David was one of its leaders.
His Storm Center: The Supreme Court in
American Politics, first published in 1986,
is now in its eleventh edition, and is one of
those books that both professionals as well
as undergraduate tyros turn to with con-
fidence. There is more about David and his
work in Grier Stephenson’s Judicial Book-
shelf, and from conversations I have had
with other scholars, there is no doubt that he
will be greatly missed.

Saikrishna Bangalore Prakash is James
Monroe Distinguished Professor of Law at
the University of Virginia, and his article
derives from the talk he gave in the
Silverman Series on Justices serving in
the Cabinet. His article notes that although
the Constitution establishes separation of
powers, it does not create a total separation,
that is, although a member of the judiciary
almost never simultaneously occupies an
executive position, theoretically he or she
could. In one hypothetical, Secretary of State
Mike Pompeo could work in Foggy Bottom
in the morning and sit on the Court of
Appeals for the D.C. Circuit in the afternoon.
In fact, from the beginning of the Republic
members of the judiciary—many of whom
had earlier served in a presidential cabinet—
continued to advise Presidents, draft legisla-
tion, and do other things that clearly
transcended what most people would con-
sider separated powers.

Another contribution in the series also
comes from the University of Virginia.
Sidney Milkus is White Burkett Miller
Professor of Politics, and Nicholas Jacobs
is a doctoral candidate in that department.
Although Justices leave the Court for many
reasons, James F. Byrnes is unique as the
only member to resign to serve in a cabinet



6 JOURNAL OF SUPREME COURT HISTORY

position. This occurred during World War 11
when several members of the high court
chafed at hearing what they saw as routine
and meaningless cases, at least compared to
the great challenge of a country at war.
Robert H. Jackson wanted to leave; Frank
Murphy actually enlisted, and on occasion
wore his uniform to Court, although the War
Department never called him to active duty.
Byrnes also wanted to leave, and in his case,
President Roosevelt wanted him to.

Robert H. Jackson is one of the most
enigmatic members of the Court; he is not
considered one of the “greats” for the simple
reason that he did not serve long enough. But
while on the bench he made his mark, and
also has a unique item in his record—
without resigning from the Court he served
as chief American prosecutor at the Nazi
War Crimes Trial in Nuremburg. Jackson
had been a close advisor to FDR, serving in
several positions including Solicitor General
(Justice Brandeis thought him so good he
commented that Jackson should hold that
office for life), then Attorney General, before
being named to the high court. John Q.
Barrett has become the leading Jackson
scholar of our time and has been working
on a comprehensive biography. From my
point of view, it cannot come soon enough.
His piece also derives from the Silverman
series.

My friend Mark Killenbeck is the Wylie
H. Davis Distinguished Professor at the
University of Arkansas Law School and is
recognized as the authoritative voice on
M’Culloch v. Maryland (1819). Mark notes
that although there were actually two issues
in the case, he and most scholars have paid
attention only to the question of Congress’s
power to establish a bank, and while aware
of the second question, have dismissed it as
an afterthought. In this article Mark pleads
mea culpa, and atones for his sin of omission
by tackling the second—and also important
—question of the state’s power to tax Bank

of the United States notes, which passed for
currency in the early nineteenth century.

One of the famous stories told about
the early life of Oliver Wendell Holmes,
Jr., i1s that he took an essay he had written
criticizing Plato to show to Ralph Waldo
Emerson. The famed poet read it and
declared the argument not strong enough.
“If you would strike at a king you must kill
him!” Adam Hines studies history at the
University of Oklahoma, and his argument
is that the admiration of Holmes for
Emerson lasted throughout the former’s
lifetime. Although Holmes is considered
the father of modern American jurispru-
dence and considered as rejecting the past,
Hines shows that in much of his philo-
sophy, Holmes clearly valued and retained
many of Emerson’s ideas.

James Ely, Jr., is another old friend in
the field, and he is now Underwood
Professor of Law Emeritus and Professor of
History Emeritus at Vanderbilt University.
His work has long dealt with the relationship
among law, property, and politics, and his
most recent book on the Contract Clause will
remain the definitive work on that subject for
years to come. (Truth in advertising: 1 read
the manuscript and wrote a glowing blurb for
his book.) Jim’s essay also comes from a
lecture series, but an earlier one on the
Supreme Court and the Progressive Era. As
anyone with even the slightest knowledge of
that era recognizes, the Supreme Court’s
property decisions were at the heart of much
of the attack on the judiciary.

As usual, last but certainly not least, is
Grier Stephenson’s “Judicial Bookshelf.” Grier
is now, like Jim Ely and me, “semi-retired,”
and holds the title of Charles A. Dana
Professor of Government Emeritus at Franklin
& Marshall College. I have already mentioned
his much-deserved tribute to David O’Brien,
but there is also, as always, his acute analysis
of some new books on the Court.

And as always, Enjoy!



All Banks in Like Manner Taxed?
Maryland and the Second Bank
of the United States

Virtually everyone understands that
there were two issues posed in M’ Culloch
v. Maryland." The first was whether Con-
gress had the power to create the Second
Bank of the United States, given the
Constitution’s failure specifically to
authorize Congress to create a national
bank or charter a corporation. The Court
held that Congress did, finding an implied
power to do what was both “necessary” and
“proper” to facilitate other enumerated
powers. That made it appropriate to con-
sider the second question: whether the
State of Maryland could levy a tax on the
notes issued by the Baltimore branch of
the Bank.

Once again, most of us are well aware of
the answer: no. Picking up on a phrase used
by Daniel Webster in his argument for the
Bank, Chief Justice John Marshall declared
in no uncertain terms “that the power of
taxing [the Bank] by the States may be
exercised so as to destroy it, is too obvious to

MARK R. KILLENBECK

be denied.”® Now known as the doctrine of
intergovernmental regulatory immunity, the
theory was simple. Taxation has a definite
impact on an institution and its operations. If
wielded inappropriately, the power to tax
could indeed control or compromise institu-
tional activities. The states may have been
sovereigns, and for them the “power of
taxation is one of vital importance.”® But
they could not employ it against the national
government and its operations. “This great
principle is, that the constitution and the laws
made in pursuance thereof are supreme; that
they control the constitution and laws of the
respective States, and cannot be controlled
by them.”*

So far, so good. But there are two
problems with this account, with the 200th
anniversary of the decision providing an
appropriate occasion for addressing them.

The first is that most treatments of
M’Culloch tend to emphasize Marshall’s
take on implied powers, giving at best short
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shrift to the taxation argument and issues
posed by it. In October 2014, for example,
the Frank C. Jones Reenactment of the
M’Culloch argument dealt only with the first
issue. This decision was largely dictated by
time; there simply was not enough available
to deal fully with two issues, but deleting the
taxation argument in favor of that concerning
implied powers was also an eminently
logical decision given the manner in which
most people view the case. The second
problem is that the taxation issue is much
more sophisticated than most people realize.
In particular, counsel for Maryland argued
that the tax was a largely de minimus
exercise in raising needed revenue, a mea-
sure within which the levy on the federal
Bank was consistent with the manner in
which Maryland dealt with all such financial
institutions.

The contention that the Maryland tax
was not a punitive measure has subsequently
gained a certain degree of currency. For
example. in his final work., Aggressive
Nationalism: McCulloch v. Maryland and
the Foundation of Federal Authority in
the Young Republic, Richard Ellis focused
his formidable skills and deep knowledge of
the founding era on the problems posed by
the decision. He stressed that his goal was to
rectify the failure of many scholars to
explore the full range of issues posed by
M Culloch. In particular, he argued for the
need to “examine the case from the point of
view of the losing side.” as he believed this
was the best way to deal “with relevant and
important issues, many of which are crucial
to understanding the case.”

When like Richard Ellis
speaks. people must listen. As one reviewer
stressed, adopting the Ellis rationales, so-called
“conventional™ scholarship on M’Culloch
tends to be “‘uncritical.” discussing the decision
on Chief Justice Marshall’s terms and focusing
on his interpretation of the Constitution to the
exclusion of the perspectives of the “losing
" Accordingly, 1 use the work of

someone

side.

Marshall’s critics as my point of departure
for a detailed examination of the taxation issue.
This is not because 1 simply wish to dispute or
discredit their work. Rather, it reflects the
reality that the Ellis study in particular is the
rare exception to the norm, one of the very few
within which the taxation issue is recognized
as important and discussed at length.

Ellis advanced three arguments “against
the [Second Bank of the United States]” that
he believed Chief Justice John Marshall
deliberately ignored in his opinion for the
Court, “probably because they would have
seriously undercut his own argument.”’ All
three are important and interrelated.

The first was the problem posed by the
fact that the Bank was actually a private
corporation. The second was that the Bank
was empowered to establish branches in the
states without first gaining the permission of
those states, which posed issues both for
state sovereignty and protection of state
revenue streams. The third was the origins
and nature of the tax itself.

The second argument regarding
branches is arguably not a significant con-
cern if one takes seriously the notion that the
power to create the Bank included the power

¢

to take all steps “necessary and proper” to
see that it was effective and efficient in its
operations. But the fact that the Bank was
technically a private corporation is a poten-
tially serious omission that is only partially
corrected by Marshall’s subsequent more
detailed analysis and rejoinder in Osborn v.
The President, Directors, and Company of
the Bank of the United States.® Ellis is not
alone in making his point. As George
Dangerfield emphasized. the Bank was at
least in name if not in effect a private
corporation and “[i]n his decision

Marshall avoided a/l discussion™ that fact.”
Harold J. Plous and Gordon E. Baker do the
same, stating with regard to the private,
character of the Bank that
“Marshall’s famed opinion did not even
undertake to answer the most challenging

profit-making
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The Second Bank of the United States (headquarters in Philadelphia, pictured), was popularly blamed for the
economic downturn of 1819 that precipitated the closing of many small businesses. When Maryland and other
states tried to restrict it by imposing a steep tax on its state branches, the Bank refused to pay and the case went
to the courts. While other states intended to shut down their branches, Maryland merely sought to raise revenue hy

taxing its branch.

points raised by the state.”'’ That said,
neither of these studies addresses Ellis’s
third and, to my way of thinking, most
important claim: the need to explore the
nature of the tax itself. The sole exception is
an indirect one, when Plous and Baker quote
Charles Warren to the effect that the
Maryland tax on the Bank’s notes was a
“heavy™ one.''" Warren includes the Mary-
land measure within a list of the various
states taxes that he introduces with the
characterization that “[r]adical legislation
was enacted by [the Bank’s]
opponents.”'? Gerald Gunther, the editor of
a third source listed by Ellis, does not discuss
any of these issues, although he does collect
contemporary criticisms of M’'Culloch
within which they are alluded to."?

The gist of the arguments against
Marshall and his decision is that any fair

assessment of M’Culloch and its impact must
include a “close examination of the
Maryland law, particularly in regard to its
timing, its provisions, and its purpose.”"*
Critics take issue with scholars who treat the
Maryland tax as “anti-Bank legislation,” a
measure no different from those in
Kentucky, Ohio, and Tennessee that were
“thinly disguised” assaults on the Bank. I am
admittedly the author of more than one such
account.'> My interest in these matters is then
in some respects informed by the reality that
critiques of Marshall’s opinion may well call
into question, by implication, my own work. I
trust, however, that what 1 am about to say
will be viewed in the same light that I treated
Aggressive Nationalism in stating that per-
haps the most important function of “high
quality scholarship—which Aggressive
Nationalism most assuredly is—remains “to
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open new vistas and provoke us to think
deeply about issues and events.”'®

I will do two things. First, I will examine
the implications of the “mere revenue mea-
sure” postulate from a purely legal perspective.
M’Culloch is after all first and foremost a legal
opinion, the Court’s answers to two specific
constitutional questions. Arguments about the
nature of the Maryland tax, and whether it was
given its due by John Marshall and his
colleagues, must accordingly account for legal
contexts within which they are posed. Second,
[ will conduct what I hope is an appropriately
close examination of the tax itself, with
particular attention to the circumstances within
which the Maryland legislature acted and the
specific terms of the statute it passed. My
conclusion is that Marshall’s critics are wrong
on both counts. The nature of the tax does not
actually matter for constitutional purposes.
And, when the Maryland law is examined
with care, the inevitable conclusion must be
that it was indeed a punitive measure directed
at the Second Bank.

As a threshold matter, it is important to
recognize that the precise nature of the Mary-
land tax is not dispositive for constitutional
purposes. Regardless of its true purpose or
effect, a Court intent on giving full force to the
Constitution could not let it stand. As a law
professor, I begin with an important legal
observation: the recognition that as a matter of
constitutional doctrine the precise nature of the
Maryland bank tax does not matter. That is,
even if the critics are correct, and the Maryland
tax was a simple revenue measure, a Court
intent on giving full purpose and effect to the
Constitution would not let it stand.

The heart of the argument against
Marshall’s treatment of the tax is that the
Maryland measure differed from those levied
in other states, in that “[t]he purpose of the
Maryland tax was not to destroy or even

attack the Baltimore branch of the [Second
Bank], but to raise revenue.”'’ The theory is
that if true, this has significant implications:

What, in effect, Marshall did in his
famous decision was to use a case
that came up from Maryland to rule
on developments in Kentucky and
Ohio, even though the issues in-
volved were significantly different.
Consequently, he totally avoided
discussing the differences between
a tax levied for revenue purposes
and one that was meant to make it
impossible for a branch to continue
doing business in a state.'®

As part of this argument, Marshall’s
critics suggest that many astute contemporary
observers felt that the constitutionality of a
simple revenue tax was an open question at
the time the case was argued and decided.
They note, for example, that Henry Clay
posed the possibility that a state could in fact
constitutionally “lay a tax bona fide for the
purpose of revenue and which shall only be
equal to the tax imposed on similar monied
institutions within their jurisdictions, re-
spectively.”'? Clay subsequently stressed,
however, that “[n]o proposition can be clearer
than that, if Congress had the power to make
the Bank, the States cannot have the power to
break it. The two powers, being incompatible,
cannot both exist.”?° The difficulty, Clay
observed, lay in whether “such an exercise of
power’—that is, a pure revenue measure
—*“could clearly be distinguished from that
which would have for its object the banish-
ment of a branch, and not revenue.”?'

Marshall did not in fact discuss the
possible differences between the two types of
tax. As a legal matter, however, the inevitable
conclusion is that he did not shy away from
this issue because he was afraid of the
consequences. Rather, he recognized both
that it did not matter and that this was not
the sort of inquiry a court should undertake.
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The text of the M Culloch v. Maryland decision, handed down March 6, 1819, as recorded in the minutes of the
Supreme Court of the United States, in which the Court held that the separate states could not tax the federal

government.

Marshall understood that, once the
power to tax at all is conceded, “like
sovereign power of every other description,
[it] is trusted to the discretion of those who
use it."** In effect he posed a familiar
constitutional problem, the slippery slope:
If the Court admits that the state has the
power to tax, the question becomes to what
extent it might be exercised. Consistent with
one of the assumptions made about
Maryland’s true goals, Marshall did stress
that “[t]he argument on the part of the State
of Maryland, is, not that the States may
directly resist a law of Congress, but that
they may exercise their acknowledged
powers upon it, and that the constitution
leaves them this right in the confidence that
they will not abuse it.”** He then made it
clear that, even if true, this did not matter:

We are not driven to the perplexing
inquiry, so unfit for the judicial

department, what degree of taxation
is the legitimate use, and what
degree may amount to the abuse
of that power. The attempt to use it
on the means used by the govern-
ment of the Union, in pursuance of
the constitution, is itself an abuse,
because it is the usurpation of a
power which the people of a single
state cannot give.>*

This position lies at the heart of the
applicable constitutional principle, intergo-
vernmental regulatory immunity. The issue
is not the scope of the power one sovereign
attempts to exercise over the other. Rather, it
is the mere fact that it tries to do so. For
example, in the years immediately preceding
M’Culloch, Spencer Roane and his collea-
gues on the Virginia Court of Appeals
recognized as a general matter that both
Article III and the Judiciary Act of 1789
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Chief Justice John Marshall's ruling for the Court in MCulloch established the doctrine of national supremacy. Did
his opinion gave short shrift to the tax issue in order to make its argument?

gave the Supreme Court appellate jurisdic-
tion. They were nevertheless unwilling to
accept that that power extended to the review
of their own decisions. That dispute was
finally resolved in Martin v. Hunter's
Lessee” decided in favor of the federal
government given the realities imposed by
the Supremacy Clause. In a similar vein,
current federalism cases focus on what
various members of the Court have char-
acterized as the “sovereign dignity of the
states,” rejecting. for example, the authority
of Congress to “commander” state legislative
or executive actors, even where, as was the
case United States,”® the
obligations imposed on a state officials
were both temporary and de minimus.>’
This assumes, of course. that the action
in question does actually affect the sovereign
itself, an issue highlighted by the contention
that Marshall failed to deal fully “with the
essentially privately controlled and profit-
making characteristics of the bank.”*® As

in Printz v.

Ellis, for example, notes, “although [the
Second Bank] performed a number of
important financial services for the federal
government, it hardly qualified, in many
people’s minds, to be considered an instru-
ment of the federal government, which is the
way Chief Justice Marshall characterized
it ... by claiming it was analogous to the
mint, the post office, the custom house, and
the federal courts.”*’

The point is a fair one. The Bank was a
private corporation, albeit one within which
the federal government had a stake and to
which were delegated various important tasks
undertaken on behalf of the nation. Marshall’s
treatment of this issue in M’Culloch was at
best cursory, and the analogies he drew based
on the possible impact of state taxation on
other undeniably national government entities
were admittedly overblown. This treatment
certainly lacked the detail offered in his
pointed rejection of the same arguments five
years later in Osborn, in which Marshall
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addressed at some length “the supposed
character of that institution.”*® Marshall
conceded there that:

[i]f these premises were true, the
conclusion drawn from them would
be inevitable. This mere private
corporation, engaged in its own
business, with its own views, would
certainly be subject to the taxing
power of the State, as any indivi-
dual would be;
circumstance of its being used by
the government in the transaction of
its fiscal affairs, would no more
exempt its private business from the
operation of that power, than it
would exempt the private business
of any individual used in the same

manner.3l

and the casual

Marshall continues, however, that “the
premises are not true. The Bank is not
considered a private corporation, whose
principal object is individual trade and
individual profit; but as a public corporation,
created for public and national purposes.”*?
Indeed, he stresses, the “whole opinion of
the Court [in M’Culloch] is founded on, and
sustained by” that reality.>® Even Justice
William Johnson, who filed an important and
vigorous dissent in Osborn, agreed with
Marshall on this point, noting that “[t]he
bank of the United States, is now identified
with the administration of the national
government.”**

It certainly would have been better if
Marshall had discussed this more fully in
M’Culloch itself. But it is worth recalling
that the threshold point of contention in that
case was implied powers, that is, whether
Congress could constitutionally create the
Second Bank given that the power to create
corporations was not mentioned in the text
and had in fact been expressly rejected by
the Framers during the Convention. Given

that reality, which meant that twenty-five of
the thirty-seven pages in the actual opinion
were devoted to that issue, a more cursory
treatment of the taxation questions is under-
standable.

Moreover, while it is certainly correct
that in 1819 “many people” viewed the bank
as a private enterprise, that was hardly the
universal opinion. Clay, for example, char-
acterized the Second Bank as ‘“‘the mere
instrument, in the hands of the Government,
for collecting and afterwards distributing” the
nation’s funds and, as such, “indispensable.”35
Press accounts at the time echoed these
sentiments. And, in the wake of and in
response to the January 1819 Spencer Com-
mittee report, which considered and docu-
mented allegations of mismanagement and
fraud in the administration of the Bank,® the
House Committee on Ways and Means
stressed the intimate connection with and
importance of the Bank in the management of
the federal government, given the role that it
played in the nation’s financial affairs:

There are few subjects, having
reference to the policy of an
established Government, so vitally
connected with the health of the
body politic, or in which the
pecuniary interests of society are
so extensively and deeply involved.
No one of the attributes of sover-
eignty carries with it a more solemn
responsibility, or calls in requisition
a higher degree of wisdom, than the
power of regulating the common
currency, and thus fixing the gen-
eral standard of value for a great
commercial community, composed
of the confederated States.”’

The proverbial bottom line is that, while
there was some disagreement about the
precise status of the Second Bank, a credible
consensus had been formed that it was in fact
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an instrumentality of the United States. The
connections between the Second Bank and
the government were extensive and critical
to both its goals and daily operations.
Marshall’s failure to document this more
fully in M’Culloch was unfortunate. It
stretches the imagination, however, to char-
acterize this shortcoming as a deliberate
attempt to mask a supposedly fatal flaw.

What of the tax itself? Was it, as critics
argue, a simple revenue measure? Three
points are made in support of this position:
That the political and social climate of
“hatred and enmity” toward the Second
Bank that prevailed in the other states taxing
it did not exist in Maryland; that Maryland’s
dire financial situation in 1817-18 was the
primary motivating factor for the tax; and
that the tax itself was both modest when
compared to those imposed by other states
and no different from the tax Maryland
assessed on its own, state-chartered banks.

Political and Social Climate in Maryland

There is little doubt that the political and
social climate in Maryland was different
from that that prevailed in other states in
which the Second Bank was attacked, either
through attempts to tax its operations or
through heated expressions of the state’s
rights position in response to M’Culloch.
The legislatures in Kentucky, Ohio, and
Tennessee did in fact pass taxation measures
that were clearly designed either to prevent
the establishment of branches or to drive out
ones that had already been put in place.
Virginia, in turn, remained perhaps the single
most virulently anti-Bank state, at least in
terms of the role that individuals in that state
played in attacking both M’Culloch and John
Marshall.”®

The situation in Maryland was, how-
ever, more complex. Maryland did not
harbor anti-Bank spokesmen or states’ rights
activists of the stature and influence of Amos
Kendall of Kentucky or Spencer Roane,
William Brockenbrough, and John Taylor of
Caroline in Virginia. But that does not mean
that Maryland did not harbor important and
influential opponents of banking and the
Second Bank.

For example, the local press at the time
reveals significant opposition to banks in
general, and the Bank of the United States in
particular. Hezekiah Niles used the pages of
his Baltimore-based Weekly Register to rail
against “the demoralizing and pernicious
business on banking; which we seriously
believe is the Pandora’s box that is to fill the
republic with all sorts of moral and political
diseases.™® He heaped particular scorn on
the Second Bank. Niles argued, for example,
that in creating it “the constitution was
exceedingly strained; if not sensibly
violated.”® And he observed in his next
issue that:

fw]e are much pleased to find that
our warm remarks about the
bank of the United States, were not
above the public temperament. So
far as we have heard, they received
the decided approbation of every
disinterested and considerate man.
The bank, like an abandoned
mother, has most imprudently bas-
tardized its offspring, and deserves
not the countenance or support of
honest people.*!

Alfred Cookman Bryan, in his History
of State Banking in Maryland, noted the
significance of these and similar statements
in the Maryland press when he discussed the
motives for the passage of the Maryland tax
on state-chartered banks; he stressed that
“[a] large element of the people was hostile
to the banks, either owing to fear of their
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power or to personal reasons, or to dread of
conditions in Maryland similar to those in
other States, concerning the horrors of which
the periodicals of the day, such as Niles,’
expatiated with the utmost vigor.”42 Hugh
Sisson Hanna, in his Financial History of
Maryland, agreed, observing that “[t]he
success of [the state banks] inspired
the hostility of a large class of citizens, the
more so because of the natural tendency of the
banking capital to centralize in one city,
namely, Baltimore,” a reality that exacerbated
“rural prejudice toward capitalistic institu-
tions, from which, as the banks loaned only
upon short-time notes, the farming element
could expect little benefit.”** Indeed, Robert J.
Brugger linked this rural-agrarian split with
Maryland’s opposition to the first issue posed
in M’Culloch, implied powers, observing that
“Maryland planters knew well that if federal
power reached far enough outside constitu-
tional bounds it might fall on slavery.
Controlled by rural delegates and senators,
the General Assembly in 1818 sought to
restrict one federal intrusion by requiring

Successful Baltimore merchant and influential U.S.
Senator Samuel Smith initially supported rechartering
the Baltimore branch of the First Bank of the United
States in 1811, but changed his mind after it tightened
credit and withdrew funds it had deposited in local
banks, provoking a recession in Maryland. Political
concerns and local anti-Bank sentiments would carry
over into opposition to the Second Bank.

banks opened ‘without authority of the state’
to pay a tax on issued notes or an annual fee of
$15,000.7*

A second important contextual factor
largely overlooked is that the Baltimore
branch whose activities lay at the heart of
M’ Culloch was the second incarnation of the
Bank in that city and that the record of its
predecessor left much to be desired. It is
correct that in 1819, when the Second Bank
was under attack in the wake of the Spencer
Committee report, Maryland’s representative
in Congress opted for reform of the Bank
rather than repudiation of it.*> But that does
not account for the significant role that
Maryland politicians played in the events
leading to the demise of the First Bank when
its charter came up for renewal in 1811.%¢
The realities surrounding those events do not
in themselves prove that the political climate
in Maryland was unremittingly hostile to-
ward the Second Bank. They do nevertheless
suggest that greater care must be taken when
assessing the motivations for the Mary-
land tax.

Perhaps the most telling aspect was the
role that Samuel Smith, a Revolutionary War
hero and highly successful Baltimore mer-
chant, played in both the defeat of the
recharter measure in 1811 and, albeit
indirectly, in the affairs of the Baltimore
branch in 1817-19.*’ In 1811, Smith was one
of the Senate’s more influential members. He
had considerable knowledge of banks and
banking, both as a merchant who used their
services and as a member of the boards of
two local banks, the Bank of Maryland and
the Bank of Baltimore. When the First
Bank’s charter came up for renewal, Smith
was appointed to the committee created to
consider the question. He had reservations
about the organization and operations of the
Bank as then chartered, but he believed that
the plan presented to the Senate in March
1810 would eliminate most of the defects.
That bill did not come to a final vote, and
Smith returned to Baltimore that summer
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with a clear and consistent record of support
for renewing the Bank’s charter, provided
the measure doing so contained the mod-
ifications he sought.

Unfortunately, the Baltimore branch of
the Bank and its supporters had waged an ill-
advised campaign to force the Baltimore
business community to support recharter. As
part of that process, the branch tightened
credit and withdrew funds it had deposited in
local banks. provoking a recession in the
area. Smith was furious and wrote Madison,
demanding that federal funds be withdrawn
from the Baltimore Branch and placed in
local banks.*® Smith declared that “if this
course should not be pursued ... there will be
members of Congress who will attribute it to
improper motives, and who will believe that
the Secretary of the treasury was thereby
favoring the institution.”” And he suggested
that if action was not taken, there would be
severe repercussions; he declared that “{w]e
certainly had better have no such institution,
if the consequence is that it can awe the
government at it’s pleasure.”"

Madison solicited Gallatin’s advice on
the matter, albeit without specifically men-
tioning Smith’s charges.”' In his response,
Gallatin indicated that the national fiscal
situation was so dire that any changes in
current policy would be disastrous.>® The
actions Smith demanded were accordingly
not taken and. on August 29, Madison so
informed him, stating that “any distributive
transfer of [Treasury deposits] to the State
Banks, would not be convenient to the
public, and must soon become unimportant
to them.™™

As a result. when Smith returned to
Washington for the final debates on the
Bank, he was fully opposed to it and made it
quite clear that recent events in Baltimore
played an important part in his assessment.
“Wherever [the Bank] extended its influ-
ence,” he charged, “dissension commenced:

wherever it placed its foot, it became
absolutely necessary for the States to erect
another ban to counterbalance its pecuniary
and political influence.”®* Three individuals
from Baltimore whose judgment Smith
trusted had informed him “that granting
this charter would be a death-blow to the
politics of the State of Maryland” and
“would be injurious to them, for neither
they nor many of the manufacturers of
Baltimore had received much advantage
from the branch bank: they had their own
banks, from which they generally received
accommodation.”> The Senate vote on
extending the charter was tied, 17-17, with
Smith voting against the Bank. This left the
matter in the hands of Vice President George
Clinton of New York, who made brief
remarks and then cast the deciding vote
against a new charter.

The fate of the First Bank was the product
of an admittedly complex mixture of constitu-
tional concerns, political considerations and, in
some instances, personal issues. Looking back
on the events, Gallatin captared a portion of
the mix when he wrote in 1830:

In 1810 the weight of the adminis-
tration was in favor of a renewal,
Mr. Madison having made his
opinion known that he considered
the question as settled by precedent,
and myself an open and strenuous
advocate. We had the powerful
support of Mr. Crawford in the
Senate and no formidable opponent
in either House but Mr. Clay, a
majority of political friends in both
Houses, and almost all the Federal
votes on that question: with no
other untoward circumstances but
the personal opposition to Mr.
Madison or myself of the Clintons,
the Maryland Smiths, Leib, and
Giles.”®
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The close vote in both the House and the
Senate means that no single individual
controlled the outcome. But Maryland’s
opposition to the First Bank was telling,
predicated on both traditional political con-
cerns and local anti-Bank sentiments. And
those considerations almost certainly carried
over into the period during which the Second
Bank was created and its Baltimore branch
established.

Maryland Economics

A second argument is that one of the
major motivations for the Maryland tax on
the Bank was the need to address the state’s
“dire financial straits,” in particular the
problems posed by the need to recoup
expenses incurred as a result of the War of
1812. The theory is that “[t]he unsuccessful
defense of Washington, D.C., had fallen
mainly on the Maryland militia, and it
proved expensive, the cost being estimated
at nearly a half million dollars. Although the
federal government was expected to pay for
most of this eventually, it was going to be a
slow and difficult process to accumulate the
necessary documentation. In addition, the
federal government had its own financial
problems during the years 1815-17 and was
in no hurry to deal with Maryland’s
claims.”’

Once again this was true, at least as a
general matter. Indeed, one of the ironies of
M’Culloch is that the Cashier of the Baltimore
branch of the Bank, James William M’Culloh,
served as a volunteer in the Maryland militia
during the War of 1812. This led him to the
Battle of Bladensburg on August 24, 1814, as
a member of a group described accurately as
one that “knew nothing of military service, and
from their habits and pursuits were ill-fitted to
endure so suddenly the hardships and expo-
sures of war.”® The British force they
confronted included numerous veterans of the
Napoleonic wars and was vastly superior. The

resulting “battle” was a rout, memorialized by
one puckish observer as the Bladensburg
Races. The British captured Washington and
destroyed much of the city, leaving in their
wake a wounded James M’Culloh, who spent
the next seven years on crutches but was able
to parlay his experiences in the war into a
position in the financial house Smith and
Buchanan and eventually the role that would
bring him infamy, Cashier of the Baltimore
Branch of the Second Bank.

The war did have a serious, negative
impact on Maryland finances, as a result of
both losses of trade and the expenses it
incurred defending itself and the nation
from British attacks. Critics do not discuss
the trade loses, but they were severe. Rather,
they focus on the reality that the cost of
defending the state and Washington was
substantial, “being estimated at nearly a
half a million dollars.”®® And they
postulate that “[t]his was the driving force
behind” the Maryland tax on the Second
Bank.®°

Once again, the reality is more complex.
Maryland was in many respects a financial
oddity at the time the war began, albeit in a
sense that operated to its advantage until that
conflict disrupted matters. The state had
substantial investments and had been able
since 1790 to fund its expenses on the interest
realized on them. In addition, the state took a
parsimonious approach in these matters,
preferring to impose most of the costs of
government on its counties and cities. The net
result, as Hanna stressed in his financial
history of the state, was that “the ordinary
expenditures of the state were ... small” and
“from the standpoint of financial legislation
the years from 1790 to the close of the second
English war were almost barren—from that of
taxation entirely s0.”°'

The sole exception to this tax-free state
of affairs was a measure passed in the
December 1813 legislative session: the tax
on bank capital that was in effect at
the time that the tax on the Second Bank
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was approved in February 1818. As both
Hanna and Bryan note, various attempts had
been made to impose a tax on corporations in
general and banks in particular since 1804.
The theory was that “all corporations
enjoying special privileges from the state—
such as canal and road companies—should
be compelled to make a return for such
privileges.”®® These proposals were routi-
nely defeated until the bank measure was
passed.

The annual operating deficits for the
state were lower than one might assume
given the manner in which Marshall’s critics
characterize the situation. As Hanna notes,
this “second period in the state’s financial
history began with the payment of the war
loans in 1817. The capital of the state was
reduced by $436,000, and its annual income
by the amount of the interest thereon—
$26,160.7%% This problem was compounded
by the fact that a substantial portion of the
state’s income came from its investment in
the stock of its state-chartered banks. They
experienced financial difficulties, resulting in
an additional loss of some $20,000 per
year.®* The net result was that Maryland
went “[flrom a condition in which the chief
problem had been to dispose of an accumu-
lating surplus, the treasury was suddenly
reduced to a condition of deficit.”®®

These revenue losses were serious. On
December 8§,
beginning of the legislative session that
would produce the taxation of the Second
Bank—the Committee of Claims in the
House of Delegates submitted a report that
projected a deficit of $52,213.73.%° Three
days later, the House appointed a special

1817—one week after the

committee “to report what measures, if any,
are proper to be adopted in relation to [that]
deficiency.”®” The committee report was
submitted on January 17, 1818.5% It first
offered a lower estimate of the shortfall,
reducing it to $42.213.72.%9 It then set out
three possible plans for dealing with the

problem. Each based its solution on some
combination of proceeds realized from
increased subscriptions in state banks and a
lottery.70 None mentioned imposing any new
taxes from which revenue would accrue to
the state. The third plan did refer to the
possibility of “tax[ing] sales at auctions,
pleasure carriages and horses” and
“doublling] the tax on retailers,”’" but that
taxing privilege was to be granted to the city
of Baltimore, in return for which it would
“pay into the treasury annually, the sum of
15,000 dollars.””

The committee noted the pendency of
the state’s claim for $295,000 against the
federal government, stating that “should this
sum be recovered, and advantageously
invested, it will considerably augment the
revenues of the state.””® And it
concluded with the observation that its:

annual

[e]stimates are founded upon
calculations entitled to full confi-
dence, and present to the people of
Maryland the pleasing and consoling
reflection, that notwithstanding the
heavy debts incurred in the late war,
that the resources of their treasury
are such as to furnish, under judi-
cious management, an annual rev-
enue considerably beyond the ex-
penses borne by it, without the

imposition of a cent upon them.”

All of this transpired and was reported
fully to the House of Delegates, several
weeks before it took up and passed the bill
imposing the tax on the Second Bank. All of
these events also took place in an environ-
ment within which it was clear that the claim
against the United States would be honored.
As Hanna notes, “[t]he principle of reimbur-
sement had been recognized by the United
States Government at the time of the war;
but the final adjustment of the various claims

was not effected until some years later.””
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The actual process of preparing and
submitting the claim did take time. It had,
however, come to a largely successful con-
clusion before the Maryland legislature took
up, much less debated or approved, the tax on
the Second Bank. In a message transmitted to
the House on December 5, 1817, Governor
Charles C. Ridgely noted that “the claims and
vouchers against the United States for
military expenditures have been fully ar-
ranged, and are now in a state of complete
preparation, and will be submitted to the
general government.”’® He then confirmed,
on February 16, 1818, that the claim ‘“has
been assumed by the general government.”’’
It was not paid in full at that time. But the
events surrounding its resolution and the fact
that the Maryland legislature knew it would be
paid even as they started the process of taxing
the Second Bank must be taken into account.

The Tax

What about the details of the tax itself?
Was it in fact the equivalent of the levies
imposed on state-chartered banks? Ellis, for
one, argues, with considerable justification,
that “the Maryland tax is particularly sig-
nificant since it is the origin of the great
Supreme Court case of McCulloch v,
Maryland. This alone should have made
scholars particularly curious about it, but this
has not been the case.”’® I agree. Every
individual who has written about these
matters should have looked at the details of
the tax on the Bank and compared them to
the tax imposed on state-chartered institu-
tions. It was negligent not to have done so,
and Ellis has done us all a great service by
challenging us to undertake that inquiry.

Two contemporary statements about the
tax are offered in support of the contention
that it was a revenue measure that treated all
banks the same. The first is a portion of a
statement by Hezekiah Niles, who observed
in January, 1819 that “[it is well known that

the state of Maryland, levied a tax upon the
branch of the bank of the United States,
Jocated at Baltimore, and that all the banks in
this city are in like manner taxed.”” The
second is from Joseph Hopkinson’s argu-
ment on behalf of Maryland before the
Court, during which he maintained that all
the state sought was that the Bank “shall be
submitted to the jurisdiction and laws of the
State, in
corporations and property; and all this may
be done without ruining the institution, or
destroying its national uses.”*"

These assessments of the nature of the
Maryland tax were not universally shared at
the time. A press account during the period
that the Maryland House of Delegates was
considering the measures noted that “[there
was an opposition to this measure, some
members considered it impolitic, and some

the same manner with other

both impolitic and unconstitutional.”®' Other
statements made about the tax and the
process were more pointed. The Baltimore-
based Federal Gazette, for example, criti-
cized the tendency on the part of the
“legislatures of several of the states [that]
appear to be desirous of imposing a tax on
the Offices of Discount and Deposit of the
bank of the United States, or of preventing
them from transacting business in their
respective states” and stated, regarding the
Maryland measure, that “if the Congress has
constitutionally established a bank, there
appears to be as little propriety in a state
legislature imposing a tax on that institution
as upon the loan offices, counting houses, or
any other institutions established in the
several states by the same authority.”®
This prompted a letter to the Maryland
Gazette in which an anonymous writer stated
that “the Editor of the Federal Gazette, and
his correspondents, really seem to be in a
terrible rage with our State Legislature, and
State Executive.”® William Glynn, the
editor of the Federal Gazette, issued a denial
that spoke volumes, declaring only that
he had not intended to “express even the
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slightest disapprobation of the present State
Executive,”84 even as he lamented that
the legislature had passed “crude, ill digested
and unnecessary if not pernicious laws.”™
Hezekiah Niles, in turn, mounted a
lengthy and impassioned attack on the
Bank, expressly urging that if the Bank did
not reform itself “the states ... tax the mother
bank and the branches out of every resting
place except the ten miles square,” i.e.,
Washington, D.C.%® He subsequently noted
that the in which this statement
appeared “made a great stir in this city.”
Baltimore, and that the “demand for it was
unprecedented.”87 He disavowed any *“‘spe-
cial enmity against the bank of the United
States,” stating that “T owe ill will only to ill
conduct.” But, on returning to the subject
that fall, he stressed that “the people must
rely on this right to tax the [Bank] for
their own defense against the nabobs who

issue

govern it” and expressed his hope ‘that
Maryland will vigorously prosecute her
claims upon it.”"%

This may or may not constitute evidence
sufficient to question the contention that the
Bank tax “did not attract much public attention
when it came up in the legislature.”* But it
does reflect a degree of editorial give-and-take
that is entirely consistent with a political and
social climate within which there was a sharp
division of opinion between those supporting
and attacking the Bank and, more generally,
between those supporting a Jeffersonian as
opposed to a Federalist view on the issues
posed by states’ rights and a broad reading of
federal power. Indeed, one of the dominant
themes in press accounts of Maryland’s
financial affairs at the time was a contentious
give-and-take between Maryland’s two political
parties, with the Democrats and Federalists
staking out sharply opposed positions regarding
whether there even was a financial crisis and, if
so, who should assume the blame it.

All of which brings us to the single most
important consideration: the details of the tax
itself, That annual charge of $15,000 is

characterized as “substantially less than the
amounts levied by Ohio, Kentucky, and
Tennessee.””' That is certainly true, as far
as it goes. Tennessee imposed an annual tax
of $50,000 on any bank in that state that did
not hold a state charter.”” Ohio levied a tax
in the amount of $50,000 per year on each of
the two branches of the Bank in that state.”
And Kentucky had the highest rate of all.
$60,000 per year, again to be imposed on
two branches.”*

Yet those numbers tell only part of the
story, at least insofar as the question is
whether the Baltimore Branch of the Second
Bank and the state banks were
manner taxed.” The Maryland system actu-
ally gave the Second Bank a choice. It could
issue notes in certain stated denominations,
but only if it paid a stamp tax that ranged
from ten cents to twenty dollars, depending
on the value of the note.”” The $15,000
annual fee was in turn a way to avoid paying

“in like

those individual note fees each year via
single lump sum assessment.

Was this, as Niles observed, a tax that
treated the Second Bank and the numerous
Maryland chartered state banks the same? In
a word, no. Exact comparisons are difficult,
given variations in the respective laws. As
indicated, the Bank measure imposed its tax
on notes issued, requiring payment, for
example, for “every one hundred dollar
note upon a stamp of one dollar,”®® a one
percent charge, the lowest of the rates
charged.”” The state tax in turn was laid
against stock, at a rate of twenty cents on
every $100 in capital paid, a rate of point-
two percent.”® As Hanna notes, “the small
tax on [state bank] capital stock—one fifth of
one percent—was hardly a burden to the
banks and could easily have been made
larger.”gg

Nonetheless, there was a real and
pronounced discrepancy, and it operated
against the Second Bank and in favor of
the state banks. Indeed, the actual taxation
method embraced by Maryland was clearly
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discriminatory. The Maryland tax on state
banks was levied against the bank’s capital.
The state banks were likely undercapitalized,
especially if the focus is on the amount of
specie—actual gold and/or silver—they
held. In this regard, the state banks’ assets
were likely substantially lower than those of
the Second Bank. Further, the Maryland tax
on the Second Bank was levied against its
actual notes, that is, a key means by which it
did business-—and not coincidentally, com-
peted with local banks. As such, it had an
impact on operations, precisely the sort of
state burden the Court held impermissible.

A more telling comparison arises when
we examine the annual fee. To avoid the
stamp tax, the Bank would have had to pay
$15,000 a year for every year the Baltimore
branch operated in the state. As an initial
matter, it is important to note three things.
First, the size of the levy does not matter;
what counts is the principle that a state may
not interfere with federal operations. Second,
it could have been worse. During debate on
the bill in the House, an attempt was made to
raise the fee to $20,000. That amendment
was defeated.'™ Third, the House did in
some respects soften the bill before passage,
deleting express reference to “the office of
discount and deposit of the bank of the
United States, established in the state of
Maryland” and substituting in its stead the
formulation that appears in the law as
passed, “all banks or branches thereof in
the state of Maryland not chartered by the
legislature.”'"!

The change was meaningless as a
practical matter. The only entity to which
the law applied was, of course, the Baltimore
branch of the Second Bank. And, given its
twenty-year charter, it was looking at a total
charge of $300,000. The state banks, in turn,
also enjoyed twenty-year charters. They
could, however, avoid paying the tax on
stock by making a single payment of
$200,000. But that fee was to be paid by
“said banks,”m2 that is, by all of the banks

chartered by the state collectively. In
December 1817, at the time the federal bank
measure was introduced, there were twenty
such banks in the state.'® Payment likely
would have been prorated based on the size
of each individual bank. That meant, for
example, that the largest Maryland-chartered
bank, the Union Bank of Baltimore, would
have owed a one-time payment of $45,000, a
mere fraction of the charge for the Second
Bank.'™ Nonetheless, in absolute terms, the
exemption fee for the Second Bank was fifty
percent higher than that required for all state
banks together.

In addition, the state banks were given a
guarantee that if they complied with the
terms of the taxation scheme “the faith of the
state is hereby pledged not to impose any
further tax or burthen upon them during the
continuation of their charters under this
act.”'” The Second Bank was given no
such promise. That was, obviously, a matter
of considerable importance given the posi-
tion taken by the bank before the Court, and
accepted by Marshall and his colleagues, that
dangers lay in accepting the premise that any
tax was proper, much less one whose scope
was subject to the will and whim of the state.

The proverbial bottom line is that, when
examined with care, it becomes quite clear
that the two taxes were not the same and that
the imbalance operated in favor of the state
banks.

In a chapter originally published in
1964, Bray Hammond envisioned what the
situation might have been when John James,
the state official charged with enforcing the
tax on the Second Bank, arrived at its offices
looking to secure either payment or “legal
evidence that the Bank ... and its local cashier
were violating the law.”'% Hammond was one
of the foremost scholars of American banks
and banking, and Ellis cites his work with
approval.'”” Marshall’s critics doubtless do
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not, however, agree with Hammond’s
account;

The law was to come into effect the
first day of May [1818]. That day
had now passed, with no sign that
the law was to be obeyed. So
Maryland, whose motto, roughly
translated from the Italian, is that
deeds are for men, and words are
for women, was taking prompt
action. There was a penalty of
$100 for each note issued on
unseamed paper since the effective
date of the law, one-half for the
state and one-half for the informer;
but if John James expected to leave
the bank richer than he came he was
certainly stupid, for the tax was
prohibitive, as he must have known,
and not intended to provide revenue
but to force the [Baltimore branch] to
close. Maryland chartered banks for
its people, and the state wanted the
Bank of the United States, chartered
by the federal government, to leave
its sovereign soil and stay off it.'"®

James was not stupid. His visit to the
Baltimore branch was part of a “negotiated”
series of events designed to bring a case
testing the constitutional issues before the
Supreme Court.'® That dispute was not,
however, about an attempt by Maryland
simply to extract from the Second Bank that
which was due from its own state-chartered
banks. It was rather a constitutional con-
frontation within which a punitive tax
designed to force the Second Bank out of
the state was enacted and a lawsuit was
initiated to determine both whether the
federal government had implied powers and
whether its actions in exercising them could
be questioned, perhaps even barred, by the
supposedly sovereign states.

My conclusion—that those who argue
against Marshall given his cursory treatment

of the tax are wrong—in no way diminishes
my respect for their willingness to make the
argument and focus our attention on an issue
that should not have been ignored for so
long. My first reaction on reading their work
discussing the tax was shock and shame:
how could I have made this sort of mistake?
I knew that the tax imposed on the Second
Bank was an either/or: payment of a
percentage charge on notes issued or a single
I also knew that Niles had
declared the federal and state taxes to be
roughly equivalent and that Hopkinson had
argued that Maryland simply sought to treat
the Second Bank the same as its own. What I
did not do, in my book in particular, was to
look with care at the details of the tax on
state-chartered banks. Instead, I aligned
myself with those who viewed the Maryland
measure as a direct attack on an institution

annual fee.

that many at the time, albeit not all, viewed
as “monstrous.”

That was a mistake. It was not good
history. Ellis in particular provoked me to
look at this with greater care and to do my
best to get this matter right. In the process, 1
was forced to call into question both the
points made and the evidence offered in
support of them. That is, however, exactly
the sort of give—and-take that good history
requires.

Conclusion

So was the Baltimore Branch of the
Second Bank of the United States simply
taxed “in like manner” as its state colleagues
and competitors? The answer must be “No.”
The Maryland measure may not have been as
extreme as those enacted in other states. But
there is no doubt that the political and
financial climate in Maryland was hostile to
the Second Bank and that the individuals
who crafted the Bank tax did so with a view
toward shackling its operations, if not
driving it from the state. More tellingly, the
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financial situation for the state itself was no
longer “dire” at the time the tax was
proposed and passed. None of that arguably
matters. As the Court stressed in M’ Culloch,
it was the principle of non-taxation of a
federal entity that was important, not the size
of the tax itself.

That said, the taxation issue is much more
complicated than most individuals have been
willing to admit. It mattered greatly to the
individuals defending Maryland’s actions and
it should matter greatly to us. Hopefully this
article will assist in that process of recovery
and reconciliation.
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Attorney General’s developing a national background
check system for gun purchases. They required only that
the affected law enforcement officials undertake “a
reasonable effort to ascertain within five business days
whether receipt or possession would be in violation of
the law,” a formulation that, as the Court expressly
noted. “does not require the Clhief] L{aw] E[nforce-
ment] O[fficer] to take any particular action if he
determines that a pending
unlawful; he may notify the firearms dealer to that
effect, but is not required to do so.” Printz, 521 U.S. at
903. That scheme stood in stark contrast to the one
rejected in New York v. United States, 505 U.S. 144
(1992), which required states to “take title”” to low-level
radioactive waste generated within their borders and

transaction would be

made them liable “for all damages directly or indirectly
incurred ... as a consequence of the failure of the State
to take possession of the waste.” Id., at 153-54. The
Court saw no meaningful difference between the two
and held that both were unconstitutional.

% Aggressive Nationalism, pp. 4-5.

*Id., p. 5 (emphasis added).
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' Osborn, 22 U.S. (9 Wheat.) at $59.

*!1d., at 859-60

** 1d., at 860.

P,

MId., at 372 (Johnson, J.. dissenting). Johnson's
primary concern was jurisdictional and his dissent
offered a detailed argument against judicial expansion
of federal court jurisdiction. especially where he
suspected that the case was either not ripe or feigned.
That tracks another point Ellis emphasizes. the implica-
tions of the reality that M'Culloch was in many
important respects “a very ‘amicable controversy.””
Aggressive Nationalism. p. 72. This is not the time or
place to explore fully this issuc. other than to observe
that such cases had no more implacable and consistent
foe than William Johnson. who for whatever reasons
refused to take the bait in M 'Culloch.

335 Letter from Henry Clay to William Jones (December
26, 1818), 2 Clay Papers. p. 621: Letter from Henry
Clay to Martin D. Hardin. February 21. 1819, id..
p. 673.

% January 16, 1819 Report. Committee to Inspect the
Books And Examine the Proceedings of the Bank of the
United States, M. St. Clair Clarke & D. A. Hall.
Legislative And Documentary History of the Bank of
the United States Including the Original Bank of
North America (1832) [Clarke & Hall]. pp. 714-32.
37 April 13, 1819 Report. Committee of Ways and
Means, Clarke & Hall. p. 735.

38 Ironically. an attempt to impose a tax on the Bank in
Virginia was defeated at about the same time that the
Maryland tax was approved. See Daily National
Intelligencer, February 17. 1818 ("In the House of
Delegates of Virginia. the proposition to tax the
Branches of the Bank of the United States in that state,
has received a decided negative. by a vote of 127
to 24.").

3 Niles® Weekly Register. February 21, 1818, 421.

40 “Equalization of Exchange.” Niles' Weeklv Register.
September 5, 1818. 25.

4! “Bank of the United States.” Niles' Weekly Register.
September 12, 1818, 33.

2 Alfred Cookman Bryan, History of State Banking in
Maryland (1899) [Bryan]. p. 44.

*3 Hugh Sisson Hanna, A Financial History of Mary-
land (1907), pp. 34-35. [Hanna]. This rural, agrarian
hostility towards banks tracks closely the bases for Anti-
Bank measures in many other states.

4 Robert J. Brugger. Maryland: A Middle Tempera-
ment 1634-1980 (1988). pp. 197-98.

3 See Aggressive Nationalism. p. 69.

*6 For example, one of the most widely quoted attacks
against the First Bank in 1811 was voiced by
Representative Robert Wright of Maryland., who
complained that “All the directors of the mother bank.

at all times. have been Federalist or worse—many of
them Tories or Monarchists—so that being under such
control, [ have ever doubted the statement of its funds.”
Quoted in Killenbeck, Securing a Nation, p. 48.

*7 james M’Culloh took his first steps toward notoriety
when he took a position in Smith’s Baltimore firm,
Smith & Buchanan.

*% Letter from Samuel Smith to James Madison (August
8. 1810).in J. C. A. Stagg et al. (eds.), 2 The Papers of
James Madison: Presidential Series (1992) [Madison
Papers]. pp. 470. 471.

1.

0 1d.

3 Letter from James Madison to Albert Gallatin
(August 14, 1810), in 6 Madison’s Papers, pp. 483-84.
32 Letter from Albert Gallatin to James Madison
(August 21, 1810), in id.. pp. 499-500.

3 Letter from James Madison to Samuel Smith (August
29, 1810.in id. p. 514.

** Quoted in Killenbeck, Securing a Nation, p. 50.

33 Jd. Smith sought higher ground toward the end of his
remarks. stating that “‘the question never came before me
on a constitutional argument before™ and that the “able
arguments™ of other Senators “have made a very serious
impression on me, indeed, and have almost brought me to
think. that, if there were no other objections, I should vote
against the bill on constitutional grounds alone.” /d.

* Letter from Albert Gallatin to Nicholas Biddle
(August 14, 1830). in Henry Adams (Ed.). 11 The
Writings Albert Gallatin (Antiquarian Press. 1960).
pp- 431, 435.

7 Aggressive Nationalism, p. 69. See also Hannam
p. 60 (“The adjustment of Maryland’s account was
particularly difficult.”™).

3 Killenbeck, pp. 90-91.

39 Aggressive Nationalism. p. 69. Hanna largely
concurs. stating that “the total cost of the war to the
state was estimated to have been slightly less than
$450,000.” Hanna, pp. 38-39.

** Aggressive Nationalism. p. 69.

! Hanna. pp. 25. 23. The sole exception would be the
1814 bank tax. discussed infra.

%2 Hanna. p. 35.

“ 1d.. p. 44.

&,

 1d.

“® Votes and Proceedings of the Maryland House of
Delegates. December Session. 1817, at 10-11 [MHD].
T 1d.. at 15.

S Id., 53-56.

*id.. at 53.

™ The possible creation of a state lottery was a major
issue in the session. Lotteries were immensely popular
at the time and many states used them as a means to
raise revenue.
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7'MHD at 55. Compare, Aggressive Nationalism,
p. 69 (“To meet its various financial obligations, the
state levied a series of taxes on auction houses, state
banking institutions, and other private corporations to
raise money.”).

7> MHD at 55-56.

" Id., at 56.

" 1d.

75 Hanna. p. 60.

791818 MHD at 8.

7 Id., at 125. This came ten days after the February 7.
1818, vote in the House. id., at 104-05, and six days
after the February 11, 1818 vote in the Senate.

% Aggressive Nationalism p. 67.

" Niles Weekly Register, January 9, 1819, p. 362.

8 pMCulloch, 17 U.S. (4 Wheat.) at 346. Hopkinson
goes on to concede that if this is the result the Bank's
“profits will be diminished by contributing to the
revenue of the State.” He then proceeds to undermine
his point by stating that his goal is to “show, on the part
of the State, a clear, general, absolute. and unqualified
right of taxation, (with the exception stated),” pre-
sumably, the notion that such taxes be levied “in the
same manner” on all such entities.

8! Aggressive Nationalism p. 69 Washington Daily
National Intelligencer, February 12, 1818.

82 Federal Gazetre, February 11, 1818.

83 “A Looker On,” Marviand Gazette, February 23.
1818. Bryan argues. without citing any specific
accounts. that “the law was urged on both gencral
grounds of hostility to the bank and on account of
opposition to it by the State Banks., who feared its
competition and restraining influence.” Bryan, p. 72.
Hanna does the same. See Hanna. p. 54 ("In 1818 a
special tax was imposed on banks operating in
Maryland without having obtained a state charter.
The tax was a political measure, aimed at the
Baltimore branch of the United States Bank™).

8 Federal Gazetre, February 27, 1818,

83 Federal Gazette, February 16, 1818,

86 “Editorial Address.” Niles' Weekly Register, Feb-
ruary 28, 1818, 5.

87 Banks and Banking.” Niles® Weekly Register, March
7, 1818.

8 Niles' Weekly Register, March 7. 1818,

% -Brief Sentential Retrospect.” Niles’ Weekly Register.
August 29. 1818, 4.

% Aggressive Nationalism, p. 69.

N 1d., p. 68.

2d, p. 45.

S d., p. 152

% 1d., p. 198.

51818 Laws of Maryland, Chapter 156, § 1.

% 1d.

7 The stamp taxes were, respectively: two percent on
notes of five dollars, ten dollars, $500, and $1,000; one-
point-five percent on a twenty-dollar note; and one
percent on notes of fifty dollars and $100.

% 1814 Laws of Maryland, Ch. 122, § 7.

% Hanna, p. 36.

' MHD at 105.

' 14, at 105; 1818 Laws of Maryland, Ch. 156.
1921814 Laws of Maryland, Ch. 122, §12.

'7% See Banks in the State of December 27, 1817, Niles’
Weekly Register, December 27, 1817, at 231.

"4 That sum is based on the Union Bank’s capital of
$3,500,000 prorated against a total state bank capital of
$13.300,000. See id.

'95 1814 Laws of Maryland, Ch. 122, § 11.

"% Bray Hammond, “The Bank Cases,” in John A.
Gareth, Ed., Quarrels that Have Shaped the Con-
stitution (rev. ed. 1987), p. 37.

"7 He notes that M’Culloch was “a case that was
profoundly influenced by the banking problems that
existed in the early nineteenth century,” Aggressive
Nationalism. p. 4, and cites the Hammond chapter for
this proposition. /bid., p. 4 n.4. That is a curious choice,
given the much richer and more detailed account
available in Hammond’s books on the subject. See
Bray Hammond, Banks and Politics in America from
the Revolution to the Civil War (1957); Bray
Hammond. Sovereignty and an Empty Purse: Banks
And Politics in the Civil War (1970).

' Hammond. “The Bank Cases,” pp. 37-38.

' Governor Charles Ridgely made it quite clear in
December, 1818 that the lawsuit reflected a concerted
effort by both the Bank and the State after “negotia-
tions ... to bring the question of Constitutional right
before the legal tribunals of the country,” with the full
intention to “carry it to the highest appellate
jurisdiction, the Supreme Court of the United States.”
C. Ridgely., Executive Communication to the Legis-
lature, Maryland Gazette, and Political Advertiser,
Deccember 17, 1818.



Double Duty across the Magisterial

Branches

SAIKRISHNA BANGALORE PRAKASH

Supreme Court Justices have full-time
day jobs. Justices have duties as federal
judges on the apex court and many reason-
ably regard these responsibilities as requiring
their complete and undivided attention. But
Justices can do so much more, and they can
be so much more. The Constitution does not
bar them from serving their country in other
ways. From our nation’s inception, several
Justices also have occupied other high
offices and taken on other vital responsibil-
ities. This article considers early examples of
double duty and the constitutionality of these
off-the-bench pastimes.

The article makes two assertions. First,
although the Constitution established three
branches, each vested with a particular sort
of power and thereby created what we call
the separation of powers, it never demanded
an absolute separation of personnel. To be
sure, members of Congress cannot simulta-
neously serve in either of the other two
branches because the Constitution specifi-
cally so proclaims.! Yet there is nothing in
the Constitution that prevents someone from

being both a judge and an executive.?
Second, the founding generation did not
read the Constitution as barring this parti-
cular practice. In fact, early Justices (and
judges) simultaneously served their nation in
other capacities. If that understanding and
practice is still valid, as I believe it is,
nothing today prevents Justice Samuel Alito
from simultaneously negotiating with Kim
Jong Un. Similarly, nothing bars modern
executives from wearing two hats, hearing
court cases in the morning and performing
executive functions in the afternoon. Secre-
tary of State Mike Pompeo could be a judge
on the Court of Appeals for the D.C. Circuit
in his spare time.

Doubly Dutiful Chief Justices

Before diving into the legal questions
about cross-branch service, some comments
about John Jay and John Marshall are
appropriate, as these are our earliest multi-
taskers, Justices who ably spanned two
branches. Our story begins with John Jay.
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Jay was a scion of a patrician New York
family. He attended King’s College, now
Columbia.® He took up lawyering in 1768. A
little less than a decade later, he became
involved in the disputes with Great Britain,
eventually favoring a complete break from
that nation.* In 1774 and 1775, he served as
a New York delegate to the first and second
Continental Congresses.” In 1777, at the ripe
age of thirty-two, he helped draft the first
New York Constitution and was selected as
the first chief justice of the New York
Supreme Court.® In 1778, New York re-
turned him to the Continental Congress,
where his fellow delegates elected him to
serve as their presiding officer, the president
of the Continental Congress.” This office
was quite unlike our presidency, for its
duties primarily consisted of chairing Con-
gress’s deliberations and proceedings. Jay
simultaneously served as Congress’s presi-
dent and as New York Chief Justice until
1779, when he resigned the latter position.8

After a little less than a year as president,
Congress sent Jay to convince Spain to
recognize America’s independence and to
procure a loan. He secured the latter, but not
the former.” From there, Congress dispatched

him to Paris in 1782 to negotiate a peace treaty
with the British.'® Although Benjamin Franklin
and John Adams also served as treaty
commissioners, Jay was the principal American
interlocutor. The envoys secured the 1783
Treaty of Paris, with the British belatedly
recognizing America’s independence.""

Of course, the diplomats received a
strong assist from George Washington and
the 1781 Battle of Yorktown.

Jay returned to the United States in 1784
and discovered that the Continental Congress
in 1784 had appointed him as its second
Secretary of Foreign Affairs.'> Under the
Articles of Confederation, there was no
separate, independent executive. Rather, the
Continental Congress exercised a few legis-
lative authorities and the executive power
over foreign affairs, wielding war powers
and directing diplomacy. While serving as
Congress’s Secretary of Foreign Affairs
through 1789, Jay wrestled with difficult
matters related to piracy in the Mediterra-
nean, Spanish control of the Mississippi, and
the failure of the states to honor the Treaty of
Paris. In each area, Jay favored greater
national authority and a subordination of
state autonomy and interests.'?

An early example of cross-branch office holding was the appointment of the Chief Justice as an inspector of the
coins produced by the U.S. Mint, a job that required a person who inspired public confidence. This double duty
lasted from 1792 to 1837, when the U.S. District Court Judge from the Eastern District of Pennsylvania replaced the
Chief Justice on the Assay Commission.
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In 1787, delegates from twelve states
gathered at a convention in Philadelphia to
revise the Articles of Confederation. More
radical elements prevailed, for what emerged
was more like an amendment in the nature of
a substitute, meaning an entire new frame-
work. Though Jay did not attend the
convention, he later championed its pro-
posed Constitution.'* His five Federalist
Papers refiected his expertise in foreign
affairs. He argued that the Constitution was
necessary to strengthen the national govern-
ment, which under the Articles had but a
series of largely illusory foreign affairs
powers.'”

After nine states ratified the Constitution
in 1787 and 1788, the Continental Congress
resolved that the first Congress under the
new Constitution would meet in 1789.

This gap between ratification and Con-
gress’s first legislative enactments created a
transition i1ssue. Under the Articles, the
Continental Congress had a bureaucracy
Recall that
plural chief executive. With the election of
George Washington as President, the execu-
tive bureaucracy now came under his con-
trol. Recognizing that he was the new Chief
Executive, the successor to the Continental
Congress at least in this regard, Washington
sent the holdover executive officers inquiries
and directives. statutory
authority for any of this. But Washington
supposed that he had constitutional authority
to direct the executive apparatus.

One of these holdovers was John Jay.
Jay served as de facto Secretary of State for
about a year under the new Constitution.'®
Again, although no statute provided as much,
Jay was very much under Washington's
control. Whereas congressional statutes

under its control. it was the

There was no

from the Articles era made him subject to
Congress’s control, the Constitution had
superseded those rules. As a constitutional
matter, he had a new master—the President.

Because none of the laws passed under
the old regime had any continuing validity,

Congress had to recreate everything from the
ground up. One of its most significant acts
was the July 1789 creation of the Depart-
ment of Foreign Affairs. Congress provided
that the Department would again be directed
by a Secretary. Congress also revealed its
distinct impression that, as a constitutional
matter, this Secretary would serve at the
President’s pleasure.'” Washington offered Jay
the position he already held, a wise move
meant to capitalize on the latter’s experience. '®
But Jay demurred. Washington then offered
Jay any job he wanted.'® Jay agreed to serve as
the first Chief Justice of the Supreme Court
and, after securing the Senate’s consent,
Washington appointed him in late September
of 1789.%°

The interesting point for our purposes is
that Chief Justice Jay continued to function as
the de facto Secretary of Foreign Affairs.?'
In all, Jay served as a carryover Secretary of
Foreign Affairs and Chief Justice for about
half a year. In March 1790, Thomas Jefferson
took over the department, which Congress
had renamed the Department of State, a
change that reflected the domestic duties
that Congress belatedly attached to the
Department.

Jay’s service as Secretary was not
strictly lawful. First, even though Jay served
as Secretary of State for months after
Congress first met, Congress did not create
a new office until July 1789. Second, the
Senate had never consented to his appoint-
ment and, in fact, Washington had never
even tried to appoint Jay to the new office.”
The lesson here is a familiar one. Transitions
do not always follow the letter of the law.
Consider it a start-up cost of transitioning
from one legal regime to a completely
different one.

Jay’s cross-branch exertions had not
ended, however. He served double duty
again. In the early 1790s it became clear
that the Treaty of Paris—the 1783 peace
treaty with Britain—was fraying from viola-
tions and tensions arising out of the war
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In 1794, George Washington dispatched Chief Justice John Jay to negotiate a peace treaty with Britain because he
had experience drawing up the 1783 Treaty of Paris (above is his commission). There was fierce opposition in the
Senate, particularly from Aaron Burr, some of it grounded in constitutional objections.

between France and Britain.®® Absent a
readjustment and a restoration of amity,
there was a chance that America might war
against Britain again.

In 1794, Washington resolved to dispatch
John Jay.** Sending Jay made sense because he
had previously helped negotiate the Treaty of
Paris. Jay agreed, although he likely suspected
that accepting the assionmenl would put him in
a no-win situation.”> Neaotlatms, with Great
Britain was likely to damage his reputation.
Indeed, had he declined Washington’s request,
Jay might have been our second President under
the Constitution. Thankfully, his sense of duty
to the nation prevailed.”® Jay's nomination
stimed a legal controversy: Could a federal
judge simultaneously serve as a federal execu-
tive, in this case as a negotiator of a vital treaty?
Part II considers this question in some detail.

The nation’s next conspicuous cross-
branch officer was John Marshall. Long an
impressive figure, Marshall had been a

distinguished Virginia lawyer who favored
the Constitution in the Virginia ratifying
convention.”’ President George Washington
offered Marshall three offices, all of which
he declined: district attorney for Virginia,
Attorney General of the United States, and
emissary to France.”® Instead, Marshall
concentrated on his lucrative and successful
private law practice.”” He argued a case
before the Supreme Court, Ware v. Hylton,
and lost,*® but in so doing, he impressed all
who heard his argument.

During the administration of John Adams,
Marshall finally agreed to serve as one of three
presidential emissaries to France.*’ France had
been waging a naval war against American
merchant shipping.32 Adams hoped to resolve
America’s differences with France through
negotiation. Yet Talleyr and, the French Foreign
Minister, refused to negotiate with the Amer-
icans without a hefty bribe, a scandal that
became known as the XYZ affair.>* The three
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commissioners returned to the United States
empty-handed. When the bribery demands
became known, the American public became
incensed, leading Congress to declare a naval
war against France, the so-called Quasi-War.**

In 1798, Marshall declined a Supreme
Court appointment from Adams.* Tmpetu-
ously, Adams nominated Marshall to serve
as his Secretary of War.>® Although the
appointment received the Senate’s consent,
Marshall demurred and the appointment was
never made. Adams then nominated
Marshall to serve as Secretary of State. This
time Marshall agreed.”” As Secretary of State,
Marshall successfully oversaw the negotiation
of a peace treaty with France, the Convention
of 1800. He also helped rebuild the Federalist
Party, which was riven with factions that
extended into the Adams cabinet.

After Chief Justice Oliver Ellsworth
resigned, John Adams in late 1800 reappointed
John Jay to serve as Chief Justice.®® Adams
appointed Jay without notice, much less
consultation. Jay declined to serve as Chief
Justice, immediately resigning the commission
that Adams had sent him.*® Jay hinted that the
office was too insignificant and claimed that he
was too old. Jay would be the only person to
serve as Chief Justice twice, albeit rather
briefly and inconsequentially the second time.
Adams immediately turned to Marshall, his
trusted aide. This time, Marshall accepted a
seat on the Court and Adams appointed him
Chief Justice in January 1801.%

Significant for our purposes is that at the
request of President Adams, Marshall con-
tinued to serve as Secretary of State for a
period of over two months.*' His continued
service helped trigger a series of unfortunate
events that precipitated one of the most
renowned Supreme Court cases, Marbury v.
Madison.** As is well known, Marshall had
affixed the seal of the United States to the
commissions due the justices of the peace for
Washington, D.C., a task that federal law
required him to perform.** The seal helped
authenticate the commissions. Marshall then

In the eighteenth century some thought there were only
two branches of government, with the judiciary a
subpart of the executive. James Madison described
judges as “shoots from the executive stalk.”

asked his brother, James Marshall, to deliver
these commissions on the last day of the
Adams administration.*® His brother was
unable to deliver them all on that final day.*

Marshall had a chance to rectify the
oversight. He could have seen to their delivery
the next day, the first day of Thomas Jefferson’s
administration. Jefferson had asked Marshall to
continue serving as Secretary of State until his
nominee to that post, James Madison, was
appointed.*® By choosing not to resign at the
end of the Adams administration, Marshall
obliged his distant cousin. Although Marshall
served as Thomas Jefferson’s Secretary of State
for two days, he never distributed the undeliv-
ered commissions.’” This second, related, slip-
up also helped generate the very controversy
that lay at the center of Marbury v. Madison*®

The Constitutionality of Double Duty

Though John Jay’s double duty in the
first year of the Washington administration
could have triggered a legal debate,
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apparently nothing of the sort emerged.
This may be because Jay was not properly
appointed to any executive office under the
new Constitution and because of the
transitional nature of the period.

The Issue Is Joined

The legal issues surrounding double
duty came to the fore when Washington in
[794 nominated Jay to negotiate a treaty
with Britain. Recall that Washington sent Jay
across the Atlantic to mend fraying ties and
that Jay negotiated the so-called Jay Treaty.
However, to send Jay, Washington believed
he had to secure the Senate’s consent.
Although the eventual vote was eighteen-
to-eight in favor of Jay’s appointment, there
was fierce opposition, some of it grounded in
constitutional objections.49

Aaron Burr, who later served as vice
president, killed Alexander Hamilton, and
was tried for treason, sponsored a Senate
resolution: “That to permit Judges of the
Supreme Court to hold at the same time any
other office or employment, emanating from
and holden at the pleasure of the Executive,
is contrary to the spirit of the Constitution,
and, as tending to expose them to the
influence of the Executive, is mischievous
and impolitic.”°

Although the resolution failed, ten
Senators endorsed it.”'

Why was the appointment thought
“contrary to the spirit of the Constitu-
tion”? Senators gave multiple reasons.
First, as some noted, the executive might
corrupt judges by offering alluring jobs in
the executive branch.®? The executive
might dangle sinecures to secure complai-
sance or grant them and threaten to
withdraw them should judges prove too
autonomous. Alternatively, judges might
hanker for prestige rather than money.
Either way, judges might endorse the
executive’s legal arguments because they

were, or hoped to be, part of the admin-
istration. Second, some claimed that the
Constitution barred individuals from
holding multiple offices at once.”® Some
pointed out that the Chief Justice presided
over presidential impeachment trials, making it
improper for that official to serve as an
executive officer, even as a treaty negotiator.54
How could the Chief Justice be impartial if he
was part of the administration? Third, some
observed that as an envoy, Jay would be
negotiating an instrument that might become
supreme federal law,55 yet as Chief Justice he
might have to hear cases involving his treaty.
This would make John Jay both a legislator and
a judge.

Outside the Senate, similar claims were
voiced. One newspaper said it was “contrary
to the intent and spirit of the constitution”
and the “most unconstitutional and dan-
gerous measure in the annals of the United
States.”® One private organization said the
Constitution “hath been trampled upon”
because the government had united execu-
tive, legislative and judicial powers in Jay’s
hands.”” He would negotiate a treaty, an
executive power; his compact might become
law, and therefore he helped exercise
legislative power; and he served as a judge.

Double Duty Is Constitutional

The constitutional objections to Jay’s
form of double duty are easily answerable.
The Constitution does not bar all forms of
dual office holding. The easiest case is
holding two office within one branch. The
Constitution certainly does not bar one
person from simultaneously serving as
Secretary of State and Secretary of Treasury
or as a tax official and a United States
Attorney. To be sure, there is a practical
issue, namely whether one person can
properly handle the duties of two significant
offices. But this real-world problem does not
generate a constitutional difficulty.
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The related claim, that the Constitution
categorically bars dual office-holding across
two or more branches, seems more plausible.
After all, why separate power across three
branches, legislative, judicial, and executive,
if the people wielding the powers can occupy
all three branches? The separation of powers
would seem illusory or irrelevant if the
personnel exercising those powers are all the
same. Another way of putting the point is
that no sensible person or persons would
create three branches and simultaneously
permit one person to control all of those
branches.

Moreover, had not the celebrated poli-
tical philosopher Baron de Montesquieu
warned that “there can be no liberty” if the
same people could make, execute, and
adjudicate the law?”® Montesquieu was
clearly talking about separation of personnel
and not just separate branches. And Mon-
tesquieu exerted a profound influence on the
Founding Fathers. A year before the Con-

stitutional Convention, one American said
that the “three great departments of sover-
eignty should be forever separated and so
distributed as to serve as checks on each
other.” They could not be separated or
serve as checks if the same people populated
all three. The patriot who said this was none
other than John Jay, the man who later
served his country in two rather different
offices across two branches.®”

Yet, whatever one thinks of the general
desirability of the separation of personnel, I
think the Constitution itself never requires an
absolute separation of personnel. In the
Incompatibility Clause, the Constitution
specifically bans certain officeholding across
branches.®' In particular, members of Con-
gress cannot simultaneously serve as execu-
tives or judges. This means that a member of
Congress cannot simultaneously serve in the
executive branch or as a federal judge.
Conspicuously, the Incompatibility Clause
does not bar executives from serving as

At the Constitutional Convention (which convened in Independence Hall, above), there were two proposals to bar
judges from serving in other branches, but they were never enacted. The Framers did write an Incompatibility
Clause, which specifically bans members of Congress from simultaneously serving in the executive branch or as a

federal judge.
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judges or vice versa. At the Philadelphia
Convention, there were two proposals to bar
judges from serving in other offices,’” one of
which was part of the famous New Jersey
plan. But neither of these proposals were
ever voted upon. Because of such inaction,
they never became part of the Constitution.

The most natural reading of the text and
the history leading to its creation is that the
Framers were faced with a choice and
decided to permit dual office-holding across
the two magisterial branches. To be sure, the
Constitution did not favor double duty. But
nor did it disfavor the notion. Instead, the
Constitution merely permits the practice. If
the President wanted to avail himself of the
expertise of a federal judge, he might appoint
one to the executive branch. If Senators
agreed that a particular form of double duty
made sense given the context, they might
consent to a durable second appointment.
And if the judge wished to accept the
executive office, she could do so.

The possibility that someone might
serve in multiple offices across branches
was hardly obscure. In fact, it was relatively
common. British practice was rife with
office-holding across branches. Hence the
need for the Incompatibility Clause.®® Leg-
islators served as members of the King’s
cabinet, with the Crown using offices to
secure compliant legislators.®* The founders
were also aware that jurists might concur-
rently serve the executive.®® Consider Lord
Mansfield, Chief Justice of the King’s Bench
in Britain. While he was Chief Justice, he
continued to serve as an adviser to the King
on his privy council.®®

These customs continued in a few states.
While most states expressly barred judges
from holding any other office, others per-
mitted some dual office holding.®” For
instance, the New Jersey governor was also
the chancellor, the presiding judge of the
highest state court of appeals.®® Judging from
the state experience, it seemed that constitu-
tion makers would expressly ban the practice

when they wished to completely bar the
custom.

Finally, it is worth mentioning that
executives and judges were not conceived
as being entirely distinct. Although we think
there are three branches, some in the eight-
eenth century thought there were only two,
with the judiciary a subpart of the executive.®
After all, they both execute the law, albeit in
different ways. As James Madison put it, the
judges were but “shoots from the executive
stalk.”"™®

In light of these well-known concep-
tions and possibilities, the evident failure to
ban cross-branch office holding categori-
cally, and the decision to include a narrow
cross-branch ban, the Congress and the
President understandably concluded that the
Constitution permitted some cross-branch
appointments. In other words, by failing to
unconditionally ban cross-branch office
holding, officials sensibly judged that the
Constitution implicitly permitted the one
possibility not barred, namely office holding
across the magisterial branches.

Indeed, early statutes and practices,
some of which predate the Senate’s 1794
decision to consent to Jay’s appointment to
negotiate a treaty with the British, repeatedly
endorse just this reading. To begin, some
early laws assigned executive duties to
federal judges. By statute, the Chief Justice
was a member of the Sinking Fund and Mint
Committees.”' The Sinking Fund was a
committee composed of various officers
charged with buying back federal debt to
retire it. The Mint Committee examined
newly minted coins to ensure their quality. In
these instances, Congress took an existing
judicial office, the office of the Chief Justice,
and appended an executive function. These
statutes apparently gave Chief Justices no
choice in the matter.

Other early statutes imposed executive
functions on the entire federal bench, as
when Congress declared that federal judges
had to serve as pension commissioners and
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decide in ex parte proceedings whether
individuals qualified for war pensions.”?
Although this was the most famous instance
of extrajudicial duties, it was only the tip of
the iceberg. Congress also required federal
judges to find facts related to salvage claims,
customs matters, naturalization proceedings,
vessel seaworthiness disputes, and election
disputes, often with the ultimate discretion
lodged elsewhere, either in the executive or
Congress.”” These statutes made a good deal
of sense. First, Congress trusted judges to
find facts. Judges were in that line of work,
after all. Second, federal judges already
dispersed throughout the nation could use
their extra time to handle executive tasks that
might otherwise require the creation of a
separate set of executive officers and em-
ployees. The point is that the double duty of
Jay and Marshall was in no way singular.
The practice was relatively rife during the
first decade.

A Soft Custom against Double Dury

As with many practices, there are
advantages and disadvantages of holding
offices across branches. The advantages are
obvious. Why should the nation be deprived
of the talents of someone on the bench when
that person might be diverted, temporarily
or for a longer period, to a vital executive
function or mission? Sometimes the best
person for an executive job is someone on
the bench and that person can both remain
on the bench and carry out the executive
task. The disadvantages and hazards are no
less apparent. First is the diversion of time
and effort. Judges who take on other tasks
may well be distracted by those extra
responsibilities. Second, as critics have
noted, there is the possibility that judges
will lose their objectivity and favor the
executive in cases, either because they also
serve in the incumbent’s administration or
because they wish to secure a simultaneous

executive appointment. Third is the possi-
bility that judges will become involved in
political disputes that will eventually end up
in court. Fourth is the awkward nature of
certain cross-branch appointments. For in-
stance, it would be rather wrong for judges
to serve as prosecutors in their own courts.

The experiences of Jay and Marshall
highlight some of these pitfalls. Chief Justice
Jay was lambasted upon returning to the
United States.”* Opponents of the treaty
burnt and hanged effigies of Jay.”> People
demonstrated in front of Washington’s
house. One colorful critic wrote “Damn
John Jay! Damn every one that won’t damn
John Jay!! Damn every one that won’t put
lights in his windows and sit up all night
damning John Jay!!"”® Jay knew his chances
at the presidency were over.”’ In serving his
country, he had killed his chance at the
nation’s first office. Fortunately, he had been
elected governor of New York,”® and he
elected to renounce his Chief Justiceship.”
Whether or not the withering criticism
influenced his decision to leave the Supreme
Court, he must have known that his con-
troversial treaty might tarnish the Court’s
reputation.

As for Marshall, his double duty en-
meshed him in the waning days and hours of
the Adams Administration and its feverish
attempts to appoint as many officials as
possible. Whether his judicial duties inter-
fered with his executive tasks is unknown.
What is clear is that his tenure as Secretary
of State is best known for an act he did not
take, an omission. His failure to deliver the
commissions is often regarded as the pre-
cipitating event for William Marbury’s suit
against James Madison. Had the commis-
sions been delivered, perhaps there would
have been no suit.

Whatever the real or imagined failings
of Jay or Marshall as they handled double
duties, a soft custom against dual-office
holding seems most advisable. Consider it a
predisposition against the practice that can
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be overcome in extraordinary circumstances.
As a general matter, I suspect that we have
long had a soft custom against double duty.

Yet it is also clear that Americans
occasionally have overcome any soft custom
for reasons of expediency. Congress placed
three Justices on the Hayes-Tilden Commis-
sion to help resolve the disputed 1876
presidential election.® In the last century,
Justice Robert H. Jackson served as a
prosecutor for the United States during the
Nuremburg war crime trials.®' During that
time, he took a leave of absence from the
Court. Finally, judges have served on various
fact-finding commissions, including the
Commission investigating the Kennedy
Assassination (Chief Justice Earl Warren),82
the Bicentennial Commission (Chief Justice
Warren Burger),®® and the Iraq Intelligence
Commission (Judge Laurence Silbermam).84
In some cases, Commissions have done more
than merely investigate and generate reports.
For instance, with its three sitting judges, the
United States Sentencing Commission cre-
ated mandatory sentencing rules.® In each of
these situations, politicians of the day
evidently sought to exploit the prestige and
skills of federal judges, both of which are
quite considerable.

All in all, it seems fair to say that while
there is something of a soft custom against
double duty, there certainly is no hard rule. If a
modemn President wanted Justice Brett Kava-
naugh to serve as a treaty negotiator, many
would object. If a President sought the aid of
Justice Elena Kagan in the Interior Department,
that would raise hackles. But if there were
exceptional reasons, the Senate and the nation
might acquiesce. Sometimes exceptional cir-
cumstances require the violation of soft norms.

Solutions to the Problem of Double Duty

For those opposed to double duty, there
are ways of barring the practice. The easiest
way is for the Senate to act upon such doubts.
Senators can block presidential nominations

submitted to them as a means of preventing
double duty. If a President nominates a judge
to serve as cabinet secretary, the Senate could
refuse to grant its consent or condition its
consent on the renunciation of the judgeship.
Senators may adopt the same approach for an
executive officer who seeks to perform double
duty on a court. Having said this, a Senate
check on double duty would hardly serve as a
complete bar. Under the Constitution, Pre-
sidents can make temporary appointments
during a Senate recess without first receiving
Senate consent, so-called “recess appoint-
ments.” So a President might temporarily
appoint an executive to the federal bench and
permit the officer to keep her executive office.
Moreover, by law, Congress has delegated the
ability to make appointments of inferior
offices to the President, courts of law, and
department heads. Using such authority,
Presidents (or the others) might appoint
federal judges to inferior executive offices.

The only viable means of completely
barring double duty would be for Congress
to pass a statute barring judges from serving,
in any capacity, in the executive.*® Congress
has long exercised the right to limit who
might serve as an officer of the United
States. For instance, Congress has long had a
statute barring some retired military from
serving in a civilian capacity within the
Department of Defense, a bar that Congress
waived so that General James Mattis could
serve as Secretary of Defense.®” In a similar
manner, Congress could provide that no
member of the federal judiciary could
simultaneously serve as a member of the
executive branch. Steve Calabresi and Joan
Larsen recount instances where members of
Congress proposed legislation to bar some
forms of double duty.®®

Conclusion

Although there is perhaps a soft custom
against double duty, as a matter of constitu-
tional law and practice federal judges
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certainly may serve in executive capacities.
For those who oppose this possibility, the
solution is clear. Congress can by law bar
double duty by judges and force officers to
choose one branch or the other.

Absent such a general law or more
narrow rules barring particular instances of
double duty, the cross-branch possibilities
are endless. Justice Clarence Thomas could
decide cases and negotiate with Vladimir
Putin. I would personally like to see that.
Justice Stephen Breyer could negotiate with
the Iranians. If anyone could slay them with
reasonableness and moderation, he could.
Justice Ruth Bader Ginsburg could be a navy
admiral, thereby combating ISIS and sex
discrimination.

Author’s Note: Thanks to Victoria Granda,
Jae Kim, and Isabel Tuz for research support.
Gratitude to the Supreme Court Historical
Society for inviting me to present a lecture
that formed the basis of this article. Special
thanks to Justice Clarence Thomas for his
mentorship and extremely kind introduction.
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Ralph Waldo Emerson and Oliver
Wendell Holmes, Jr.: The Subtle
Rapture of Postponed Power

Scholars often equate the intellectual
revolution of the late nineteenth and early
twentieth centuries with a rejection of the
past. As a leader of the contemporaneous
legal realist movement, Oliver Wendell
Holmes Jr. is remembered as an iconoclast
who renounced the conventional wisdom of
his era to blaze a new path for American law.
Yet even this father of legal realism had
tethers to an earlier time, connections to the
towering writer and lecturer—Ralph Waldo
Emerson. Holmes loved Emerson from his
youth to his death, and his admiration for
the renowned poet affected every stage of the
Justice’s life. Emerson informed not only the
fanguage but also the rationale behind much
of Oliver Wendell Holmes, Jr.’s thought.

Emerson and Holmes alike exhibited a
disdain for charity and those incapable of
supporting themselves. They expressed a
mutual belief in the unavoidable nature of
war. Each thinker placed his faith in the
posthumous power of the written word.

ADAM H. HINES

Emerson showcased his confidence in the
free trade of ideas, a principle that Holmes
famously advanced from the bench.
Although Emerson was not a jurist, he
explained the law as a transcript of human
life, an idea that commonly resurfaced in
Holmes’ writings. They shared motivations,
philosophy, literary devices, and even lan-
guage. Holmes used an Emersonian style of
cosmic grandeur and fondness for rebuffing
the past. As Emerson’s influence extended
into the law via Holmes, it is an important
enterprise for both intellectual history and
legal history to discern Emerson’s role,
however subtle.

Recovering Emerson’s effect on
Holmes’ judicial philosophy contributes to
a broader revision of the master narrative of
classical and realist legal thought. Scholars
commonly construe legal realism as a rebuke
of earlier ideologies, largely regarding
Holmes as the father of legal realism.’
Morton Horowitz describes Holmes, his
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famous essay “The Path of the Law,” and
legal realism at large as “a fundamental
break with theological and doctrinal modes
of thought.”? By unearthing the Emersonian
roots of Holmes’ thought, this study suggests
that Holmes’ philosophy, and by extension
legal realism itself, was not the sharp rupture
with the past that scholars traditionally
imagine it to be. This investigation also
harmonizes with the work of legal scholars
who challenge the putative originality of
Holmes and legal realism. Both Brian
Tamanaha and David Rabban posit a version
of Holmes indebted to the past, and the
stream of ideas from Emerson to Holmes
contributes to this same revisionist take.’
Holmes’ reluctance to acknowledge his
intellectual debts supports an underlying
premise of this study: Emerson’s philosophy
and literary style appears throughout
Holmes’ work, even though the Justice never
cited Emerson in his legal articles or judicial
opinions. David Rabban alleges that Holmes
“obscured his relationship to the intellectual
history of his age” by exaggerating “his own
originality while minimizing the contribu-
tions of others to his thought.™* Another
legal scholar makes a persuasive argument
for “substantial parallels, linguistic as well as
thematic, between Pomeroy’s Municipal
. and The Common Law.™ Still
other legal academics assert a similar con-
nection between Holmes and his contem-
porary Christopher Langdell, which is sig-
nificant because Holmes positioned himself
as something of a rebuttal to Langdell.® That
Holmes borrowed implicitly from Emerson
as well offers further evidence of the
Justice’s willingness to appropriate concepts
and language from other writers without
crediting them.

Law . .

Some scholars have examined Holmes’
literary debts and even pointed out the
sizable impact of Emerson’s poetics, but
this article argues that Emerson’s influence
extended beyond style to a substantive,
philosophical connection. Thomas Grey

claims that “The Path of the Law” takes on
the standard “shape of a quest narrative”
with an arc like that of Dante’s trek through
hell, purgatory, and paradise in The Divine
Comedy. Grey’s comparison of “The Path of
the Law” to the enlightenment that Dante
discovers in paradise is compelling, but he
missed a more apt parallel—Emerson’s “The
" Holmes’ biographer G.
Edward White showcases Holmes™ admira-
tion for Emerson and declares that “Holmes
regularly appropriated phrases and lines from
Emerson’s poetry and essays in his own
writing.® Allen Mendenhall investigates the

American Scholar.

extent of Emerson and Holmes’ literary
relationship by examining Holmes’ “dissents
as an aesthetic genre.” Mendenhall’s analysis
exposes that Holmes’™ “prose . . . exhibits
superfluity . . . a series of dactyls and spondaic
feet” that “create the sense of building pressure
and then of sudden release or combustion,”™
Whereas Mendenhall focuses on Emerson and
Holmes™ linguistic connection, the present

LE)

study concerns the continuity of ideas between
the two figures. Just as Emerson’s poetic
language cartied over into Holmes™ dissents,
the principles that Emerson expressed in his
essays also exerted a considerable impact on
Holmes.

Biographical Background

Ralph Waldo Emerson was born in
1803. His father was a church minister in
Boston, Massachusetts, the family’s home-
town. Discipline and learning characterized
Emerson’s early life. Wealth, on the other
hand, did not. His father’s salary was enough
to support the family. but after the father’s
death in 1811, Emerson’s mother struggled
to provide for her children. Despite his
humble roots, Emerson would eventually
attend Harvard and serve as class poet at
graduation, a distinction Holmes would later
share. Following his initial education at
Harvard, Emerson graduated from Harvard
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Divinity School and worked as a minister
during his first marriage. After only two
years of wedlock, his wife, Ellen Tucker,
passed away in 1831. The year after
Ellen’s death, Emerson left the church and
soon after began a new career as a lecturer.
In 1837, three years into his lecturing, he
delivered his famed speech, “The American
Scholar.” As Emerson’s essays and poetry
grew in popularity, his cultural authority
expanded. He was a founding member of the
transcendentalist movement, inspiring many
nineteenth-century writers, such as Henry
David Thoreau and Margaret Fuller.
Emerson influenced those outside the
world of literature as well, including a local
Boston doctor’s young son: Oliver Wendell
Holmes, Jr."”

Oliver Wendell Holmes, Jr. was born to
Dr. Oliver Wendell Holmes, Sr. and Amelia
Lee Jackson in 1841. Holmes, Sr. was a
physician, poet, and consummate man of
letters who wrote many of his own notable
essays. Thanks to his father’s profession and
family history, Holmes Jr. was born into
wealth and status. He experienced an
intellectually challenging upbringing. G.
Edward White describes the dinner table
conversation in the Holmes household as a
“competition” with “participants scrambling
for attention.”'' Holmes Jr. gained renown
relatively early in life as a Civil War veteran.
Holmes® first battle was at Ball's Bluff,
where more than half of the 1,700 Union
soldiers were either captured, killed, or
wounded. Holmes was among those harmed.
After this injury, the twenty-year-old
Holmes returned to the war. Following
Ball’s Bluff, he took a bullet to the neck at
the Battle of Antietam and suffered a foot
injury from cannon shrapnel. After his
eventual third wound, Holmes left his
original regiment to act as a staff officer,
out of the direct line of fire. Holmes beheld
some of the war’s most vicious fighting at
the Battle of the Wilderness before he finally
left the army in July 1864. The war imparted

to Holmes a deep-seated respect for duty and
a general cynicism that he would carry with
him for the rest of his life. After the war,
Holmes attended Harvard Law School and
soon began the legal scholarship that led to a
professorship at Harvard. However, Holmes,
ever the man of action, left Harvard after a
few months to serve on the Supreme Judicial
Court of Massachusetts for twenty years
before his eventual thirty-year tenure on the
U.S. Supreme Court. In these roles, Holmes
left his indelible mark on American
history.Iz

Emerson in Holmes’ Youth

The bond between Emerson’s writings
and Holmes’ beliefs began with Holmes’
early admiration for the poet. Holmes' own
description of Emerson’s role in his adoles-
cence is telling. Late in Holmes’ life, he still
discussed Emerson, who had died forty-eight
years earlier, in his correspondence and
labeled him the “firebrand of my youth.” In
fact, Holmes wrote the above quotation in a
letter in 1930, his ninetieth year, and he went
on to explain that Emerson still “burns as
brightly in me as ever.”"”

Holmes’ first publication was itself an
implicit tribute to Emerson. In 1858, the
Harvard student magazine printed Holmes’
essay—"“Books.” White’s biography of
Holmes describes “Books™ as a thinlyveiled
regurgitation of Emersonian principles.
Holmes” desire to emulate Emerson was
predictable. The young man had received
two complete copies of the poet’s work from
separate people on his seventeenth birthday
only eight months before the publication of
“Books.” Holmes adored Emerson, and
apparently his friends and family knew it.'*
Though Holmes grew more intellectually
bold as an undergraduate and left behind
loose recreations of Emerson,
“Books,” his respect for Emerson did not
wane. Years after “Books,” Holmes, still an

such as
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Writing influential essays in the mid-nineteenth
century, Ralph Waldo Emerson became a leading
voice of American intellectual culture and transcen-
dentalism. Although Oliver Wendell Holmes, Jr. never
cited him in his legal writings, he was clearly
influenced both by Emerson’s poetic style and
philosophy, particularly his ideas on self-reliance.

eager undergraduate, wrote an essay critical
of the philosopher Plato and sent the
piece to Emerson. According to Elizabeth
S. Sergeant, both a frequent correspondent
and brief biographer of Holmes, Emerson
replied, “I have read your piece. When you
strike at a king, you must kill him.”'> With
“Books,” Holmes looked to Emerson’s ideas
for guidance on his beliefs; when Holmes
applied his own ideas to another thinker, in
this case Plato, he sought approval from
Emerson.

The Justice’s own words reinforce
Emerson’s outsize impact on him. He
recounted the following story to a friend
through a letter in 1912: “When . . . I was
still young, I saw him [Emerson] on the other
side of the street and ran over and said to
him: ‘If I ever do anything, I shall owe a
great deal of it to you, which was true. He
was one of those who set one on fire—to
impart a thought was the gift of genius.”'®

Echoes of Emerson

Some of the strongest parallels between
the two men center on the idea of
self-reliance. Emerson admired those who
trudged through life with their own will and
derided the “foolish philanthropist,” who
enabled others’ indolence. Early in
“Self-Reliance,” an essay from 1841,
Emerson exclaimed, “[D]o not tell me . . .
of my obligation to put all poor men in good
situations. Are they my poor?” Emerson’s
conscience did not demand that he share his
wealth with the less fortunate. People in
poverty had allowed the “smooth mediocrity
and squalid contentment™ of the world to
limit them. In Emerson’s eyes, any worthy
person would “affront and reprimand” the
worst in society and rise above it. If people
failed to ascend, it was their own fault.'”

Emerson’s perception of the unfortunate
explains why he so derided charitable
organizations. He called any donation to
“popular charities™ and “education at college
of fools” a “wicked dollar.” Emerson
admitted that he sometimes contributed to
such causes but hoped he “shall have the
manhood to withhold” in the future. The
famed poet saw such charity as an excuse for
the unwilling to go through life without
achievement. As Emerson said, “[D]o your
work, and I shall know you. Do your work,
and you shall reinforce yourself.”'® If a
person strove and found success, it was
because of hard work. If an individual tried
and failed, incompetence or laziness was the
culprit. These principles composed the core
of Emerson’s ideal of independence.

Holmes” decision in Buck v. Bell (1927)
embodied an Emersonian premium on self-
reliance. The case centered around Carrie
Buck, a woman housed in a mental health
institution. According to the State of
Virginia at the time, her alleged mental
enfeeblement had been present in her family
for three generations, and state law allowed
for forced sterilization of such inmates. It is
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important to note that all modern research
shows that Carrie Buck was not mentally
handicapped, nor was any member of her
family.'"” Buck challenged the procedure,
and the case made its way to the Supreme
Court. Holmes’ argument for the forced
sterilization of Carrie Buck rested on his
view of Buck and any of her potential
children as a “sap [on] the strength of the
state.” This woman could not support
herself, and Holmes believed that was
reason enough to prevent her from bearing
children. Informed by his time as a soldier,
he compared the duty of sacrifice thrust upon
those in the military to the burden of
sterilization that Buck should endure for
the good of the state. The presumed
dependency of Buck’s future children ob-
viously troubled Holmes, who notoriously
declared, “three generations of imbeciles are
enough.”20 For Holmes, the government had
little obligation to support and enable the
enfeebled. He also considered eugenics a
legitimate scientific movement, as did
much of the educated, liberal class in
America at this time, and his faith in this
pseudo-science contributed to his decision in
Buck?!

Holmes reflected the Emersonian pre-
mium on self-sufficiency not only in Buck v.
Bell but also in his personal letters. One of
Holmes’ letters to longtime friend Harold
Laski—an economics professor and brief
chairman of the British Labour Party—
demonstrates the harmonies between Holmes
and Emerson on this issue. Holmes saw no
legitimacy in “government’s undertaking to
rectify social desires.” For instance, he found
no merit in welfare programs: “as to the right
of citizens to support and education I don’t
see it.” There was no right to livelihood for
Holmes. If people wanted income and work,
they should fight for it. As he declared, “I
see no right in my neighbor to share my
bread . . . except so far as he . . . has the
power to take it.”?> Holmes and Emerson
understood success as a consequence of hard

work, and the thought of others gaining it
without effort bothered them.

If self-reliance was one central Emersonian
theme that influenced Holmes, then war was
In his 1841 essay, “Heroism,”
Emerson considered war a defining piece of
society: “our culture . . . must not omit the
arming of man.” Conflict fostered growth
and well-being from Emerson’s point of
view. The fight made a person more capable
and worthy of praise. He claimed that any
man “should not go dancing into the weeds
of peace” but rather “take both reputation
and life in his hands . . . dare the . . . mob by
the absolute truth of his speech, and the
rectitude of his behavior.”*> For Emerson,
this approach inspired the best in people.
Even though Emerson never served in the
military, he held a martial ideal in high
regard.

Holmes’ first Memorial Day address, in
1884, demonstrated that he understood war
and heroism in much the same way. In some
sense, he considered the experience of war
enlightening. From Holmes’ point of view,
war taught him and his comrades “that life is
a profound and passionate thing.” He
decreed, “through our great good fortune,
in our youth our hearts were touched with
fire.”?* The fervor of war was, in a way,
worth cherishing. Eleven years later in his
Memorial Day speech “The Soldier’s Faith,”
the Justice proclaimed that “as long as
man dwells upon the globe, his destiny is
battle . . . sooner or later we shall fall; but
meantime it is for us to fix our eyes upon the
point to be stormed, and to get there if we
can.”? Overall, Holmes carried Emerson’s
same belief in war as an inevitable part of
human life. Unlike Emerson, however,
Holmes could exhibit pessimism about war.
In the same address in which he labeled the
war “our great good fortune,” Holmes also
described the death he witnessed as “certain
and useless.” Holmes could detest and
admire war, but he firmly believed, as did
Emerson, in both the value of a soldier’s

another.
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experience and the inevitability of human
violence.

Alongside self-reliance and war, the
abiding power of the written word was yet
another Emersonian theme that reverberated
in Holmes’ work. In “The American
Scholar,” Emerson depicts the process of
taking an idea from mere thought to an
undying piece of writing: “It came to him,
short lived actions: it went from him,
immortal thoughts.” For Emerson, once a
thinker writes an idea down, it “flies” and
“inspires . . . in proportion to the depth of the
mind from which it was issued.™’ Emerson
portrayed his belief in the power of ideas
again in his essay “Intellect,” where he
asserted that the “intellections™ of man can
constitute “the immortality of man.”*® This
trust in the posthumous power of the written
word was fitting for a poet and lecturer such
as Emerson. With his response to Holmes’
essay on Plato, Emerson implicitly expressed
this belief to Holmes. He directed the
undergraduate Holmes to “strike at a king”
only if he can “kill him.” For in that case, the
attack would be worthy for the lasting, even
immortal, impact such a piece of writing
would provide.

Holmes voiced a similar sentiment at the
end of his lecture, “The Profession of the
Law.” He depicted a writer’s ability for
“postponed power” as the “secret isolated
joy of the thinker.” Holmes wanted students
in the audience to understand the most
alluring benefit of scholarship—that “a
hundred years™ after death, people “will be
moving to the measure” of your thoughts.”
Holmes™ belief in the immortal longevity of
words was consistent with his choice of
profession, as judges often dissent in hopes
that a future court will one day look back and
vindicate their arguments. Holmes rebuked
the Supreme Court in cases such as Lochner
v. New York (1905) and Abrams v. U.S.
(1919). Decades later in West Coast Hotel
Co. v. Parrish (1937) and Brandenburg v.
Ohio (1969), the Supreme Court validated

Holmes’ dissents in Lochner and Abrams,
respectively. As a judge, Holmes used the
enduring power of words to great effect.

Emerson promoted the marketplace of
ideas, another concept that Holmes himself
championed. Emerson explained in the 1844
essay “Politics™ that only those “who build on
ideas, build for eternity,” and for these ideas to
succeed they must prevail “in the population
which permits™ them. Emerson knew that
principles held communities and nations to-
gether over time, as ephemeral human leaders
came and went. Accordingly, he understood
and promoted the importance of free speech in
the proper functioning of democracy.

Holmes’ dissent in Abrams relied on the
same veneration of debate and the “free trade
of ideas™ that Emerson expressed in “Poli-
tics.” In defending the right of Russian
immigrants to distribute leaflets that de-
nounced the U.S. government and called
for revolution, Holmes reminded the Court

As an undergraduate at Harvard, Oliver Wendell
Holmes, Jr. wrote an essay critical of the philosopher
Plato and sent the piece to Emerson. Reportedly the
poet and essayist replied, “I have read your piece.
When you strike at a king, you must kill him.” Above
Holmes is pictured at age thirty-two.
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that “time has upset many fighting faiths.”
Justice Holmes used this phrase to showcase
that countless ideas populate the United
States at any one time. Those “fighting
faiths” most often fail because they lack
the support to persevere over time.
According to Holmes, the “best test of truth
is the power” of such principles to be
“accepted in the competition of the
market.”” Holmes ardently believed that
the First Amendment protected the right to
enter this battle of ideas.

Emerson also advanced a conception of
law as a reflection of a society’s humanity, a
view that Holmes, too, endorsed. Toward the
end of “Politics,” Emerson contended that
“we must trust infinitely to the beneficent
necessity which shines through all laws.
Human nature expresses itself in them as
characteristically as in statues, or songs.” The
poet saw the ever-changing state of legal
codes as an echo of humanity’s own evolu-
tion. As people and societies transformed, so
did their laws. “An abstract of the codes of a
nation,” he thought, presented a “transcript of
common conscience.”™" In Holmes’ canonical
work The Common Law (1881), he por-
trayed a remarkably similar take of the law.
Instead of music or sculpture, Holmes likened
the law to a story that “embodies . . . a
nation’s development through many cen-
turies.””> Holmes believed in the same
parallel relationship between humanity and
its laws. The law acts as a “great anthro-
pological document,” according to an intro-
duction he wrote for a compilation of legal
histories. He went on to claim that the law
“more than any other history tells the story of
a race.”® Legal realists often prided them-
selves on the supposed novelty of under-
standing law in a broader societal context, but
as the parallels between Emerson and Holmes
suggest, such novelty was overstated.

Legal history, like all of history, tran-
spired as a piece of a broader era. Emerson’s
contributions to Holmes’ thought underscore
that legal history did not exist apart from

external influences. The culture of any given
period bleeds over into the work that people
produce during that time. Consequently,
legal historiography should always strive to
account for the external influences on legal
development, even when legal actors in
history were obtuse about such influences
acting upon them. An interdisciplinary
approach is all the more necessary when
writing about Holmes, who was influenced
by non-legal thinkers such as Emerson. To
put a finer point on it, a Holmesian approach
is required to study Holmes.

“The American Scholar” and “The Path of
the Law”

A close comparison of Emerson’s “The
American Scholar” with Holmes” “The Path
of the Law” confirms the continuous line of
thought between the two men. Emerson
delivered “The American Scholar” in 1837
before the Harvard chapter of the Phi Beta
Kappa society. In a sense, Holmes’ connec-
tion to the work predates his birth; Oliver
Wendell Holmes, Sr. was in the audience
that night.** Holmes’ essay “The Path of the
Law,” which appeared in the Harvard Law
Review in 1897, developed into one of
Holmes’ most consequential works of legal
theory. Although he never used the term
“legal realism” in the essay, the article
remains foundational for legal realism—a
theory of the law that calls for an emphasis
on social utility and lived experience.

In each articles’ last pages, both
Emerson and Holmes strive to provide an
extra worldly weight to their respective
fields, and the similarity of their final lines
is striking. For Holmes it is the study of the
law and for Emerson the study of letters, but
they both apply a cosmic level of importance
to their ideas. Emerson wrote,

We will walk on our own feet; we
will work with our own hands;
we will speak our own minds. The
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study of letters shall be no longer a
name for pity, for doubt, and for
sensual indulgence. The dread of
man and the love of man shall be a
wall of defense and a wreath of joy
around all. A nation of men will for
the first time exist because each
believes himself inspired by the
Divine Soul which also inspires all
men.*

Holmes reached a similar level of
grandeur in the final few lines of “The Path
of the Law™:

The remoter and more general
aspects of the law are those which
give it universal interest. It is
through them that you not only
become a great master in your
calling but connect your subject
with the universe and catch an
echo of the infinite, a glimpse of
its unfathomable process, a hint of
the universal law.*

Emerson labeled the inspiration as the
“Divine Soul,” whereas Holmes named his
calling “an echo of the infinite” and “the
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universal law,” thereby emulating the pas-
sion and the prose of Emerson.

The essays share other stylistic similarities.
Throughout “The American Scholar,” Emerson
identified the appropriate state of the scholar as
“Man Thinking.” For Emerson, this “Man
Thinking” embodied an intelligent man of
action. The role for “Man Thinking” was “to
cheer, to raise, and to guide men.” Emerson’s
other work was rife with this same literary
device. Emerson habitually assigned a de-
scriptor to a type of “man” or group of “men”
and went on to use that idea to invoke an image
or principle. In “Heroism,” he used the “wise
man” to showcase the benefit of “those rarer
dangers which . . . invade men.”*’ The “old
statesman” was the source of authentic knowl-
edge in “Politics.”*® In “The Poet,” Emerson
presented “the Knower, the Doer, and the
Sayer” as three different kinds of Jove.*

In “The Path of the Law,” Holmes’ use
of “the bad man” was a cynical use of the
same literary construction. Where Emerson
used “Man Thinking” to improve the public
image of the scholar, Holmes applied “the
bad man” to explain his technical take on the
law. According to Holmes, if people per-
ceive the law as a “bad man,” they realize
that “the material consequences” of the law
matter more than any moral concern. The
“bad man” became short hand for this idea in
the same way that “Man Thinking” was
Emerson’s call sign for the ideal scholar.

The link between these two texts goes
beyond language, style, or eventual success.
Holmes’” motivations in “The Path of the Law”
parallel Emerson’s desires for “The American
Scholar.” They both sought to buck the
orthodoxies of an earlier day. Emerson
proposed and successfully created a new
standard for American literary culture with
“The American Scholar.” He declared that “we
have listened too long to the courtly muses of
Europe.”40 Emerson wanted Americans to tear
themselves away from the past in favor of
new American literature and philosophy. He
emphasized the idea in “Self-Reliance” as well.

Emerson admitted that he was “ashamed” of
“how easily we capitulate . . . to large societies
and dead institutions.” Toward the end of “Self-
Reliance,” he proclaimed that he hoped “‘we
have heard the last of conformity and consis-
tency . . . a true man belongs to no other time or
place.™!

Holmes dwelled on this same goal in
“The Path of the Law.” He believed that if the
law were to “lose the fossil records of a good
deal of history,” the profession would rid
itself “of an unnecessary confusion” and
“gain very much in clearness of . . . thought.”
Holmes went as far as to say that he looked
forward “to a time when the part played by
history . . . shall be very small.” As Holmes
described it, the legal field needed to
“spend...energy on the study of ends” in the
present moment.*> An intense desire to
effect change motivated both Emerson and
Holmes.

Emerson’s Scholar

Holmes was more than a soldier,
scholar, and Supreme Court Justice. He
was a poet. Allen Mendenhall’s analysis
reveals the importance of Emerson’s poetics
for Holmes’ dissents. Indeed,
Emerson’s definition, much of Holmes’
work would qualify as poetry. Emerson
characterized poetry in “The Poet” not as
lines of verse but as “a meter-making
argument.”* Mendenhall demonstrates that
Holmes® prose included literal poetic
meter.** Holmes’ most famous Supreme
Court opinions persist today because they
combined a convincing argument with this
arresting literary style. He declared in
Abrams v. U.S. (1919) that every day in
America “we have to wager our salvation”
upon the Constitution—a document he
called a “prophecy based upon imperfect
knowledge.”™* In Girlow v. New York (1925),
he reminded Americans that “eloquence may
set fire to reason.”*® According to Emerson’s

under
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description in “The Poet,” a poem is
“a thought so passionate and alive” that it
“adorns nature with a new thing.”*’ Holmes
work perseveres because, with his own
passion and lyrical prose, he adorned legal
history with something new.

ESTATE

¢ JUSTICE HOLMES:

SMEREY, Alvin T.

1931, 416 p. 2%kem. (F 1)

ENERIGON, Belthazard Harie.

The Libtrary.

Vaters of the €

Holmes’ voice echoed Emerson likely
because Holmes’ life adhered to Emerson’s
ideals. Oliver Wendell Holmes, Jr. was the
American scholar whom Emerson hoped
to inspire; Holmes was “Man Thinking.”
Emerson’s model scholar was one who put

Pago

te. Richmond, Va., 01d Dominion Zress.

An essay on Maritime loans, from the French of X.

Balthazard Merie Zmerigon; ... by John E. Hall, Esa., ... Baltimore: ... Philips H.

Hicklin % Cos, ... 1811,
verso of 2 final leaves.

EAERSON, Edward Waldo,

451 p. - 2em, (F'1)

EMERSON, Ralph Waldo.
11 v. 19%em. ports.

trait of Emerson.”

RSN, Ralph Waldo.

1328, 51 p.. 2Bem,
volutie laballed on spines

EMERSON, Relph Waldo.
1860, 288 p.

12kem,
on 1st p. 1., verso.
tisements faces t.-p.

EMERSON, Ralph Wzldo.

SON, Ralph Weldo.
p. 19cw. ¥ on i, f. c. Ns,

%. Holmeg, jr. From Father &

RSN, Ralph Valdo.
Sempson, & co., 1857. B335 p.
t p. 1. recto: Holmes, Jr.

DIFRSON, Ralph Weldo.

515 p., 22cm. Ms.
Unidentified svtograph on t.-p.

Complete workas.
¥. 2 wanting.
conpliments of ir. Emerson's family.®
Bounted 4. £, c.
aach vol. (on 1st 5. 1. varso of v. 12),

Colture ... R

19em.

notes: 1. £, c.; recto of let p, 1.;

(& 11-2)

The early yesrs of the Saturdey Club, 1855-1870. ...
Bogton and Rew Yorl;, Houghton Mifflin Company, 1918,
in typewriften presentation notice from the Saturdsy Club.

515 p., 1llus., 24%em. Laid

(A 19-4)

ZUERSON, Haven, ed. Alcohol and the man, New York, MNeemillan Co. 1932,

Boston, Houghton, Niff

In vols, 1 & 12, 3

Nounted 1. £, c. v. "A curiouns

« 4, later portrzit of Emerson.

(B 9:10)

An #ddrees delivere

College, Cambridge, Sunday evening, 15 July,

original blue paper cov.

lddresses, lectvres and orations.

8 junyoa ant
« 4 in bound

The conduvet of life. ,.. Poston:
Presentation glip " rom the autl
Binding reads Emerson’s/writin
Reeding notes on last blank

English traite
oresante
fother, M

Esgays ... first serias.
#on 1. f. c. Ms.

From

Father & Mother,

Essays by Raly
vised edition ... Boston, Hovghton, X

*5 1. £, ¢4y also pested on same an illus.

0N, Relph TWialdo. Essays:

274 . 19u.

¥. Holmes Jr.

HRSON, Ralph Weldo.

Fron

second

® on i

"Friendshiph

The heart of B

bon Mif£1in co., [e192¢

an A. L. 8.

shington, Amril 4

ol

This inventory of Holmes’ hooks shows that as a life-long reader of Emerson he possessed a large collection of

the essayist's works.



THE SUBTLE RAPTURE OF POSTPONED POWER 49

his intellect to work. As he explained in “The
American Scholar,” a “true scholar” perceives
“every opportunity of action past by, as a loss
of power.” According to Emerson, action set
the scholar apart from the studious recluse.
He believed that such deeds allowed
“thought” to “ripen into truth.” From Emer-
son’s standpotnt in “The American Scholar,”
a scholar should exert the force of his ideas on
the world and “run eagerly” into the
“resounding tumult.” The resulting “fit
actions” would have the ‘richest return of
wisdom.”*® Emerson’s American scholar
would set forth with new ideas unbound to
tradition and apply his mind to meaningful
actions.

Holmes embodied these ideals. His
undergraduate academic life was a success.
He took part in many of Harvard’s social
clubs, involved himself in the appropriate
amount of mischief, and acted as class poet
during graduation.‘w But this world could
wait. At twenty, he was willing to leave
behind his education to fight in the Civil
War. Holmes knew that by leaving early to
enlist, he would forfeit his degree, and he did
not care. For the young Holmes, this grave
moment of action was more important than
his bookwork. Nevertheless, Holmes" father
stepped in and convinced his son to return
for graduation before the war.”’ Toward the
end of his service in 1864, Holmes wrote to a
friend calling the war “a crusade in the cause
of the whole civilized world.”' The young
Holmes saw a cause that he believed in and
took Emerson’s advice. He acted.

Holmes remained a man of action his
entire life. Indeed, his choice of profession
supported this ideal. Holmes applied his
intellectual skill to the law, where he directly
affected the course of people’s lives and
liberties. The legal field is scholarship-in-
action. Whereas much of academia exists to
expand human knowledge as an end in itself,
the law exerts an active force on the lives of
the entire population. In 1882, Holmes was
less than a year into his tenure as an endowed

professor at Harvard when he leapt at the
chance to serve as a justice on the Supreme
Judicial Court of Massachusetts. His abrupt
transition from the ivory tower to the court-
room vividly captures Holmes’ eagerness to
put his intellect into action. Twenty years later,
he left the Massachusetts court for the U.S.
Supreme Court, where he toiled until the age
of ninety-one, unwilling to step away from an
arena where his ideas often had immediate and
far-flung implications for public policy.
Holmes, as much as any contemporary, was
the persistent, intelligent, and lively American
scholar whom Emerson idealized.

Holmes not only cultivated Emersonian
ideals in his own life but also admired them
in his peers. Justice Louis D. Brandeis
personified Emerson’s action-oriented
scholar much in the same way as Holmes.
Once Brandeis joined the Supreme Court in
1916, an intimate, intellectual relationship
developed between the two. Five years later,
Holmes expressed that Brandeis ‘“always
gives me a glow” and “feels to me as a
friend—as certainly I do to him.”** The
seventy-nine-year-old Holmes explained
later in the same year that Brandeis “seems
to me to see deeper than some of the others
—and we often agree.”® Brandeis, like
Emerson’s “man thinking” and Holmes,
applied his intellect to the public good.
Before and during his tenure on the Court,
Brandeis threw his will and time behind
reform efforts. He conceived of and helped
to implement savings bank life insurance,
took part in some of the earliest pro bono
publico legal work, and fiercely supported
the creation of a Jewish state in Palestine.”*
His dissent in Olmstead even contains high-
minded, poetic prose akin to that of Emerson
and Holmes: “The greatest dangers to liberty
lurk in insidious encroachment by men of
zeal, well meaning but without under-
standing.””> Holmes’ and Brandeis’ friend-
ship suggests that Holmes’ commitment to
Emerson’s principles ran deep enough to
influence both his life and his relationships.
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Nevertheless, Holmes did not fit the
mold of Emerson’s transcendentalist literary
movement. Emerson wrote an essay dedi-
cated to defining transcendentalism, appro-
priately entitled “The Transcendentalist,”
and his characterization of the subject
suggests little of Holmes’ ideology. Emerson
asserted that a transcendentalist “believes in
miracle” and maintains a trust in “inspira-
tion” and “ecstasy.”>® Holmes' philosophy
was not so bright. In one of his letters, he
characterized mankind as “flies . . . swept
away by a pestilence—here multiplying
unduly and paying for it.”*” Holmes was a
pragmatist and even a cynic, and no evidence
suggests he went looking for “inspiration” or
“ecstasy” through spirituality.

Conclusion

While it is difficult to know the extent to
which the Emersonian cast of Holmes’
thought was self-conscious rather than sub-
conscious, Holmes was a lifelong reader of
Emerson who consistently affirmed Emerso-
From the benefits of self-
sufficiency and the ever-present threat of
war to the immortality of writing and the
nature of the law itself, their works reveal
significant commonalities.

nian beliefs.

The harmony among these two men
extended beyond influence and agreement.
Emerson and Holmes also shared a common
contradiction. They both exalted the “post-
poned power” of the written word and hoped
that their ideas would maintain a lasting
influence. Yet each man also encouraged
breaking with the past in favor of fresh ideas.
Emerson and Holmes wanted to elevate the
enduring impact of their own ideas while
rejecting the philosophies of past genera-
tions. This shared inconsistency reflects a
paradox that exists within much of intellec-
tual history. Although thinkers present new
ideas, the various experiences and influences
in their past inform their arguments. No

creative act, whether academic or artistic,
is wholly original. Additions to human
knowledge are necessarily extensions of
what came before them. But people desire
ownership over their ideas and so often
present their creations, as did both Emerson
and Holmes, as a radical step forward. On
the other hand, as human beings with only a
fleeting amount of time on Earth, the
immortal power of words has a natural
appeal. People hope that the concepts they
create will live on, giving them a longevity
that their bodies cannot sustain.

The story of Emerson and Holmes
reminds us of the powerful, if paradoxical,
desire to efface the contributions of previous
generations while still leaving an indelible
mark on those yet to come. We thus cannot
trust a given historical actor’s footnotes, or
even private correspondence, to furnish us
with a total picture of their intellectual
lineage. A proper study of the law’s
intellectual history must extend beyond
recorded acknowledgements to the tenor of
a text, with an eye toward unspoken debts.
Then, we will find amid the most innovative
ideas, the unmistakable echoes of an ear-
lier day.
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The Supreme Court and Property
Rights in the Progressive Era

The Progressive Movement dominated
American political culture during the first
two decades of the twentieth century.'
Although historians continue to debate the
nature of Progressivism in those years, the
movement was characterized by certain
central tenets: Increase of governmental
authority, both federal and state over the
economy; hostility to the central role of
private property rights in constitutional
jurisprudence; rejection of individualism in
favor of statist ideology; and confidence in
administrative agencies, supposedly staffed
by nonpartisan experts, to formulate and
carry out policy. Progressives displayed little
interest in claims of individual right and the
plight of racial minorities. They were hostile
to doctrines, such as the separation of
powers, which constrained the
active government.” “Among the most durable
and controversial characteristics of Progressive
legal thought,” Herbert Hovenkamp has
perceptively observed, “were its distrust of
the market and its faith that the governmental
agency, whose salaried officials did not

reach of
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profit from their decisions, could regulate the
economy better.”® This statist philosophy set
the stage for the administrative state and
represented a sharp break from the prevailing
constitutional norms of the nineteenth
century, with its insistence on limited govern-
ment and respect for property and contractual
rights.*

For our purposes, it is important to bear
in mind that political figures and scholars
associated with the Progressive Movement
directed much of their fire at the judiciary,
including the Supreme Court, which they
pictured as a barrier to their reform agenda.
In 1912, Senator Robert M. LaFollette of
Wisconsin forcefully articulated this senti-
ment: “Gradually the judiciary began to
loom up as the one formidable obstacle
which must be overcome before anything
substantial could be accomplished to free the
public from the exactions of oppressive
monopolies and from the domination of the
property interests.””

At the same time, Theodore Roosevelt
launched a broadside against both state
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courts and the Supreme Court, charging that
they “have placed well-nigh or altogether
insurmountable obstacles in the path of
needed social reforms.”® Deeply distressed
by the federal and state courts, many
Progressives reopened the question of the
legitimacy of judicial review and advanced
proposals for the recall of state judges and
state judicial decisions.” They strongly
urged judicial deference to legislative
determinations.

A contrary thesis—that in the area of
property rights, the Supreme Court largely
accommodated the Progressive agenda, and
that the barrage of criticism was in fact
misplaced—is offered here, along with an
argument maintaining that the Supreme
Court of the Progressive Era diminished the
protection afforded the rights of property
owners under traditional constitutional prin-
ciples. In so doing, the Supreme Court

opened the door for New Deal jurisprudence
to relegate property and contractual rights to
a secondary place in constitutional law, one
from which they have yet to recover. To
develop these points, the rulings of the
Supreme Court pertaining to property rights
issues arising from Progressive Era legisla-
tion will be canvassed, even though in some
cases the decisions came after the years of
the Progressive Movement.

Tenement Reform

Tenement reform in the first decade of
the twentieth century is a good place to start.
Reformers repeatedly condemned urban
congestion and urged the enactment of laws
to secure better housing for the poor.
Problems relating to light, ventilation, sani-
tation, and fire protection were especially

In 1906, the Supreme Court unanimously affirmed a lower court ruling validating the New York State Tenement
House Act of 1901. The law required that new buildings must be built with outward-facing windows in every room,
an open courtyard, proper ventilation systems, indoor toilets, and fire safeguards. The author argues that the
decision, which demonstrated the Court's willingness to uphold regulations that imposed expenses on property
owners in order to promote public health and safety, is but one example of the Justices' willingness to

accommodate property regulation in the Progressive Era.
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pressing. The landmark New York Tenement
House Act of 1901, passed in response to
these concerns, required owners of existing
tenements to provide enhanced fire protec-
install windows as well as
modern sanitary facilities, running water,
and waterproof cellars. It also tightly regu-
lated the construction of future tenement
buildings. The owners disliked the sizeable
expenses imposed by the law and contended
that the measure amounted to a confiscation
of property.8 When New York City instituted
enforcement procedures against a landlord,
she mounted a challenge to that part of the
measure that mandated the installation of
new toilet facilities. The defendant, an owner
of an existing tenement, argued that the
expense of furnishing such new accommo-
dations amounted to an unconstitutional
taking of property without compensation.
Brushing aside this contention, the New
York Court of Appeals, the state’s highest
court, sustained the law as a proper exercise
of the police power to safeguard public
health.” In 1906, the Supreme Court unan-
imously affirmed the New York ruling
without opinion, demonstrating its willing-
ness to uphold regulations that imposed
expenses on property owners to promote
public health and safety.'® Its decision paved
the way for legislation to address the
problems of slum housing, and the New
York law became a model for legislation in
other states."!

tion and to

Land Use Regulations

Throughout the nineteenth century, the
primary means of land use control was the
common law doctrine of nuisance, which
was codified in some cities. The Supreme
Court was receptive to local laws that
banned certain activities in the nature of
nuisances. For example, in 1915, the Court
had no difficulty in sustaining a Little Rock
ordinance prohibiting the maintenance of

livery stables in residential neighborhoods.”
An even more striking example was pre-
sented in Hadachek v. Sabastian (1915). The
petitioner owned a brickyard that had been
established before there was any residential
housing in the vicinity. The City of Los
Angeles later enacted an ordinance barring
brickyards in certain areas of the city. This
action forced the petitioner to shut his
business, incurring a sizeable loss in the
value of his land. He charged that this
measure amounted to a deprivation of his
property without compensation in violation
of the Fourteenth Amendment. But this plea
fell on deaf ears. Invoking an almost
unlimited understanding of the police power,
which the Court recognized might “seem
harsh in its exercise,” it found no violation of
constitutionally protected property rights.'?
Absent nuisance, however, generally
speaking, individual property owners were
free to develop land as they wished.

By the turn of the twentieth century,
however, there was increased interest in
improving the quality of urban life. Re-
flecting this spirit, many cities enacted
ordinances restricting billboards.'* The Su-
preme Court readily sustained such mea-
sures. Ruling that a Chicago ban on bill-
boards in residential areas was a proper
exercise of the police power to protect the
health, safety, and morality of the commu-
nity, the Court brushed aside a contention
that the ordinance arbitrarily deprived the
sign company of property without due
process of law. '

Laws limiting the height of buildings,
moreover, were enacted in a number of
cities, including Chicago and Boston. Con-
gress regulated the height of building in the
District of Columbia in 1899. These restric-
tions were driven by safety and health
considerations. Observers harbored concerns
about the novel but untested construction
technology that made it possible to erect tall
buildings and about the difficulty of fighting
fires in the upper floors of such structures. It
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was also noted that the erection of tall
structures could exclude light and air, thus
affecting public health.

As with the tenement reform laws and
measures banning nuisance-like activities,
the Supreme Court again proved sympathetic
to these fledgling efforts to impose land-use
controls. At issue in Welch v. Swasey (1909)
was a statute imposing a lower height limit
on building in residential areas than in
commercial areas in Boston.'® The plaintiff
alleged that the statute, as applied to districts
with the lower height restrictions, amounted
to a taking of property without compensa-
tion. Speaking for a unanimous Court,
Justice Rufus W. Peckham rejected this
argument. He reasoned that the distinction
between commercial and residential areas
was reasonable in view of the greater fire
hazards with tall buildings. Peckham pointed
out that the restriction did not deprive the
owner of profitable use of his property. He
raised no objection to reasonable and gen-
erally applicable height regulations. In 1911,
Frank J. Goodnow, a prominent legal
scholar, could accurately point out that the
Supreme Court had been “emphatic as to the
right of the state . .
land and the construction of buildings in cities
in the interest of public health and safety.”!”

In the same vein, the Court raised no
objection to the establishment of building
set-back lines, even though such measures
curtailed the ability of owners to develop
their land.'® It did, however, invalidate a
Richmond ordinance that empowered prop-
erty owners on a street to require municipal
authorities to impose set-back limitations on
the construction of new homes. Stressing the
absence of any standard governing how this
power was to be exercised, the Court
expressed concern that the ordinance con-
ferred “the power on some property owners
to virtually control and dispose of the
property rights of others.” This standardless
delegation of power to private parties was
found to deprive the complaining lot owner

. to regulate the use of

of the property without due process of law."

Yet the Court also made clear that the power
of cities to enact a general law establishing
building lines or regulating the height of
building was not in question.

Although supportive of controls on urban
land and buildings, the Supreme Court drew
the line at laws that sought to separate
residential areas along racial lines. Starting
with Baltimore in 1910, a number of localities
adopted residential segregation ordinances.””
Such measures simply reflected the prevalent
racial norms of the Progressive Era. In
Buchanan v. Warley (1917), the Court was
called upon to determine the constitutionality
of such laws.”'

A Louisville ordinance required separate
residential areas for white and black people.
It was made unlawful for a person to occupy
a house in any block in which the majority of
residences were occupied by persons of
another race. The state attempted to justify
the ordinance as an exercise of the police
power to maintain racial harmony and to
prevent the deterioration of property owned
by whites. Justice William R. Day, writing
for a unanimous bench, struck down the
ordinance as a deprivation of property
without due process in violation of the
Fourteenth Amendment. He defined property
in broad terms: “Property is more than the
mere thing which a person owns. It is
elementary that it includes the right to
acquire, use, and dispose of it.” Invoking
“those fundamental rights in property”
secured by the Fourteenth Amendment,
Day emphasized that the Amendment en-
titled “a colored man to acquire property
without state legislation discriminating
against him solely because of color.”*

Buchanan is noteworthy in two respects.
Decided at a time when segregationist
attitudes were at full tide, Buchanan demon-
strated that the Court’s dedication to the
rights of property owners trumped major-
itarian wishes implicit in the residential
segregation ordinances. In so doing, it
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Appointed to the Supreme Court in 1903, William R. Day faced questions as to whether statutes regulating the
workplace inevitably curtailed contractual freedom and the right of owners to utilize their property. Day authored
the important opinion in Buchanan v. Warley invalidating residential segregation laws as a deprivation of property

without due process of law.

signaled that there was a limit to judicial
acceptance of laws imposing racial separa-
tion in American life. Moreover, the decision
halted the movement to impose residential
segregation by law in other communities.”

Piecemeal laws directed at particular
problems, however, were soon seen as
inadequate to deal with the complexity of
urban life in the early twentieth century. The
movement for comprehensive citywide
zoning gained currency, fueled by the
Progressive desire to shape the urban land-
scape. As was often the case with Progres-
sive initiatives, the inspiration for dividing
cities into districts based on usage can be
traced to Imperial Germany.>* Drawing upon
German municipal codes, Progressives ad-
vocated the adoption of similar measures in
the United States. As Morton Keller ex-
plained: “Citywide zoning found ready
nourishment in the prevailing mindset of

the Progressive years.”” Zoning, with its

promise of scientific management to replace
the haphazard municipal development of the
past, was congenial with the Progressive
fondness for planning and reliance on
experts.

New York City’s pioneering zoning law
of 1916 limited the use of certain property by
establishing three land use districts: residen-
tial, business and unrestricted. The effect
was to enlarge municipal control over
activities on land. Zoning spread rapidly in
the early 1920s, but such novel regulations
raised legal issues. Although zoning was
justified as an exercise of state police power
to protect public health, safety, and morals,
many observers nonetheless doubted that
comprehensive zoning would pass constitu-
tional muster. A number of state courts were
initially skeptical about zoning and pictured
the regulations as an infringement of the
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Justice George Sutherland wrote the opinion in Euclid v. Ambler (1926) affirming zoning power, arguing that the
separation of residential and commercial areas would enhance the security of home life. Zoning may have been
acceptable to the Supreme Court because it promised to bolster land values and exclude undesirable uses, even if

individual owners suffered a loss.

rights of property owners. They looked with
disfavor, for example, on laws that excluded
retail stores or apartment buildings from
residential districts.”

The zoning ordinance in the Village of
Euclid, a Cleveland suburb, provided the
basis for the famous Supreme Court decision
in 1926 sustaining municipal zoning
authority. It bears emphasis that the federal
district court struck down the ordinance as
taking of property without compensation.
The court insisted that “the true object of the

ordinance in question is to place all the
property in an undeveloped area of 16 square
miles in a strait-jacket,” for the purpose of
regulating “the mode of living of persons
who may hereafter inhabit it.” Declaring that
private property ownership encompasses the
right to use and dispose of such property, the
district court concluded that comprehensive
zoning limiting the right to develop property
was not a reasonable use of the police power
and could only be achieved by an exercise of
eminent domain.>’
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Tenants, such as these Harlem protesters in 1919, complained about onerous rents, but landlords challenged the
rent control laws that were passed in New York and D.C on the ground that they were taking away from the value
of their property. In Block v. Hirsh (1921) Justice Oliver Wendell Holmes, Jr., upheld the validity of the Ball Rent
Act, writing “the right of the owner to do what he will with his own and to make what contracts he pleases are
cut down.”

In the Supreme Court, however, zoning
power was affirmed in an opinion by Justice
George Sutherland. He analogized zoning to
the power to abate a common law nuisance
and maintained that the separation of resi-
dential and commercial areas would enhance
the security of home life.”® Scholars have
debated why the Justices proved sympathetic
to comprehensive land use controls, given
their restrictive impact on the property rights
of individual owners. The answer, it may be
submitted, is that zoning promised to bolster
land values and exclude undesirable uses,
even if individual owners, as in Euclid itself,
suffered a loss. Most landowners benefited
from the new scheme of controls.”® This
explains why Americans so readily accepted
this intrusive regulation of property.

For better or worse, the Supreme
Court’s affirmation of zoning in Euclid
opened the door for extensive land use

planning. The advantages and drawbacks of
zoning are the subject of a continuing debate
that cannot be reviewed here, but this legacy
of the Progressives has proven a lasting
contribution to the urban and suburban
environment.**

Rent Control

The advent of rent control during the
Progressive Era was a dramatic intervention
into the housing market and presented a
sharp challenge to the traditional rights of
landlords. Aside from tenement reform laws
aimed at health and safety concerns, the
relations between residential landlords and
tenants had long been governed by bar-
gaining and leases. The outbreak of World
War I caused the cost of labor and building
supplies to increase. The entry of the United
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States into the war in April 1917 brought
residential construction to a halt, exacer-
bating the already existing housing shortage
in many urban areas. Faced with rising
expenses, landlords increased rents. This in
turn prompted fears about rent profiteering
and evictions. Reacting to concern over such
rental practices, Congress in 1919 passed the
Ball Rent Act, which imposed rent controls
in the District of Columbia for a period of
two years. Congress established a commis-
sion to determine “fair and reasonable” rents
for residential apartments and prohibited the
eviction of tenants who paid the rent fixed by
the commission. A year later, the New York
legislature enacted a similar measure for
New York City, also limited in duration to
two years. The legislation represented a
sweeping overhaul of landlord-tenant rela-
tions. By regulating rents and curtailing
evictions, the laws significantly restricted
the control of landlords over their property.
These laws were predicated upon the ex-
istence of a public emergency in housing
conditions growing out of the war.*'
Unsurprisingly, landlords promptly at-
tacked the rent-control measures. They
charged that the laws amounted to a taking
of property, deprived the owners of their
property without due process of law, and
impaired the obligation of contract. Opinion
was divided as to the constitutionality of the
legislation, and lower courts reached dif-
Hirsh
(1921) a sharply divided Supreme Court, in
an opinion by Justice Oliver Wendell
Holmes, Jr., upheld the validity of the Ball
Rent Act.” Holmes acknowiedged that, by
virtue of this law, “the right of the owner to
do what he will with his own and to make
what contracts he pleases are cut down.”
Finding that rental conditions in the District
of Columbia amounted to an emergency, he
maintained that “a public exigency will
justify the legislature in restricting property
rights in land to a certain extent without

. 32
ferent conclusions.”™ In Block v.

compensation.” Holmes problematicaily
compared rent controls to laws limiting the
height of buildings, a regulation that pertained
to the potentially harmful use of land not the
regulation of charges. Stressing that the
regulation was “justified only as a temporary
measure,” he saw no violation of the property
rights of the landlords.** In a companion case,
the Supreme Court, again by a 5-4 vote,
sustained the New York rent control law as
well.*® Writing for the majority, Holmes
largely disposed of the case on the basis of
his opinion in Block. He also dismissed the
Contract Clause argument in a cursory
manner, a point to be examined below.

Speaking for the four dissenters, Justice
Joseph McKenna strenuously argued that
both the Ball Rent Act and the New York
legislation ran afoul of constitutional provi-
sions protecting property and contractual
rights. He emphasized the importance of
property in the constitutional system, obser-
ving that the “security of property, next to
personal security against exertions of gov-
ernment, is of the essence of liberty.” He
vigorously rejected the contention that that a
legislative assertion of an emergency justi-
fied overriding constitutional provisions,
Further,
McKenna was unimpressed by the limitation
of the rent control laws to two years,
correctly noting that the duration could be
enlarged. He plaintively inquired whether
the Constitution has become
chronism.”*¢

As the emergency rationale bulked large
in the disposition of the rent control cases,
and a decade later would feature prominently
in Supreme Court decisions enlarging
governmental authority, it warrants careful
examination.”” There is, of course, a line of
cases holding that the existence of emer-
gency conditions does not override constitu-
tional guarantees. In much quoted language
from Ex Parte Milligan (1866) the Court
declared:

such as the contract clause.

“an ana-
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The Constitution of the United
States is a Law for rulers
people equally in war and peace,
and covers with the shield of its
protection all classes of men, at all
times, and under all circumstances.
No doctrine, involving more perni-
cious consequences, was ever in-
vented by the wit of man than that
any of its provisions can be sus-
pended during any of the great
exigencies of government.38

and

Throughout the nineteenth century,
moreover, the Supreme Court repeatedly
rejected claims of economic distress as an
excuse to abridge contractual undertakings.*
In contrast, in the rent control cases the Court
permitted legislators to invoke an enlarged
police power that, as Holmes admitted, they
likely would have been unable to do absent
the perceived housing emergency.

The heavy reliance on emergency con-
ditions as a justification for rent controls
begs a number of questions. What constitutes
an emergency? Who determines that an
emergency exists? To what extent can courts
inquire into the factual basis for a legislative
declaration of an emergency? Is such a
declaration conclusive on courts? Without
some degree of judicial oversight, can law-
makers invoke a claimed emergency to
augment their power heedless of constitutional
restraints? How long does a proclaimed

emergency last?

The final chapter in the rent control cases
gave the Supreme Court an opportunity to
consider these questions. As McKenna feared,
both the Ball Rent Act and the New York
City rent controls were repeatedly extended
upon expiration of their original two-year
period on the grounds that the housing
emergency persisted. In Chastleton Corp. v.
Sinclair (1924), a landlord challenged the
extension of the Ball Rent Act, alleging that
by 1922 housing conditions had changed and
there was no longer an emergency that could

justify continued rent controls consistent with
the Fifth Amendment.*® This time the
Supreme Court signaled that there were limits
to its acceptance of legislative declarations of
an emergency. In another opinion by Holmes,
the Court agreed that respect was due to
legislative findings but maintained that “a
Court is not at liberty to shut its eyes to an
obvious mistake when the validity of the law
depends upon the truth of what is declared.”
Holmes explained: “A law depending upon
the existence of an emergency or other certain
state of facts to uphold it may cease to operate
if the emergency ceases or the facts change,
even if valid when passed.” According to
Holmes, it was “a matter of public knowl-
edge” that the need for housing in the District
of Columbia had diminished by 1924. He
expressed the view that the increased cost of
living by itself could not justify rent controls.
Although observing that “upon the facts we
judicially know, we should be compelled to
say that the law has ceased to operate,” the
Court remanded the case to a lower court to
ascertain the facts pertaining to local housing
in 1922, the date of the order by the rent
control commission at issue.*'

Subsequently, the Court of Appeals for
the District of Columbia readily concluded
that the housing emergency had ended,
hence there was no constitutional basis for
a continuation of rent controls by Congress
in 1924. Highlighting a concern with reli-
ance on supposed emergencies that linger
without a fixed date of expiration, the court
pointed out that “if the emergency in
question is not at an end, then this legislation
may be extended indefinitely, and that which
was ‘intended to meet a temporary emer-
gency’ may become permanent law.”*

Chastleton seemed to hold out the
promise that there would be some degree
of judicial examination into the factual basis
for legislative determinations of emergency
conditions.** Yet this promise was never
fulfilled. Courts not only tended to accept
legislative declarations of an emergency at
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face value, but they treated an emergency as
in effect enlarging the scope of the police
power over the rights of property owners.
Without judicial oversight, lawmakers could
as a practical matter expand their authority
by their own bootstraps. The legacy of the
rent control cases, therefore, was to weaken
the constitutional protection of property in
the face of declared emergencies.

Taking of Property

The Supreme Court during the Progres-
sive Era heard only a handful of cases
pertaining to the taking of property. In some
respects, the Court enlarged the under-
standing of a “taking” to encompass situa-
tions in which land was physically harmed
even if the government did not acquire
formal title. For instance, it decided that
river improvement projects that subjected
land to periodic floods constituted a com-
pensable taking.** Likewise, it held that the
discharge of smoke and gas from a railroad
tunnel amounted to a taking by rendering the
plaintiff’s home less habitable and causing
depreciation in value.® Further, the Court,
speaking through Holmes, declared in dicta
that regulation on the height of buildings that
made a building lot useless would constitute
a taking.*® This comment anticipated the
later emergence of the regulatory takings
doctrine.*’

On the other hand, the Court in these
years made no attempt to put any teeth into
the “public use” limitation on the exercise of
eminent domain, even when the taking was
primarily for private benefit.*® For example,
it upheld the practice in many western states
of conferring eminent domain power upon
private parties to obtain rights-of-way across
the land of others for irrigation or mining. In
Clark v. Nash (1905), Peckham, speaking for
the Court, validated the acquisition by an
individual in Utah of an enlarged irrigation
ditch through the land of another, finding

that the use was public.*’ He stressed the
arid circumstances of certain western states,
pointing out that, without irrigation, the
property at issue was without value. It
should be noted, however, that Peckham
added some language seeking to cabin the

. .. 5
reach of this decision.™

Contract Clause

Today the Contract Clause is something
of a constitutional orphan.’’ The Supreme
Court has not invoked the clause to invali-
date a state law since the mid-1970s.
Throughout the nineteenth century, however,
the Contract Clause had been one of the most
litigated provisions of the Constitution.>
Nonetheless, the Progressive Era saw a
marked decline in the significance of the
clause. Several factors contributed to this
result, but prominent among them was the
emergence of new attitudes toward the place
of contracts in society urged by scholars
associated with the Progressive Movement.
They called into question both the voluntary
nature of contracts and the market economy.
Wandering far from the views of the
founding generation, Progressives argued
that contracts were merely products of
society that could be altered or abolished to
the needs of society. They
challenged the individualistic understanding
of contracts and in essence maintained that
agreements were not deserving of special

SE€rve

constitutional protection. Progressives called
for an expansive reading of the police power
that could trump contractual provisions to
promote the general welfare.®® As society
came to assign less value to contracts, the
Contract Clause was necessarily viewed in a
new and diminished light.

To be sure, the traditional understanding
of the Contract Clause continued to have
strong defenders during the Progressive. Era.
In 1905, Elihu Root, a leading attorney and
political figure, directly challenged the
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Progressive premise regarding contracts. He
argued before the Supreme Court:

The legislature cannot violate the
Constitution, and redeem the viola-
tion by the claim that it was done
“for the public benefit.” The repu-
diation of contract obligations is
quite usually sought to be justified
by the plea of “the public benefit,”
but the Constitution of the United
States may not be nullified in so
simple and easy a fashion.>*

But Root was speaking against the day.
The Progressive critique of contracts laid the
intellectual groundwork for a jurisprudence
that substantially stripped contractual rights
of constitutional protection against state
abridgement.

The Supreme Court had weakened the
protection of public contracts under the
Contract Clause in the late nineteenth
century by determining that state legislatures
could not bargain away their police power.>>
As a result, the Court during the Progressive
Era frequently rejected claims based on
language in corporate charters. It looked
skeptically at arguments of business corpora-
tions seeking shelter under the Contract
Clause from state taxation and regulation.
For example, states were accorded broad
latitude to regulate railroads and utilities.*®
Hence, the impact of Progressive ideas was
most fully manifest with respect to contracts
between private parties. To be sure, the
Court did invalidate a retroactive change in
state mortgage foreclosure procedures, ad-
hering to a long-settled pattern of striking
down debt-relief measures as applied to
existing agreements.>’ Nonetheless, the se-
curity afforded private contracts began to
erode in the early twentieth century.

In Manigualt v. Springs (1905), the
Supreme Court opened the door to this result
by holding that agreements between private
parties were also subordinated to the inalien-

able police power.”® At issue was a contract,
between adjoining riparian owners on a
navigable creek, that the stream should
remain free of obstructions. A subsequent
state law authorizing one party to erect a
dam across the creek was attacked as an
impairment of contract. Speaking for the
Court, Justice Henry Billings Brown,
without any analysis or explanation, an-
nounced that the Contract Clause “does not
prevent the State from exercising such
powers as are vested in it for the promotion
of the common weal, or are necessary for the
general good of the public, though contracts
previously entered into between individuals
be affected.” He added that the police power
“was paramount to any rights under contracts
between individuals.” Brown also insisted
that state legislatures had wide discretion to
ascertain what was necessary for the public
good.>® Manigault marked a watershed in the
treatment of private agreements under the
Contract Clause. One scholar perceptively
observed that Manigault “was perilously
close to saying that states could impair
contractual obligations whenever they had a
good reason.”® It goes without saying that if
private agreements could be abridged when-
ever a state legislature deemed it necessary,
the Contract Clause did little to safeguard
such arrangements.

During the Progressive Era, the Supreme
Court several times reaffirmed that private
contracts were subordinate to an exercise of
the state police power. In 1908, for instance,
Holmes commented, “One whose rights, such
as they are, are subject to state restrictions,
cannot remove them from the power of the
state by making a contract about them.”®! As
noted earlier, Holmes also abruptly rejected a
Contract Clause challenge to New York’s rent
control law by citing Manigault and declaring
that “contracts are made subject to the
police power of the State when otherwise
justified.” ©

Not only could the police power over-
ride contracts, both public and private, but



64 JOURNAL OF SUPREME COURT HISTORY

Burlin

ton R

Burlington
E Route

i

In Chicago, Burlington and Quincy Railway Company v. Drainage Commissioners (1906) the Supreme Court ruled
that a railroad company could be required to bear the expense of building a new bridge to serve the public
convenience. Brushing aside an argument that this mandate constituted a taking of property, the Court concluded
that the cost of rebuilding was merely an incidental injury resulting from exercise of the police power. Pictured is

that railroad line's map in 1900.

the understanding of the police power
expanded beyond safeguarding public
health, safety, and morals. In 1915, the
Supreme Court defined the police power to
encompass “regulations designed to promote
the public convenience or the general wel-
fare and prosperity, as well as those in the
interest of public health, morals or safety.”®*
Such an open-ended conception of the police
power paved the way for the virtual
emasculation of the Contract Clause by the
New Deal jurisprudence of the 1930s.*

Railroads

By 1900, railroads occupied a central
place in the economic life of the nation. Not
only did railroad capital represent a sizeable
portion of national wealth. but railroad
companies controlled allied businesses such

as coal mines, steamships, and hotels. There
was also a persistent trend toward the
consolidation of lines, thereby reducing
competition. As a paramount goal of the
Progressive Movement was to redress the
imbalance of economic power associated
with the emerging industrial order, Progres-
sives took particular aim at the rail industry
and championed a host of regulatory
measures.®>At the heart of these laws was a
modification of property rights. As one
newspaper pointed out in 1906, “The whole
movement against the railroads is predicated

. on the idea that they are extremely
prosperous and that some of their profits
might be as well taken from them and
appropriated for the benefit of shippers and
the general public.”®® For the most part,
however, the Supreme Court made no
systematic attempt to shield railroads from
even burdensome regulations.
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With the enactment of the Hepburn Act
of 1906 and the Mann-Elkins Act of 1910,
Congress in effect removed control over the
rate-making process from the carriers and
vested such power in the Interstate Com-
merce Commission (ICC). In the late nine-
teenth century, the Court had stressed that
state regulatory authority did not permit
confiscation of railroad property through
the imposition of unremunerative rates.®’
Reflecting this concern, it observed in 1908
that “railroads are the private property of
their owners™ and “in no proper sense, is the
public a general manager.”® Yet, despite
this admonition, the Court upheld
the enhanced power of the ICC in setting
rates and largely withdrew from judicial
review of railroad charges.®

Moreover, the Supreme Court ruled that
railroads could be required to bear the
expense of altering existing structures to
serve the public convenience. In 1906, the
Justices determined that a state, as part of a
drainage project, could compel a railroad to
remove an existing bridge over a creek and
erect a new bridge with an enlarged opening
at its own expense. Brushing aside an
argument that this mandate constituted a
taking of property, they concluded that the
cost of rebuilding was merely an incidental
injury resulting from exercise of the police
power.”® Dissenting alone, Justice David J.
Brewer focused on the importance of
the property rights issues raised by the
drainage act. Stressing that railroads were
private property, he sharply questioned
whether the drainage project served the
public health and safety or only conferred a
benefit on the owners of adjacent farms.
Skeptical about the open-ended invocation of
the police power, Brewer declared, “It seems
to me that the police power has become the
refuge of every grievous wrong upon private
property . . . But no exercise of the police
power can disregard the constitutional guar-
anties in respect to the taking of private
property . . "' His affirmation of the

constitutional rights of property owners,
however, did not carry the day.

Nor did the Supreme Court view
claimed interference with property rights as
an impediment to congressional intervention
in a railway labor dispute. Anxious to
forestall a strike in 1916, Congress enacted
the Adamson Act mandating an eight-hour
day instead of the ten-hour day standard for
employees who operated trains. The effect
was that overtime compensation would now
be computed after eight hours of work,
resulting in substantial cost to the carriers.””
A sharply divided Supreme Court sustained
the validity of the measure in Wilson v. New
(1917). The majority gave little attention to
property-related issues and held that Con-
gress, under the commerce power, was
empowered in an emergency to resolve a
wage dispute. In contrast, the four dissenters’
several opinions squarely addressed the
question of property rights. First, they found
the Adamson Act unconstitutional as a
deprivation of railroad property without due
process of law. As Justice William R. Day
explained, “Such legislation, it seems to me,
amounts to the taking of the property of
one and giving it to another, in violation of
the spirit of fair play and equal right which
the Constitution intended to secure in the due
process clause to all coming within its
protection . . .”’* Second, the dissenters
strongly denied that a purported emergency
could justify a violation of constitutional
rights.

Property Rights and the Progressive
Legacy

As contemporary commentators perceived,
the Progressives urged an all-encompassing
conception of the police power. In his 1904
treatise, prominent scholar Ernst Freund char-
acterized the police power as “the power of
promoting the public welfare by restraining and
regulating the use of liberty and property.” He
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added that experience “will reveal the police
power not as a fixed quantity, but as the
expression of social, economic and political
conditions. As long as these conditions vary, the
police power must continue to be elastic, i.e.,
capable of development.”” In short, to Pro-
gressives the police power functioned as a sort
of talisman that could trump constitutional
provisions.

The implications for the rights of
property owners of this open-ended reading
of the police power was not lost on
observers. George W. Wickersham, former
Attorney General, complained in 1914:

But the pressure is very great on the
part of social reformers to compel
legislation which transcends consti-
tutional restrictions, and seeks jus-
tification under the elastic bound-
aries of the police power, and any
interference with their programs by
decisions of courts based upon
constitutional limitations
ceived by them with impatience,
and provokes them to intemperate
attacks on the judges and the
exercise of the judicial function
just described.”®

1S re-

As we have seen, the Supreme Court,
consistent with Progressive ideology, was
broadly receptive to an open-ended defini-
tion of the police power and in effect
allowed it virtually to devour the constitu-
tional guarantees of property and contract.
When coupled with the penchant of the
Court to readily accept declarations of
emergency, the scope of the police power
became almost boundless.

Myth of a Property-Protective Supreme
Court

The legend of a Supreme Court aggres-
sively bent on the protection of property

rights during the Progressive Era is badly
exaggerated. As this review of the record has
demonstrated, statutes restrictive of property
were repeatedly upheld. Only rarely did the
rights of owners prevail and bar Progressive
legislation. In 1913, Charles Warren recog-
nized the falsity of “the supposed tendency of
the National Supreme Court to invalidate by
its decisions the liberal and progressive State
legislation of the day.” Noting that the
Progressive Era witnessed an outpouring of
economic and social legislation, he con-
cluded, “The National Supreme Court, so
far from being reactionary, has been steady
and consistent in upholding all State legisla-
tion of a progressive type.”’’ Elihu Root
expressed similar sentiments in 1913. De-
claring that contracts and private property
were subject to the police power, he observed,
“By a multitude of judicial decisions in recent
years our courts have sustained the exercise
of this vast and progressive power in dealing
with the new conditions of life under a great
variety of circumstances.”’®

How, then, can we explain the hostility
toward the Supreme Court on the part of
Progressives? This hostility seems to rest
upon a handful of Court decisions dealing
with workplace regulations and attempted
congressional control of child labor.”” The
ruling in Lochner v. New York (1905) was,
both then and later, paraded as a sort of béte
noir.®® As early as 1913, Warren noted the
tendency to stigmatize this decision.®!
Lochner has received some significant re-
visionist treatment in recent years,*? but that
famous case is not addressed here because it
has been considered at length in a vast
literature and warrants separate treatment.
Still, it should be noted that the Lochner
ruling was atypical and the Supreme Court
only rarely invoked the liberty of contract
doctrine.®? Further, the Supreme Court
readily affirmed state child labor laws,
rejecting due process challenges.® It drew
the line at federal regulation of what had
traditionally been a matter for the states. For
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our purposes, however, the key point is that
the Court’s workplace and child labor
decisions were not grounded on the property
rights guarantees of the Constitution but
instead on the liberty of contract doctrine
and the scope of congressional authority
under the Commerce Clause. Even with
respect to employment relationships, more-
over, the dire picture presented by the
Progressives is simply inaccurate because
the Supreme Court in fact upheld significant
workplace regulations.®

This survey of the Supreme Court’s
handling of property-related issues calls into
question the conventional narrative of a
judicial roadblock hampering the Progres-
sive agenda. Again, Wickersham is instruc-
tive. He lamented that “a more candid
criticism might suggest that that great
tribunal in common with other courts had
yielded somewhat unduly to public criticism
in giving effect to legislation, which, how-
ever desirable from the standpoint of social
reform, yet involves a measurable encroach-
ment upon some of those individual rights to
secure which the Fourteenth Amendment
was adopted.” Indeed, historians might
fruitfully explore why the Supreme Court
did so little to vindicate the constitutional
guarantees of property during the Progres-
sive Era. The comments made here do
challenge much of the prevailing wisdom,
but it is hoped that they might serve as a
catalyst for a reconsideration of the work of
the Supreme Court in this pivotal era of our
constitutional past.

Author’s Note: This article is an ex-
panded version of a lecture delivered at the
Supreme Court Historical Society on No-
vember 2, 2016. I want to thank David E.
Bernstein, Jon W. Bruce, Robert Faulkner,
Paul Kens, and Polly J. Price for helpful
comments on an earlier version of these
remarks. I am also grateful to Katie
Hanschke of the Massey Law Library of
Vanderbilt University for her skillful re-
search assistance.
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Answering the Call: Leaving the
Bench to Serve the President—
James F. Byrnes and Franklin D.
Roosevelt, 1932-1945

SIDNEY M. MILKIS AND NICHOLAS F. JACOBS

Perhaps no President in American
history has figured so prominently in the
development of constitutional democracy as
did Franklin D. Roosevelt. At no point in the
country’s history did its leaders grapple with
challenges more profound than those faced
during the 1930s and 1940s, as they sought
to come to terms with the disruptive effects
of industrialization, mass migration, and the
rise of totalitarian-populism overseas. Given
the ambitious reform program he envisioned,
Roosevelt could not have acted alone. There
was his “Brains Trust”—the group of university
professors who formulated some of the most
revolutionary schemes to revive the nation’s
economy. There were Roosevelt’s famed
administrators—Harry Hopkins as the chief
engineer of the Works Progress Administration;
Harold Ickes as the relief coordinator for the
Public Works Administration; Frances Perkins,

the first woman ever to serve as a Cabinet
Secretary, and who used her office to
secure the rights of organized labor; and, of
course, the indomitable First Lady Eleanor
(the White House’s gadfly in its reluctance to
take on the most controversial liberal causes,
especially civil rights). These and other stalwart
New Dealers were critical FDR allies in
constructing a liberal Democratic Party and
forging an executive-centered administrative
state that would make the aspirations of its
partisan objectives possible.

However, only one New Dealer worked
as diligently, persevered for so long, and
remained so committed to the success of
Roosevelt’s “revolution,” as he routinely
referred to the New Deal: James Francis
Byrnes. Only he was bedizened by Roosevelt
as “The Assistant President.”” Byrnes and
FDR were an odd couple: Roosevelt, the
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New York patrician who relished the ex-
ercise of power, and Byrnes, raised in South
Carolina by his widowed mother—a hard-
working dressmaker of such modest means
that her son dropped out of school at
fourteen to seek gainful employment—who
styled himself an honest broker, rather than a
first mover, of government action. Yet, in
spite of their economic and cultural differ-
ences—or perhaps because they so well
complemented each other—Byrnes and
Roosevelt formed a relationship that,
although largely forgotten today, is of
immense importance for understanding the
scope of New Deal reform at home and the
eventual triumph of American liberalism
abroad. Their partnership and genuinely
warm friendship also personifies the
extraordinary tension within New Deal
liberalism—a conflict between its nationalist
aspirations and a reverence for America’s
constitutional legacy that still animates our
political travails today.

Roosevelt—the President of the United
States who audaciously broke the two-term
tradition set by George Washington and
served for just over twelve years—was the
center of American life around which the
fundamental political controversies of the
1930s and 1940s swarmed. Byrnes remained
behind the scenes yet omnipresent—serving
three branches of the federal
government while Roosevelt was President.
A first-term junior Senator from South
Carolina at the birth of the New Deal, he
rose to become one of the most important
leaders in steering key reform legislation
through a fractious Congress. In 1941, he
moved to the Supreme Court and, aithough
his tenure on the bench was a brief 452 days
(only one other Justice in American history,
Thomas Johnson, has spent less time on the
Court), he wrote several important opinions
during his brief stint that helped codify the
new constitutional order.' But Byrnes’ most
important duty occurred in the wake of Pearl
Harbor, which pulled America into the

in all

Second World War just three months into
his tenure on the Court. After months of
informally advising the President and the
Attorney General on the most important
matters related to economic mobilization for
total war, Justice Byrnes left the Court to
serve officially in the administration:
first as Director of Economic Stabilization
and then as Director of War Mobilization,
both positions having been intentionally
created to take advantage of Bymes’ rare
combination of savvy politician and astute
legal mind.

FDR’s and Byrnes’ fruitful partnership
was so strong because, as different as they
were, they shared the view that the New Deal
represented a new understanding of the
social contract—one that required the
national government to assume new respon-
sibilities at home and abroad. FDR gave
voice to this new understanding of rights in
his iconic State of the Union message of
1941. Traditional freedoms like speech and
religion, he argued, needed to be supple-
mented by two new rights: “freedom from
want” and “freedom from fear.”* These new
freedoms, representing for all intents and
purposes the charter of the modern American
state, were given institutional form by the
welfare and national security states. Im-
bedded in a modern executive office and a
growing national bureaucracy during the
presidencies of Roosevelt and Truman, these
pillars of the New Deal political order
transcended partisanship. The New Deal
state was embraced by Democrats and
Republicans alike in the aftermath of World
War II. President Dwight D. Eisenhower, the
first Republican elected after the New Deal,
bestowed bipartisan legitimacy on the liberal
political order. Two years after his 1952
campaign victory, with bipartisan coopera-
tion, he pushed through Congress an expan-
sion of Social Security. The popular “Ike”
also sustained Roosevelt’s and Truman’s
commitment to liberal internationalism, the
view that America and her allies (particularly
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in the North Atlantic Treaty Organization)
could be—must be—a force for good in the
world.

Yet this partisan consensus eventually
unraveled, in large part due to the emergence
of civil rights as a contentious, riveting
drama during the 1950s. When Byrnes
resigned as Truman’s Secretary of State in
January 1947, he returned to his home in
South Carolina to become a vociferous critic
of the President and the Democratic Party.
Elected as Governor in 1950, he became a
leader of the massive resistance to the Brown
v. Board of Education decision, which saw a
unanimous Supreme Court denounce the
invidious myth that separate could be equal.
Byrmes not only joined most other Southern
governors in lambasting the decision, he also
became a leading architect of the Southern
Strategy the Nixon Administration pursued
to realign partisan politics below the Mason-
Dixon Line. Having abandoned the New
Deal Democratic Party he had so diligently
worked to build, Byrnes supported Repub-
lican presidential candidates until his death
on April 9, 1972.

It is only by taking stock of this
momentous time in history that we can
begin to make sense of this special relation-
ship between Byrnes and Roosevelt, a
critical but uneasy partnership that illus-
trates both the great potential and stifling
limits of progressive reform in twentieth
and twenty-first century America. Viewing
history through the lens of this alliance
sheds important light on the effort of a
President and his assistant president to meet
the profound challenges of economic cata-
strophe and the rise of totalitarianism in
Europe. And it leaves us with a new vantage
point to better grasp the causes of our
present political discontents: to understand
how a transformed Democratic Party almost
succeeded in forging a new national com-
munity, but in the end, tragically failed to
make the South an enduring partner in the
New Deal political order.

A Junior Senator Becomes a President’s
Trusted Ally

Byrnes was such a critical ally to
Roosevelt because in Congress, the Court,
and the executive branch he provided a
critical link between the White House and
the bloc of impregnable Southern Democrats
who posed the greatest opposition to the
New Deal. As Thomas Stokes, the Pulitzer
Prize—winning journalist from Georgia,
wrote, Southern Democracy (dedicated to
the states rights philosophy of Jefferson) was
the “ball and chain which hobbled the
Party’s forward march.”’ Among the few
Southerners who supported the New Deal
through thick and thin, Byrnes was the
President’s most important ally in his
determination to keep the South in the fold
of a transformed, reimagined nation. Further-
more, Byrnes’ pragmatism—his willingness
to support what Roosevelt dubbed “bold
persistent experimentation”—expressed the
President’s hope that the New Deal might
forge a transformed coalition in the South
dedicated to economic security. Byrnes
shared Roosevelt’s belief that the New
Deal could work just as well for the share-
cropper in low country South Carolina or the
millworker in the state’s new boomtowns as
it could the urban factory worker. Both
hoped that this new politics would compete
with and then perhaps displace the virulent
racial conflict that long had dominated
democracy below the Mason-Dixon Line.
Central to Roosevelt’s New Deal Southern
strategy, Byrnes was a permanent fixture in
the White House during the early years of
FDR’s presidency, even spending Thanks-
giving with the President before his inaugu-
ration to advise on Cabinet appointments and
their prospects for Senate confirmation.”

Byrnes’ political savvy proved indis-
pensable to Roosevelt as the President
sought to bring the executive office closer
to the American people in a time of want
and desperation. During the first press
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conference of his administration, which
inaugurated the practice of inviting partici-
pation by all correspondents regardless of
their political posture toward the White
House, Roosevelt requested that Byrnes
attend and evaluate his performance. After
all the newspapermen had left, Roosevelt
asked him how he did. Byrnes, having
watched the President handle a cascade of
inquiries on a wide range of topics with
seeming aplomb, responded that “it was fine
for the reporters, but I fear the effect
[on you].” In this display of wit and policy
dexterity, Byrnes saw clearly that Roosevelt
intended to lead—to draw unprecedented
attention to the executive office. This ambi-
tion would give Roosevelt the unique
opportunity to “enlist support for his pro-
grams”; at the same time, Byrnes, seeing the
President’s hand trembling and his shirt
drenched in perspiration, recognized the
strain this enhanced responsibility would
place on Roosevelt and the hard challenges
he would face in laying the cornerstone of a
modern executive office.”

The strengthening of the presidency in
the face of the imposing domestic and
international issues the country confronted
bespeaks the special importance of the
Roosevelt-Byrnes alliance. The relationship
between FDR and Byrnes only grew stronger
and more essential to the preservation of the
New Deal during Roosevelt’s controversial
second term. Roosevelt’s first term was
dedicated to the enactment of programs like
Social Security and the Wagner Act (Labor’s
Magna Carta). These new programmatic
rights were the signature New Deal policies
that would secure freedom from want. In the
midst of terrible economic despair, these
innovations drew widespread support, even
among many recalcitrant Southern Demo-
crats. But Roosevelt pursued an institutional
program during his second term that cast a
brighter light on the constitutional transfor-
mation that he sought. Startling allies and
enemies alike, he pursued two highly

controversial measures that sharply divided
the Democratic Party and aroused cries that
he was a “dictator’—an indictment so
resonant that the President had to go on the
radio and formerly deny it. This program
included the Executive Reorganization Act,
announced in January 1937, and the “Court-
packing” plan, proposed just a few weeks
after the administrative reform program.

The plans to reorganize the federal
judiciary and executive branch were bold
efforts to increase the President’s personal
influence over a rapidly expanding national
government, one that laid greater claim to
promoting its citizens’ welfare. They marked
an effort to transform a decentralized polity,
dominated by localized parties and court
rulings that supported property and states’
rights, into a more centralized, bureaucratic
form of government that could deliver the
goods championed by the New Dealers.
Programmatic rights like Social Security
and collective bargaining, Roosevelt be-
lieved, would not amount to anything—
would not fulfill the freedom from want—
unless new institutional arrangements were
established to redistribute powers within the
government and permanently secure these
inside the federal
bureaucracy.® Moreover, as early as 1937,
Roosevelt anticipated that it would be
impossible to stay out of the battles erupting
in Europe and Asia: as he told Byrnes, the
rise of fascism and imperialism, even more
than the challenge posed by the Great
Depression, required the strengthening of
executive power—to give it the capacity to
protect the freedom from fear.

Byrnes had serious reservations about
Roosevelt’s institutional reform program.
He was an adamant defender of Congress
and its constitutional prerogatives, which

new commitments

Roosevelt’s commitment to executive
dominion threatened. When reflecting on
his long career in politics, he most fondly
remembered his time in the Senate—a place
where “there was independence of action,
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and there was the pleasure of competing with
men who displayed good sportsmanship, and
whose friendships enriched my life.” Coin-
cidently, his office was the former robing
room of the Old Supreme Court chamber in
the Capitol. He loved this place, one of the
perks that came with being a committee
chairman. His memoirs detailed the fine
historical eccentricities that decorated his
legislative domain, especially the old White
House chandeliers and the painting that hung
on his wall of Henry Laurens, a South
Carolinian and the only American ever to be
imprisoned in the Tower of London.” Byrnes
even enjoyed the chore of responding to
constituent letters, taking the time to draft
lengthy responses to inquiries whether they
came from mayors of South Carolina towns
or factory workers in the textile mills. When
he joined the Supreme Court, he had to
confess dutifully that it was inappropriate for
a Justice to interfere with the same matters as
he did when he was a Senator. Yet, taking
advantage of the knowledge he had gained on
the front lines of legislative oversight, Byrnes
usually made sure to point his fellow South
Carolinian to the appropriate source of
influence deep inside the federal bureaucracy.

Despite his love of congressional poli-
tics and its traditions, Byrnes nevertheless
shared Roosevelt’s belief that the national
government needed to be strengthened, lest
the United States fall prey to a more radical
solution to the crises at home and abroad.
The first true test of the Roosevelt-Byrnes
alliance developed during FDR’s ill-fated
Court-packing plan in the spring and summer
of 1937. Almost all of Bymes’ fellow
Southern and border state Senators, as well
as many very vocal South Carolina consti-
tuents, viewed the Court as Horatio at the
Bridge—the final line of defense against
the rising tide of national statism. Significantly,
the two Supreme Court decisions that
enraged Roosevelt the most—handed down
on May 27, 1935, soon known to New Dealers
as “Black Monday”—were Humphrey’s

Executor v. United States® and Schechter
Poultry Company v. United States,” both of
which imposed constraints on the President’s
personal power. Bymes was not the only
Southern congressman to support Roosevelt
during the Court-packing ordeal, but the
esteemed Senator from the front lines of
opposition to the New Deal was the most
important.

In fact, FDR chose Byrnes to give a
nationally broadcast speech to defend the
Court-packing plain against the fierce attack
of his close friend, the unreconstructed
opponent of the New Deal, Virginia’'s
Senator Carter Glass. For Glass and other
influential Southern and border-state Sena-
tors, such as Josiah Bailey of North Carolina,
Harry Byrd of Virginia, and Millard Tydings
of Maryland, the Court-packing plan ex-
posed the President’s dangerous centralizing
ambitions that threatened not only judicial
independence but also the constitutional
prerogatives of Congress. The South, as the
vanguard of a ‘“‘conservative manifesto”
proclaimed in 1937, was largely united in
seeking to “restore to Congress its proper
responsibilities in making laws and enun-
ciating policies for the country.”'® Southern
resistance to legislation that would result in a
more liberal Supreme Court, which propo-
nents and adversaries alike anticipated would
issue decisions more favorable to African
Americans in civil rights litigation, placed
Byrnes squarely in opposition to powerful
political strains in his home state. The entire
Supreme Court of South Carolina wrote
directly to Byrnes in opposition to the
President’s plan. And, as a testament to
how public and rancorous the Court-packing
issue became, a missive arrived shortly
thereafter at Byrnes’” Washington office that
was an ominous reminder of local politics
back home: a single sheet of paper dis-
playing an image of the Hooded White
Knight of the KKK, with the red boldfaced
words, “Hand’s Off the Supreme Court,”
written underneath a watchful eye.'’
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Senator James F. Byrnes received this ominous missive from a constituent in South Carolina in 1937 after he
announced his support for Franklin D. Roosevelt's proposal to enlarge the Supreme Court.

Despite the political pressure to oppose
Roosevelt's controversial second-term initia-
tives, Byrnes remained committed to the
institutional bulwarks of New Deal liber-
alism. Roosevelt argued that the Court had to
be transformed to restore effective govern-
ment in the face of aggressive totalitarian
forces in Europe—at a time when represen-
tative democracies were widely thought to be
weak and incompetent as compared to
assertive regimes led by new dictators.
Echoing the President, Byrnes argued that
court “reorganization” was indispensable to
the preservation of representative constitu-

tional government. “The real dangers of
dictatorship will not come from the most
democratic President we have ever had,”
Byrnes argued:

Nor will they come from younger
men on the Federal courts. The real
dangers of dictatorship will come
from Justices who forget the
warning of Chief Justice Marshall
that the Constitution should be
"adapted to the various crises in
human affairs." They will come
from those lawyers, who, jealous
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and fearful of the loss of prestige of
their profession, want us to post-
pone social justice for years while
they strive to block it forever. They
will come from those who are blind
to the fact that at this stage of world
history time is of the essence, and
that the difference between keeping
faith with the people in 1937 and
hoping to keep faith with them in
future years may be the difference
between a triumphant democracy,
which works, and a disillusioned
democracy, which fails.'?

Although the Court-packing bill died in
Congress, Roosevelt claimed that the highly
contested initiative did its work. By April
1937, the Supreme Court began to uphold
the constitutionality of important New Deal
legislation. “A switch in time saves nine,”
was the by word of relieved congressional
Democrats who viewed the pivot of As-
sociate Justice Owen J. Roberts from the
conservative to the liberal side of the Court a
prudential strategy that would defuse the
constitutional crisis. There is considerable
scholarly dispute about whether Roosevelt’s
assault on the Judiciary influenced Roberts;
but there is no gainsaying that in rapid
succession the Justices approved a minimum
wage law in Washington state very similar to
a New York statute they had found uncon-
stitutional just a year earlier and, more
significantly, upheld both the Wagner Labor
Relations Act and the Social Security Act. “I
know not what effect the Wagner decision
will have on the court plan,” Byrnes told
reporters, “but it seems that the court plan
already had some effect on the Court.”"?

With the Court’s apparent acceptance of
the New Deal interpretation of the Constitu-
tion, Byrnes thought Roosevelt had little
reason to continue his fight, especially after
one of the President’s nemeses, Associate
Justice Willis Van Devanter,
his retirement in May. As Bymes asked

announced

Roosevelt, “why run for a train after you’ve
caught it?”'* But recalling the Court’s 9-0
decision in the Schechter decision, Roosevelt
believed that he still needed at least a
modified version of the plan, which would
allow him to appoint two or three Justices, to
secure a majority that would accept the
constitutionality of the New Deal state. “The
unanimity of the Court,” Barry Karl ob-
served about the judiciary’s firm rejection of
the administrative discretion Congress
granted the President to deal with the
economic crisis, “properly emphasized the
singularity of the issue among the many
divided opinions of the opposition between
the Court and the New Deal.”'”

It is a testament to the strength of the
Byrnes-Roosevelt relationship that neither
bore the scars of a protracted and bitter fight.
Byrnes was frustrated by Roosevelt’s refusal
to declare victory and withdraw the highly
contentious bill. However, he continued to
support the President’s court-packing plan
through July, when the death of Democratic
majority leader, Joseph Robinson, who had
been promised a Supreme Court appointment
if he obtained Senate passage of a revised
court bill, effectively killed any hope that
Roosevelt’s plan would ever pass the Con-
gress. Nevertheless, starting with the retire-
ment of Van Devanter, Roosevelt was able to
appoint a total of eight new Justices to the
Supreme Court, thereby transforming the
judiciary into a critical partner of the New
Deal, and cementing the “Constitutional
Revolution of 1937.”

From the Senate to the Supreme Court

Roosevelt rewarded Byrnes™ stalwart
loyalty by making him one of those new
Justices in 1941, replacing conservative
stalwart James C. McReynolds. FDR knew
that appointing Byrnes would pay off a large
political debt and save Byrnes from facing a
possible difficult re-election in 1942. But,
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like his appointment of another Southern
Senator, Hugo Black, in 1937, Roosevelt’s
selection of Byrnes testified to his belief that
it was especially important to have loyal
allies below the Mason-Dixon Line. Many
ardent liberals urged FDR to forget about the
North-South alliance—first forged during the
1790s in the mating dance between Thomas
Jefferson and Aaron Burr—that underpinned
Democratic coalition. Yet
Roosevelt was hopeful that, with the help of
effective allies like Bymnes, the deep South
would support a liberalized Democratic
Party—and remain in the fold—even if it
celebrated Roosevelt rather than Jefferson as
its patron saint. Roosevelt and Bymes shared
the belief that conservative democracy in this
poorest part of the country was not an
economic conservatism but rather was firmly
established in reaction to the Populist

a national

movement at the end of the nineteenth century
and by the near-constant exploitation of racial
prejudice. As Bymes stated in a speech in
Charleston on August 8, 1936:

It is my opinion that for the last
twenty-five years, we have, in
South Carolina, in political discus-
sions, devoted too much time to
“likker [liquor] and nigger,” and too
little time to those matters that
vitally effect the welfare and happi-
ness of the men, women and
children of the state. In the heart
of each of us there are certain
prejudices. It is the duty of a good
man to endeavor to control and
subdue those prejudices; and I have
little respect for a man who knows
better, and for political gains, is
willing to appeal to that which is
worst in men, rather than that which
is best in men.'®

During his short stay on the Court,
Justice Byrnes showed that this was not
merely rhetorical flourish. He vindicated

FDR’s faith that the New Deal could hold
the North and South together—and that
eventually New Dealers could build a
national state dedicated to extending the
new constitutional order and overwhelm the
stubborn tumor of racial prejudice. Byres
did not have as substantial an influence on
the Court as did Black, but two of his
important majority opinions supported
Roosevelt’s reformist aspirations.

In Edwards v. California, Byrnes upheld
the rights of individuals to travel freely
from one state to another.!” As poignantly
depicted in John Steinbeck’s The Grapes of
Wrath, during the Great Depression,
California treated desperate migrants,
many of them victims of the Dust Bowl,
harshly. A prime example of California’s
hospitality was the so-called “Okie Law,”
which made it a misdemeanor to bring into
California "any indigent person who is not a
resident of the State, knowing him to be an
indigent person.”'® In pursuance of this
statute, California prosecuted as a criminal
offense attempts by its residents to bring
unemployed relatives or acquaintances to
live with them if the residents were unable to
provide for the migrants’ cost of living. The
law was a deliberate attempt by the
California government to reduce its relief
roles, even though the federal government
provided much of the social welfare benefits
that indigent Californians received. Edwards
was a Californian who had driven to
Texas and returned with his unemployed
brother-in-law. He was tried, convicted and
given a six-month suspended sentence.

Departing from the advocacy of states’
rights and opposition to an expansive welfare
state, to which most of his Southern brethren
adhered, Byrnes, in his first majority opi-
nion, declared the California law unconstitu-
tional. He argued that the Interstate Com-
merce Clause of the Constitution guaranteed
individual men and women the right to move
freely from one state to another. More to the
point, Byrnes tied this broad defense of
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President Roosevelt chose Senator Byrnes to give a nationally broadcast speech to defend his Court-packing plan
against attacks by other Southern senators who felt the President's plan threatened not only judicial
independence but also the constitutional prerogatives of Congress. While Byrnes was not the only Southern
Senator to back FDR's initiative, he was probably the most powerful. This cartoon shows FDR asking Congress to

allow him to add up to six new justices under the plan.

the Commerce Clause to the New Deal’s
reinterpretation of the social contract.
Pushing back against California’s argument
that economic relief was purely a local affair,
Byrnes, taking note that the plaintiff had
been supported by the New Deal relief
agencies, wrote in a revealing obiter dicta:

The nature and extent of [Califor-
nia’s] obligation to afford relief to
newcomers is not here involved.
We do, however, suggest that the
theory of the Elizabethan poor laws
no longer fits the facts. Recent
years, and particularly the past
decade, have been marked by a
growing recognition that, in an
industrial society, the task of pro-
viding assistance to the needy has
ceased to be local in character. The
duty to share the burden, if not

wholly to assume it, has been
recognized not only by State gov-
ernments, but by the Federal gov-
ernment, as well.'’

Byrnes also wrote a majority opinion
that dovetailed with the work of the Fair
Employment Practices Committee, which
Roosevelt had created in 1941 to address
racial injustice in the defense industry and
the criminal justice system. In Ward v. Texas,
decided in 1942, police in Texas had taken an
accused African American, William Ward,
from the church he was attending in the
county where a white man had been
murdered. Handcuffing the defendant and
moving him without a warrant, police carried
Ward more than a hundred miles, over a
period of three days, to a series of Texas
jails, ostensibly to protect him from pursuing
lynch mobs. Such good intentions, however,



80 JOURNAL OF SUPREME COURT HISTORY

were suspect, given that, during this odyssey,
Ward was deprived of sleep and allegedly
tortured until he confessed—an admission of
guilt that led a jury to convict him of murder.
Byrnes wrote for the Court, which reversed
the murder conviction on the grounds that
moving “an ignorant Negro by night and day
to strange towns and telling him of threats of
mob violence and questioning him continu-
ously” had resulted in an “inadmissible
The use of such a forced
confession, Byrnes concluded, “is a denial
of the due process and the judgment of the
conviction must be reversed.”*"

The term “ignorant Negro” grates, a sign
that Byrnes—and the Court—still held a
patronizing attitude toward African Americans.
But Byrnes’ decisions on civil rights, which
included a concurring vote in a case finding an
all-white grand jury to be prima facie evidence
of racial discrimination against a black
defendant, appeared to support FDR’s belief
that the Court’s insulation from South Carolina
politics—so rooted in race—would free his
valued ally to confirm his commitment to the
New Deal ambition to foster a new sense of
national community.?'

Byrnes’ brief stint on the Supreme Court

confession.”

was important, but in truth, he was never at
home in this chamber, perhaps seen in that
only eleven pages, of the over 400 pages in
his memoir, are devoted to his time on the
bench. Unlike Hugo Black, another self-
made lawyer who passed the bar without
going to college or law school, Byrnes did
not participate actively in the formulation of
a new interpretation of the nation’s legal
doctrine. Throughout his brief tenure, Byrnes
was more dedicated to the broader constitu-
tional issue raised by the New Deal: how
America could accept the authority of a
national state and still stay true to its deep-
rooted commitment to individualism and
regional diversity. Preoccupied with that
challenge, which was made all the more
important with the approach of war, Byrnes
wrote few opinions (he never wrote a

concurring one), seldom participated ac-
tively in the discussion of cases in Con-
ference, and was impatient with—indeed
alienated from—judicial procedures that
were so far removed from the hurly-burly
of politics that he had mastered.

To be sure, Byrnes found his colleagues
convivial. “Contrary to popular impression,”
Byrnes wrote in his memoirs, “justices are
very human, and during my service, at least,
they were very sociable.”** Moreover, he
believed that someone of his background
could make an important contribution to a
judicial system increasingly faced with the
task of making legal sense of a modern state
and its expanding and complex body of
programs and policies. As an ever-increasing
amount of the Court’s work involved inter-
preting congressional statutes, Byrnes ar-
gued, “When the language of a statute is
such as to create doubt as to the intent of the
law-making body, it seems to me a knowl-
edge of the mechanics of legislation should
be helpful.”** Nonetheless, he fretted that an
individual who served on the bench for years
“necessarily becomes, to a degree, isolated
from the people.”* When the Mississippi
born reporter, Turner Catledge of the New
York Times, paid him a social visit at his
Supreme Court chambers, Byrnes urged him
to stay longer than the journalist—sensitive
to a judge’s busy schedule—thought appro-
priate. Yet Byrnes urged him to stay a while
—admitting: “I get so damn lonely here.”*

From the Supreme Court to the White
House

Roosevelt also experienced a strong
sense of loss when his hitherto constant
political companion entered the Court. Yet,
Byrnes’ leave of absence from political
matters was short lived. In fact, part of his
isolation in chambers was due to his
“answering the president’s call” to help
with the war effort. With the formal
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Two days after the Japanese attack on Pearl Harbor, FDR called Associate Justice Byrnes to the White House to
ask him to lend his legislative expertise in shaping the laws and executive orders that would mobilize the
government and economy for total war. After months of unofficially assisting the chief executive, Byrnes resigned
from the Supreme Court on October 5, 1942 to hecome director of the Office of Economic Stabilization. FDR
created the agency for Byrnes (pictured), who led the task of arbitrating the near constant government infighting
over program jurisdiction and the distribution of resources between civilian and military production.

declaration of war in December 1941, it is
not at all surprising that Roosevelt came
calling on the sitting Justice. The impending
war would stress the capacity of presidential
government, just as it had for previous
executives. And, just as he had been at the
vanguard of Court reform, so Byrnes had
been essential to modernizing the presiden-
tial office. Indeed, few knew the inner
mechanics of modern administration better,
because few had such a hand in crafting
them. Administrative reform—embodied by
the 1937 executive reorganization bill—was,
as Roosevelt put it, at the “heart” of the New
Deal’s constitutional re-founding. Enacted
only after a bitter two-year struggle in
Congress, the 1939 Executive Reorganiza-
tion Act created the Executive Office of the
President, which included the newly formed
White House Office (the West Wing)
and a strengthened and refurbished Bureau
of the Budget. The administrative reform law
also strengthened the Chief Executive’s
control over what was becoming a maze of

departments and agencies. Transforming
what had been a modest office into an
institution, administrative reform gave the
President the power and support staff to truly
become the Constitution’s national office, an
office capable of fulfilling the promise of the
New Deal to provide security at home and
abroad.

Byrnes helped to imagine and reify
Roosevelt’s vision of an executive-cen-
tered administrative state that would be
accountable to, but not dominated by,
Congress. Ever sensitive to the “conser-
vative” aspect of the New Deal revolution,
he drafted a lengthy history of adminis-
trative organization that contributed to
Roosevelt’s argument that an energetic
and independent presidency would renew
and enlarge rather than destroy the Amer-
ican Constitutional tradition. In spirit, if
not in name, he tapped into Alexander
Hamilton’s claim that Presidents should
pursue “extensive and arduous enterprises
for the public benefit.”?®
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The Hamiltonian executive forged by
the Byrnes-FDR partnership was firmly
established as an essential feature of
American constitutional government during
World War II. Franklin Roosevelt called
Byrnes to the White House two days after
the Japanese attack on Pear] Harbor, hoping
the Associate Justice would give him the
benefit of his legislative expertise in shaping
the laws and executive orders that would
mobilize the government and economy for
total war. Bymes had just written his first
Court opinion, but after the White House
called on him to assist in the war effort,
he devoted every available minute to the
“extracurricular activities” of his justiceship,
as he called them. The relationship between
the President and the Justice marked the sort
of rare partnership that James Madison, at
the time of the writing of the Constitution,
hoped would become a regular feature of
American constitutional government. Byrnes
not only had the constitutional acumen from
years of service in the U.S. Congress, but
now as an Associate Justice, he was
particularly well-suited to advise the admin-
istration on the constitutionality of proposed
administrative actions. Roosevelt’s Attorney
General, Francis Biddle, was in constant
communication with Byrnes throughout
December 1941 and the following January.
Their task was to weed out all “serious
interferences with our war effort” and to
strengthen the executive’s control of the
federal apparatus. Indeed, Roosevelt insisted
that all persons proposing new executive
powers or the reorganization of different
departments had first to “talk to Jimmy
Byrnes and Francis Biddle about it.”?’
Roosevelt even gave Justice Byrnes final
approval on the wording, legal rationale, and
message to Congress explaining an executive
order on wage freezes. But most important to
the administration was Byrnes’ active in-
volvement in getting the set of War Powers
Acts through the Congress. Here Justice
Byrnes responded just as Senator Byrnes

would have: telephoning Senators and House
leaders, whipping votes, and taking pleasure
that the bills “passed Congress in record
time.”*®

After months of unofficially assisting
the Chief Executive, Byrnes resigned from
the Supreme Court on October 5, 1942,
writing each of his “dear Brethren” that
“only a sense of duty impelled me to resign
from the Court.”? Using the power granted
by the 1939 Executive Reorganization Act,
Roosevelt created a new agency designed
for and by Justice Byrnes: the Office of
Economic Stabilization. As director of this
agency, Byrnes assumed the task of
arbitrating the near constant government
infighting over program jurisdiction and the
distribution of resources between civilian
and military production, all of which
threatened to hamstring the administra-
While Roosevelt
was dedicated to the art of diplomacy in
his dealings with Churchill and Stalin, and
the art of war in liberating North Africa,
and then Europe, he needed the impartial
leadership only a former Justice could
provide. It was more than a courtesy
owed to a former member of the Supreme
Court that the memoranda that poured into
Byrnes’ small White House office always
were addressed to the “Justice.” As Roose-
velt put it to Byrnes, “In these jurisdictional
disputes, I want you to act as a judge and I
will let it be known that your decision is my
decision, and that there is no appeal. For all
practical purposes you will be assistant
President.” **

tion’s wartime efforts.

As his title foretold, Byrnes commanded
an extraordinary amount of power to oversee
the nation’s economy. The New York Times
labeled him “Our No. 1 Stabilizer,” while the
liberal newspaper, PM, celebrated this
Southerner as “America’s No. | Inflation-
Stopper.” “He simply went to work,” the
papers reported, “He did not make a radio
speech or pose for pictures”; “No one has
taken a job in the war machine with less
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fanfare.”' Byrnes” willingness to operate

behind the scenes, his attention to detail, and
his mastery of both administrative and
parliamentary procedure helped the federal
government stabilize the nation’s economy.

Although Roosevelt had delegated pro-
digious authority to Byrnes, the assistant
president was in constant communication
with the President. Roosevelt was especially
dependent on the success of the controversial
war-time production policy that Byrnes
implemented—the President’s “Hold the
Line” order. As the name suggests, during
the war the overarching mission of every
federal agency was to prevent price increases
on the home front. This meant that wages
would hold constant, if defense
industries were ordered to work a
forty-eight-hour week or if unions had
negotiated annual increases; rationing would
continue to prevent the hoarding instincts of a
generation who lived through the Depression;
and prices for crops would be set by the
government, even if market demand allowed
farmers to charge more.™

The greatest challenge in enforcing Roo-
sevelt’s Hold the Line Order—the most
troublesome task in negotiating the tension
between Dr. New Deal and Dr. Win the War—
was the coal miner strikes of 1943 and 1944.
Led by the powerful and controversial head of
the United Mine Workers, John L. Lewis, the
strikes threatened to upend the President’s war
efforts and Bymes’ economic policies.” By the
end of April 1943, Bymes feared that the
United States might not have enough coal to
continue to fight a world war. At his urging,
President Roosevelt issued an executive order
on May 1, followed the next evening by a
powerful fireside chat, ordering the Interior
Department “to take possession and operate the
coal mines for the United States Government”
and to “call upon all miners who may have
abandoned their work to return immediately to
the mines and work for their Government.”**

A compromise agreement was even-
tually secured, but official and unofficial

even

strikes, including four general walkouts,
continued, at times involving over a half
million coal workers. Consequently, steel
output dropped and unrest over wage
demands spread to rubber and engineering
plants. The government’s battle with the
United Mine Workers and federal control of
many mines persisted well into 1944. During
this long struggle, Roosevelt relied on
Byrnes not only for his efforts to control
organized labor—a nettlesome but valued
political ally—but also to deal with the
mine owners, who deeply resented the
government’s operation of their property.
Caught in the middle of this contretemps,
Byrnes began to fear that his principal
role in enforcing wage and price controls
would hurt Roosevelt’s political standing,
especially with fabor. It did not help that he
hailed from the South, which was at the
forefront of opposition to an emerging
industrial labor movement. As a supporter
of the New Deal, Byrnes was relatively
sympathetic to workers’ rights. He had voted
for the Wagner Act and, while on the Court,
had written an opinion that circumscribed the
scope of the Anti-Racketeering Act of 1934,
a key initiative in the government’s efforts to
prevent strong-arm union tactics.” But his
long-standing opposition to sit-down strikes,
which were so central to labor’s triumphs in
the late 1930s, and the leading role he played
in enforcing FDR’s “Hold the Line” order
placed Byrnes in a vulnerable position.

A sign of how important the assistant
president was to Roosevelt is that the
President not only kept Byrnes in charge
of war mobilization, but he also increas-
ingly sought to draw on his valued partner’s
vast experience in foreign affairs. With the
support of Cabinet members like Harry
Hopkins and the Attorney General, Byrnes
sketched out a new role as Director of War
Mobilization, a position he officially as-
sumed on May 27, 1943. It is hard to
imagine that Byrnes’ charge in serving the
President could expand, but as Director of
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On May 27, 1943, FDR appointed Byrnes Director of War Mobilization, a newly created position in which he would
be at once responsible for controlling wartime wages and prices while simultaneously managing the nation’s
defense industries. On hehalf of the President, he oversaw the addition of $20 billion worth of industrial
investments to speed up production; the manufacture of nearly $64 hillion worth of armaments; the additional
employment of 18 million persons in war industries; and the exportation of $24 billion worth of goods to America’s

allies.

War Mobilization, he enjoyed a realm of
discretion unavailable to him when he was
brokering disputes between different de-
partment heads and competing economic
interests. Byrnes was now at once respon-
sible for controlling wartime wages and
prices while simultaneously managing the
nation’s defense industries. On behalf of the
President, he oversaw the addition of $20
billion worth of industrial investments to
speed up production; the manufacture of
nearly $64 billion worth of armaments; the
additional employment of eighteen million
persons in war industries; and the exporta-
tion of $24 billion worth of goods to
America’s allies.*®

Indeed, with Roosevelt increasingly
abroad in late 1943 and 1944, Byrnes in
effect became the Czar of the wartime
economy. Significantly, as an extra precau-
tion, the President before traveling out of the
country left Byrnes with “an interesting form
of blank check.” These were official papers,
signed by the President and locked in
Byrnes’
might be issued in case of emergency. If
such a grave situation arose, Byrnes, after
consultation with Roosevelt by cable, was to
unlock the safe and fill out the executive
order, calling for whatever actions he
thought necessary.”’

safe, on which executive orders

Byrnes’ lead role in mobilizing the
economy and the arsenal of democracy was
a dramatic success. However, this was not
the first time in modern history that the
American economy had successfully demon-
strated itself on the battlefield. Both Byrnes
and Roosevelt experienced the economic and
social convulsions at the end of the First World
War and they understood the challenge of
restoring some separation between state and
society, a barrier breached by the pressures of
total war. It was with the particularly difficult
problems of de-mobilization, or reconversion,
where the assistance of Bymes made the
greatest difference. Failure to maintain high
levels of employment as millions of men came
back to work, failure to keep prices stable when
the Army and Navy stopped buying goods, and
the “economic defeatism” that would no doubt
affect many returning veterans adjust to the
uncertain conditions of peace were challenges
that, as Bymes put it, created a “crossroads”
to “nobly gain or meanly lose the hope of
the world.”*®

With hindsight, we know how this story
ends: nearly twenty years of unparalleled
prosperity and the crystallization of New
Deal liberalism. But it was a fraught
transition that preoccupied the President
and his assistant president for the remainder
of Roosevelt’s life. The last memorandum
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Byrnes sent to Roosevelt, six days before the
President’s death, concerned the need to
avoid duplication in the federal govern-
ment’s planning obligations, a redundancy
Byrnes proposed to solve by making an
example of himself. Given the President’s
desire to bestow planning authority on the
Bureau of the Budget after the war, Byrnes
declared his intention to resign from the
administration.*® In returning to a peacetime
footing, in restoring a degree of separation
between government and business, these two
strange bedfellows confirmed that a strong
presidency, one that could provide for a
greater sense security at home and abroad,
need not become a dictatorship.

Conclusion: Byrnes, Roosevelt, and
Partisanship in Modern America

The Byrnes-Roosevelt partnership re-
vealed both the great strength of the New
Deal and a powerful fault line that eventually
fractured it. This odd coupling of two men
was so essential because Roosevelt’s con-
stitutional revolution might never have
gotten off the ground without an ally from
the South, which was ground zero of the
opposition to Roosevelt’s grand experiment
in forging a presidency-centered democracy.
Byrnes’ partnership with Roosevelt did not
prevent Southern resistance to his most
ambitious plans. But support by the highly
regarded Byrnes for the constitutional trans-
formation Roosevelt heralded—in particular
his support of the Constitutional Revolution
of 1937 and the Executive Reorganization
Act—went far to ensure that the New Deal
would not, like Lincoln’s Republican Party,
be confined to the North. Rather, the New
Deal was born and became part of America’s
living Constitution with, for a time, strong
multi-regional support—the embodiment of
a newly imagined national community.

The national scope of the New Deal was
especially important with the approach of

war. Southern Democrats, with deep-rooted
ties to Great Britain and great faith in an
assistant President who was a South
Carolinian, gave Roosevelt steadfast support
as he maneuvered an isolationist country
toward support of England in its desperate
hour, participation in World War II, and
plans to maintain a strong presence in world
affairs after the struggle with fascism in
Europe and imperialism in Asia ended. Just
as the North and West invested their faith in
Freedom from Want, so the South became a
bedrock of Freedom from Fear. Would a
partnership between Roosevelt and Felix
Frankfurter—clearly a competent and trusted
ally to the New Deal—have accomplished
this delicate joining of the two pillars of the
New Deal Charter? This is a counterfactual
worth pondering, one that offers insights into
the indispensable alliance between the
patrician and, as the Saturday Evening Post
described Byrnes, the “sly and able”
politician from the heart of the Confederacy.*”

Of course, the “Negro Question”—as
New Dealers described the obstinate practice
of racial segregation—was the serpent in the
New Deal Garden of Eden. Knowing this,
Roosevelt took pains to avoid a direct
confrontation with the race issue, even
maintaining a deafening silence as an anti-
lynching bill, which had been before Con-
gress since the beginning of his presidency,
was killed by a Senate filibuster in 1938. The
Fair Employment Practices Committee he
formed was a modest measure—one that
ultimately disappointed civil rights activists,
such as A. Philip Randolph, who pressured
Roosevelt to create the Committee as a sign
that the New Deal really could advance a
greater sense of security. In truth, FDR
shared Byrnes’ position that Jim Crow was a
problem “to be solved by the White people
of the South.”*' Roosevelt’s so-called 1938
purge campaign, which saw the President
interfere in several primary campaigns with
the objective of defeating Southern and border
state conservative Democrats, especially those
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Secretary of State Byrnes left the Truman administration in 1947 and returned to South Carolina to become
governor. He became a leader of the massive Southern resistance movement to civil rights reform and criticized
the Supreme Court’s Brown v. Board decision in an interview with U.S. News and World Report in 1956. He also
became a leading architect of the Southern Strategy the Nixon Administration pursued to realign partisan politics

below the Mason-Dixon Line.

who voted against the court-packing and
executive reorganization initiatives, showed
all too clearly that there would be strong
resistance below the Mason-Dixon Line to a
national effort to breach the color line.
Although he focused intently on economic
issues in that campaign, Roosevelt’s effort to
purge Byrnes’ South Carolina colleague,
“Cotton Ed” Smith, the sort of race-baiting
politician whom Byrnes scorned, brought, as
two journalists reported, “racial hatred to a
peak which had not been reached since the
palmiest days of Pitchfork Ben Tillman.”**

Seeing how intransigent was the tension
between his Northern and Southern flanks,
Roosevelt accepted the civil rights leaders’
veto of his desire to place the assistant
president on the ticket with him in 1944,
turning instead to the border-state moderate
Harry Truman. Deeply embittered by
Roosevelt’s spurning of his candidacy, made
worse when Truman so quickly ascended to
the White House, Byrnes had a troubled
relationship with the new President. He served
Truman well as Secretary of State for two
years, playing a key role in negotiating
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difficult deals with an expansionist Soviet
Union in the lead up to the Cold War. But
when Truman, pressured by a rising civil
rights movement, made the first important
assaults on the ramparts of Jim Crow, most
notably in integrating the armed services and
supporting an amicus curiae brief in the
Supreme Court in favor of the NAACP’s
suit against forced segregation in education,
Byrnes cut his ties with the President.

It was this extension of the New Deal to
civil rights, above all, that aroused Byrnes’
desire to return to South Carolina, a hotbed
of the fierce resistance to civil rights reform.
Four years into his term as governor, the
Supreme Court, in the landmark case of
Brown v. Board of Education, ordered the
end to the egregious “separate but equal”
doctrine that sustained white supremacy in
the South. Like many Southerners, Byrnes
lambasted the decision.*’ But he drew on his
experience as a former Justice of that Court,
to showcase its supposed folly. Sounding a
message that resembled more the idea of a
“concurrent majority” that his home state’s
fabled Senator John C. Calhoun prescribed
than FDR’s New Nationalism, Byrnes urged
the South to adhere to its states’ rights
doctrine and to abandon the Democratic
Party in presidential elections. When
Eisenhower won in 1952, Byrnes declared
it the South’s new “Independence Day” —
freed from the trappings of a wayward,
progressive Democratic Party.** Proudly pro-
claiming himself an “Independent Democrat,”
Bymes helped to groom a generation of
would-be segregationists and abandoned the
New Deal coalition he had long nurtured.*’

Byrnes’ final political act was to help
Richard Nixon and his political allies devise
a Southern strategy that encouraged the
growth of the Republican Party in the South.
With the erosion of the Democrats’ lock on
Southern politics, the party’s national
standing faltered and the extent of the New
Deal revolution waned. Officially spurning
the Democrats in 1960, Byrnes became a

senior Republican leader who in partnership
with Nixon achieved “in only eight years
what Republican leaders since Rutherford B.
Hayes in 1876 had desired: the retrenchment
of the Republican Party from a position of
racial issues more liberal than that of the
Democrats, and the rebuilding of the South
as a solid GOP electoral base.”®

The fulfillment of Byrnes’ ambition to
end the Democrat’s Southern monopoly
ultimately led to the dramatic political
realignment that pulled the modern execu-
tive into the vortex of a fierce partisan
struggle for the services of the executive-
centered national state—a state that he, as
Senator, Justice, and assistant president, had
played such a pivotal part in creating. Yet
amid this struggle, which has left the North
and South as estranged as these regions
have been since the Civil War, the institu-
tion of the modern presidency remains at
the center of the current political storm. All
elected Republican Presidents since the
cosmic crack-up of the New Deal state—
Nixon, Ronald Reagan, the Bushes, and
Donald Trump—have embraced the modern
presidency, even as they have sought to
redeploy it as a force for conservative
causes: wars against communism and ter-
rorism, law and order, and the protection of
“family values.” This is the ironic denoue-
ment of the highly consequential relation-
ship between Franklin Roosevelt and
Jimmy Byrnes. This is the political conun-
drum they left us to solve.

Author’s Note: The authors wish to
express their appreciation to James Cross,
the manuscript archivist in Clemson Uni-
versity’s Special Collection Library, who
patiently helped us navigate the James
Francis Byrnes Papers. We also want to
thank Brenda Burke, Head of Special
Collections, for her gracious hospitality as
we worked in the Clemson archives. Clare
Cushman and Stephen L. Wasby provided
excellent editorial counsel during the final
preparation of this article.
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Attorney General Robert H. Jackson
and President Franklin D. Roosevelt

I had the privilege to meet Leon
Silverman, in whose memory this lecture
series is named, through his longtime close
colleague and friend Judge Lawrence E.
Walsh,! who was my employer, mentor, and
friend. Mr. Silverman was a dedicated leader
of the Supreme Court Historical Society and
a giant of the private bar. In 1949, he joined
the law firm that in time became Fried,
Frank, Harris, Shriver & Jacobson, LLP, and
ultimately he became its chairman.

In addition to Judge Walsh, another
connection from Leon Silverman to this
lecture is the fact that one of his senior
colleagues and friends in his law firm was
Samuel Harris.? In 1945-1946, four years
before Silverman joined him in law practice,
then-Captain Sam Harris, of the Office of the
Judge Advocate General, United States
Army, was a junior but quite important
member of the U.S. team prosecuting Nazi
His boss
heading that team was Justice Robert H.
Jackson, who was away from his job as an
Associate Justice on the U.S. Supreme

. . 3
war criminals at Nuremberg.

JOHN Q. BARRETT

Court. Justice Jackson is, of course, part of
my focus in this lecture.

There are additional connections be-
tween past giants and this lecture. Another
luminary who became, in due course, a name
partner in Mr. Harris’s and Mr. Silverman’s
law firm was Sargent Shriver. He was a
brother-in-law of Robert F. Kennedy, who in
the late 1950s, after Justice Jackson’s life-
time, moved with Mrs. Kennedy and their
growing family into what had been Jackson’s
home in McLean, Virginia: Hickory Hill.
Indeed, a few years after that, Bob Kennedy
also moved into one of Bob Jackson’s
former government offices, the Office of
the Attorney General of the United States.

But T am getting ahead of myself. My
real starting point in this lecture is this
majestic Supreme Court building on two
specific dates in the life of Robert Jackson.
Although Franklin D. Roosevelt, the second
person who is a subject of this lecture, was
not present at the Court on either of the two
dates that I am about to describe, his
presence was felt on each.
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The first date was Thursday, October 13,
1932. Robert H. Jackson, then a lawyer
living in Jamestown in western New York
State, was in Washington, D.C., for the
Conference of Bar Association Delegates
and then the American Bar Association’s
annual meetings, held one after the other at
the Mayflower Hotel. Although Jackson was
only forty years old, he had been active and
risen high in local, state, regional, and
national bar association activities. At the
1932 meeting, he was an officer and a
program speaker at sessions of the Con-
ference of Bar Association Delegates (a
predecessor to today’s ABA House of
Delegates).”

On October 13, 1932, Jackson was,
assume, one of the many lawyers in
Washington for the Bar meetings who was
present outside this building, then under
construction. Chief Justice Hughes and most
of the Associate Justices were present. The
Chief Justice and Bar leader John W. Davis
each spoke. President Herbert Hoover
wielded the trowel as the cornerstone was
laid into place and secured with mortar.’

Given Jackson’s relative obscurity, I
suspect that he watched from a position quite
deep in the crowd. On this evening, as Game
Seven of the World Series is about to be
played, it seems appropriate to guess that
Jackson had what we would call a “Bob
Uecker seat” at the big event.®

On that date in October 1932, the idea that
Jackson, a young lawyer from western New
York State, would someday occupy a judicial
seat in this building would have been far-
fetched. I doubt that that daydream occurred
even in Jackson’s own mind, even though he
had great self-confidence and ambition. And
yet that came to pass, and in less than nine
years’ time. Among myriad reasons for that, a
key one, the necessary one constitutionally,
was the person who that day was in Albany,
New York: Franklin Delano Roosevelt, the
presidential nominee of the Democratic Party
who soon would defeat President Hoover.

The second date to consider in this story
is Monday, May 12, 1952. That was a
moment when President Roosevelt had been
gone for seven years, but he came intensely to
mind on that day, particularly to the mind of
Jackson, then completing his tenth year as an
Associate Justice. That day was one of two
days of oral argument in Youngstown Sheet &
Tube, et al. v. Sawyer, et al., the Steel Seizure
Cases. Steel companies were challenging the
constitutionality of President Harry Truman’s
seizure of private property, the nation’s steel
mills. The President had acted to seize and
run the steel mills because, in the absence of
government action, the steel companies were
not agreeing to steelworker wage demands,
mediation had failed, the workers were about
to go on strike, and that would cause the mills
to shut down and cease production. President
Truman concluded, in that moment when
steel production was vital to supplying U.S.
troops fighting in the Korean War (a hot war)
and to building more nuclear missiles than
was the U.S.S.R. (the Cold War), that he had
to seize the steel mills and keep them
producing steel to protect national security.’

On that day, the Solicitor General of the
United States, Philip B. Perlman, who also
was Acting Attorney General, directed part
of his oral argument at Justice Jackson
personally. Perlman argued that President
Truman had constitutional power to seize
private property because prior Presidents,
indeed his immediate predecessor, Franklin
D. Roosevelt, had done exactly that, and his
lawyer, then Attorney General Robert H.
Jackson, had advised Roosevelt that his
property seizures were constitutional.®

Three weeks later, the Court announced
its decision, holding by a 6-3 vote that
President Truman lacked constitutional
power to seize the steel mills. Justice
Jackson was part of the Court’s majority.
He also filed a now-canonical concurring
opinion.” Among many points, he explained
that he regarded President Roosevelt’s
property seizures as distinguishable from
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Assistant Attorney General Robert H. Jackson (left), and Ben V. Cohen, both FDR's “Braintrusters,” were
photographed leaving the White House in January 1938 after discussing anti-monopoly measures with the

President.

President Truman’s and, with commendable
candor, that such matters looked different to
Jackson as a jurist than they had when he
was a lawyer for the President.'”

As Justice Jackson thought in May 1952
about Perlman’s claims regarding 1941
Roosevelt-related events, Jackson realized
that public memories had faded. Indeed,
Jackson was startled to determine that he
was the last living participant in leading
Roosevelt events that then were being
misremembered in history.

So Jackson began to write about Pre-
sident Roosevelt. During the summer of
1952 and episodically over the next year or
so, Jackson drafted most of a book. Fifty
years later, it appeared in print as he had
titled it: That Man. But Jackson had not
completed the book before he died suddenly
in October 1954. He left his manuscript in a
file that I had the good fortune to locate and,
with the generous permission and assistance

of the Jackson family, to edit and publish, as
the Chief Justice mentioned."'

Jackson’s 1952 moment of realization
during the Steel Seizure oral arguments and
his perspectives on past events remind us
that Franklin D. Roosevelt is, like each of
our Presidents, always present in this
Supreme Court chamber. Tonight, in-
formed by Robert H. Jackson’s work on
Franklin D. Roosevelt and carrying it
forward, I will discuss these two men in
three parts: first, Jackson’s own life path;
second, Attorney General Jackson’s eigh-
teen months
Cabinet; and third, some dimensions of
the Jackson-Roosevelt relationship.

in President Roosevelt’s

Jackson’s Life Path

Robert Houghwout (pronounced “HOW-
it”") Jackson was born in 1892 on a family farm
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in Spring Creek Township, Warren County,
Pennsylvania. It was (and is) beautiful rural
wilderness. The family was self-sufficient, not
rich, not poor, viable in their independence.
They were Jacksonian—Andrew Jackson—
Democrats.

By 1898, when Robert was six years old,
the family had moved north to Frewsburg,
New York, a hamlet in Chautauqua County.
He attended the public school there. In 1909,
age seventeen, he graduated as Frewsburg
High School’s valedictorian. Jackson spent the
next year commuting by trolley up the valley
to Jamestown, New York, a city with a bigger,
more sophisticated high school. He took a
second senior year of courses and received
another diploma.

Then Jackson pursued no college educa-
tion at all, not one day. Instead, at age
eighteen, in Jamestown, he began his path to
joining the legal profession by working as an
apprentice to two Jamestown lawyers, Frank
H. Mott and Benjamin S. Dean. They were
law partners and, for young Jackson, a
perfect training team. Mott was a talker,
a wheeler-dealer, a trial lawyer, a politico, a
Democrat. Dean was a former journalist, a
scholar, cerebral, a writer, an appellate man,
a theorist, a scholar of history and constitu-
tional law, a Republican. Each poured much
of himself into Jackson.

On the Mott side of Jackson’s legal
“upbringing,” one particularly notable mo-
ment occurred in January 1911. Mott, who
was Chautauqua County’s Democratic Party
leader and a figure of statewide political
significance, took his apprentice Robert
Jackson along on a trip across New York
State to the capital, Albany. There, Mott
introduced young Jackson to many people.
Most were quite forgettable. But the name
and face, and I assume a handshake, that
Jackson did remember were those of a
freshman State Senator from Dutchess
County, New York. His name was “Frank”
Roosevelt. He was twenty-eight years old or
just twenty-nine when Jackson, age eighteen,

met him. For Roosevelt, it seems, the
moment was not memorable.

After that apprentice year, Jackson
spent the next year, at Ben Dean’s urging,
getting some school learning in the law at
the Albany Law School. It gave Jackson
credit for his apprenticeship, so he in effect
transferred into the senior year of its two-
year program. Jackson was a very strong
student. But by the end of that 1911-1912
academic year, he was still only twenty
years old, too young to be admitted to
practice law in New York. Albany Law
School, adopting that age limit, declined to
give Jackson a law degree, instead giving
him only a diploma of graduation.'?

Jackson was still a year short, in both
age and in preparation, of Bar eligibility. So
he returned to Jamestown and again appren-
ticed for Mott and Dean. Under the day’s
somewhat casual practices, Jackson began to
try cases. In the fall of 1913, when Jackson
was twenty-one years old and had completed
the required three years of legal study and
training, he took the New York State Bar
examination, passed, and was admitted.

Jackson then embarked on his legal
career. He hung out a shingle in Jamestown
and, for the next three or so years, he had a
kind of scruffy, underpaid, newest-youngest-
lawyer-in-town kind of practice. But he was
a talented speaker, he worked hard, and he
began to win trials and appeals. Soon he was
making a living and attracting more and
bigger clients.

During Jackson’s first years as a
Jamestown lawyer, he was, following the
lead of his mentor Frank Mott, involved in
Democratic Party politics. Indeed, in 1913,
Jackson was elected,13 and a few years
later he was reelected, as the District 1
(Town of Carroll) Leader of the Chau-
tauqua County Democratic Committee.
This far-from-prominent office, a position
within the New York State Democratic
Committee, was the only political office
for which Jackson ever ran.
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During these years, Jackson met
Roosevelt—now “Franklin D.” Roosevelt
—for a second time, and this time they
became acquainted. In 1913, newly-inau-
gurated President Woodrow Wilson ap-
pointed Roosevelt to serve as Assistant
Secretary of the Navy. For Jackson, a
Democratic Party leader in Chautauqua
County, a Democrat in the White House—
after sixteen years of Republican Presi-
dents—meant that there were new oppor-
tunities to seek patronage appointments to
federal offices, particularly local post-
master positions. And Jackson knew that
Roosevelt was a young New Yorker whose
political ambitions and bright future moti-
vated him to be of assistance. So Jackson
began to make trips to Washington to
advance his candidates for postmaster
appointments. His first stop, and the office
that then made his appointments around the
town, was the office of Assistant Secretary
of the Navy Roosevelt and his secretary
Louis Howe.

In 1916, Jackson—newly married to
Irene Gerhart, whom he had met four years
earlier as a law student in Albany—caught
the eye of a Buffalo judge who was trying
cases in Chautauqua County. He recom-
mended Jackson to his former law firm in
Buffalo, the tenth-largest city in the U.S., a
metropolis booming with commercial ac-
tivity. The law firm hired Jackson, and he
and Irene moved from Jamestown to
Buffalo. He spent about two years doing
litigation, mostly in state courts. The firm’s
main client was the street railway company.
Jackson defended it in many personal
injury cases, in trials and on appeals.

As Jackson practiced law during 1917-
1918 in Buffalo—today the site, in the heart
of downtown, of the beautiful Robert H.
Jackson United States Courthouse—he be-
came less interested in politics and more
focused on his legal career. In particular, he
realized that in such a major city, climbing
the ladder to legal prominence and power

would be a long-term process. He thought
that, by contrast, returning to base his law
practice in smaller Jamestown, seventy-five
miles away, would give him a chance
to climb higher faster and to become in
effect, while still young, a contemporary of
leading lawyers in Buffalo, Rochester, Syr-
acuse, Albany, New York City, Pittsburgh,
Cleveland, and Chicago.

In 1918, Jackson returned to live iIn
Jamestown. Its Republican mayor recruited
him to serve as the city’s corporation
counsel. Jackson soon moved back into
private practice. He was no longer a solo
practitioner, and fewer—but still some—of
his clients were non-paying. His practice and
his bar association activities were local and
regional, soon national. He began to argue
cases in the New York Court of Appeals.'*
In the personal realm, Robert and Irene
Jackson became parents of two children and
had a full, prosperous life. They built a large
house with white pillars. Jackson acquired an
eighty-eight-acre horse farm nearby and he
had a cabin cruiser on Chautauqua Lake. His
business clients included many that made
tangible, practical products and had loyal,
predictable customers. His prosperity was
Great Depression—proof.

Jackson had attained great professional
success. The Jackson law firm, at its biggest,
was about five lawyers. Its, and in particular
his, work was corporate and individual,
transactions and litigation, civil and criminal,
trial and appellate, popular and unpopular;
Jackson had the kind of general law practice
that few lawyers, even in more remote
locations, can accomplish today. In 1930, he
was elected to membership in the American
Law Institute with support from Benjamin N.
Cardozo, the Chief Judge of the New York
Court of Appeals. Cardozo had been impressed
by Jackson’s oral arguments in Albany and
became one of his mentors. (I was very
pleased to see that, in the Supreme Court’s
Conference Room today, the Cardozo portrait
looks across the conference table at the portrait
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of his protégé, Jackson.) In October 1932,
Jackson participated in the annual meeting,
here in Washington, of the National Con-
ference of Bar Association Delegates. He was
elected to become its president a year hence.
And, I surmise, he joined throngs on this spot
who witnessed the laying of the comerstone of
this Supreme Court building.

In the later 1920s, Jackson, whose life
was filled with law practice, professional,
and personal successes, became reinterested
in politics. The reason was Franklin D.
Roosevelt. In 1928, ahead of his own
schedule for returning from illness and
recovery to politics, Roosevelt was recruited
to run for governor of New York. It was in
part, perhaps mainly, an effort to help
incumbent Governor Al Smith, then the
Democratic Party’s presidential candidate,
carry his home state in the tough, anti-
Catholic national context of Smith’s race for
the White House. Alas, Herbert Hoover
defeated Governor Smith in New York. But
Roosevelt won the governorship.

Jackson assisted Roosevelt’s 1928 gu-
bernatorial campaign and his 1930 reelection
campaign by serving on committees and
giving proxy speeches. He also met with
Governor Roosevelt in Albany on various
matters, most notably as a member, ap-
pointed by the State Bar Association, of the
State’s commission to study and reform the
administration of justice. In 1932, Governor
Roosevelt ran for and won the presidency.
Jackson was again involved in the campaign.
Thus in 1933, after twenty years of private
law practice, he had a friend in the White
House and the possibility of high-level
government service. But during Roosevelt’s
first presidential year, Jackson stayed put in
Jamestown. Jackson was ambivalent about
leaving Jamestown and private practice for
Washington and government, even for a
short stint. He was nonetheless considered
for and considered various jobs, such as
general counsel of the Works Progress
Administration.

In early 1934, President Roosevelt
nominated Jackson to become Assistant
General Counsel of the Bureau of Internal
Revenue in the Department of the
Treasury, the position that has become,
today, General Counsel of the Internal
Revenue Service. This was the first of
Roosevelt’s five nominations of Jackson to
serve in high office, each followed by a
Senate confirmation. In 1934, the Revenue
Bureau, with 300 lawyers, was the largest
law office on earth. It was bigger than any
private law firm or any Washington gov-
ernment entity, including the U.S. Depart-
ment of Justice.

Thus began Jackson’s meteoric rise, as
Washington became his home for the rest of
his life. He became, in

* 1934: Assistant General Counsel of the
Bureau of Internal Revenue, in which, over
the next eighteen months, he became a
national newspaper headline name, leading
the successful civil prosecution of former
Treasury Secretary Andrew W. Mellon for
underpayment of taxes—and, in a related
event, stimulating Mr. Mellon’s generous
gift to the nation, just down the hill from
this Supreme Court building: the National
Gallery of Art.

¢ 1935: Being detailed by Roosevelt from
Revenue to the Securities and Exchange
Commission to head the team that was
defending in court—in the end, success-
fully—the constitutionality of the Public
Utility Holding Company Act, a major
New Deal statute.'”

* 1936: Assistant Attorney General heading
the Tax Division in the Department of
Justice.

* 1937: Within Justice, Assistant Attorney
General heading the Antitrust Division.
He supervised its active law enforcement
work and also handled high stakes
Supreme Court cases in other areas, such
as successfully defending the constitu-
tionality of Social Security.'®
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¢ 1938: Solicitor General of the United
States, the lawyer job he loved the most of
any he held.'” During the next two years,
he argued, with great skill and quite
successfully, about forty cases before the
Supreme Court.'® Yes, it was a Court with
one and then more Roosevelt appointees,
and it became more inclined than the
previous Court had been to uphold the
constitutionality of New Deal laws and
progressive State laws. But Jackson’s
successes were considerable, including
winning renown as an oral advocate and
prevailing in almost all of his cases.

* January 1940: Promotion from Solicitor
General to Attorney General of the United
States, the department’s top job and of
course a Cabinet office.

e July 1941: On President’s Roosevelt
nomination and Senate confirmation, an
Associate Justice of the Supreme Court, at
the age of forty-nine.

At that point, Bob and Irene sold their
Jamestown home, which they had been
renting out during their “temporary” stay in
Washington. Thereafter, they went back to
western New York at least a few times each
year to visit family and spend summer
breaks, but they never lived there again.
They purchased Hickory Hill in rural,
undeveloped McLean, Virginia, outside
Washington, D.C. At Hickory Hill, Jackson
found a version of both his beloved home-
lands, Spring Creek, Pennsylvania, and
Chautauqua County, New York. He gar-
dened, on quite a grand scale. He kept horses
in a small barn just behind the house. On
many mornings, he would saddle up, ride out
back and down past a former slave church,
and write opinions in his head, which must
have made first drafts easier to dictate when
he later got to chambers.

This was the man who quickly became
[ insert here a nod of
apology to the late Justice Howell Jackson
—yes, he served on the Supreme Court for

Justice Jackson.

two years, 1893-1895, but no one today
thinks of him when they hear the words
“Justice Jackson.”

Our Justice Jackson, if I may put it that
way, began in his first years on the Court to
pen some of his notable, enduring opinions:

¢ for the unanimous Court in Wickard v.
Filburn, on the scope of Congress’s
power under the Commerce Clause;"”

* for a majority of six Justices, in West
Virginia State Board of Education v.
Barnetre,zo overruling the then-recent
Gobitis decision upholding the constitu-
tionality of expelling Jehovah’s Witness
schoolchildren who refused, based on
their religious beliefs, to salute and to
pledge allegiance to the American flag.?'
Barnette is an enduring testament to
freedom of conscience and one’s consti-
tutional right not to be compelled by
government to utter its orthodoxy; and

e a dissenting opinion in Korematsu v.
United States, rejecting the Court’s
enforcement of military orders and crim-
inal laws that directed the exclusion of
Japanese-Americans, including many
thousands of U.S. citizens such as Fred
Korematsu, from the west coast of this
country during World War I1.%

In this period, Justice Jackson became
regarded, as he is today, as the best writer in
the Court’s history, except for the current
Justices plus every Justice with whom any of
them has ever served. (I wish to be a good
guest).

In the spring of 1945, President Harry
Truman appointed Justice Jackson to serve
as United States Chief of Counsel for the
prosecution of Axis war criminals in the
European Theater. This job made Jackson
the world leader in creating the International
Military Tribunal (IMT), the world’s first
international criminal court. Through the
diplomacy of the London Conference in
summer 1945, four Allied nations, the U.S.,
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.'*

In 1939 Solicitor General Robert H. Jackson congratulated Attorney General Frank Murphy on being admitted to
practice before the Supreme Court. Jackson would succeed Murphy the following year as Attorney General and
then would join him as an Associate Justice on the Supreme Court in 1941,

the U.K., the U.S.S.R., and France, reached
the London Agreement of August 8, 1945,
which created the IMT and defined its
jurisdiction to adjudicate alleged crimes by
Nazi war criminals. Then these allies—war-
fighting, war-winning, now law-building and
court-creating alliess—moved to Nuremberg,
in the Allied-occupied land that had been
Nazi Germany until its surrender.

Jackson served as the U.S. chief prose-
cutor at Nuremberg, but really he was the
chief prosecutor, period, leading the prose-
cutions of principal surviving Nazi leaders.
In the Nuremberg trial, Jackson delivered
brilliant opening and closing statements. He
personally, and mostly very successfully,
handled witness examinations, both on direct
and on cross. With captured, authentic,
uncontested Nazi documents plus witness
testimony, he and his colleagues proved the

enormity of Nazi crimes, including what we
understand today as the Holocaust.

In October 1946, after missing a full
term of this Court’s work, Justice Jackson
returned to the bench. He served eight more
terms. They were filled with notable, com-
plex, sometimes quite divided, sometimes
quite unanimous, decisions. Among
Jackson’s landmarks from these years are
his concurring opinion in the Steel Seizure
Case, Youngstown Sheet & Tube Co. v.
Sawyer,”® which has become the meaning of
that case in our constitutional law.** And
Jackson was one of the unanimous nine in
May 1954, as Chief Justice Warren led the
Court to decide Brown v. Board of
Education.”

Five months later, Robert H. Jackson,
only sixty-two years old, died of a heart
attack.
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Jackson’s Cahinet Service

My second topic is Robert Jackson’s
Attorney Generalship, which ran from
January 1940 until June 1941. T will high-
light nine dimensions of Jackson as Attorney
General—there were
dimensions to Jackson as a Cabinet officer,
but these are some of the leading facets of
him in that time of work and close contact
with President Roosevelt.

many, many more

First, that work could well have started
As Solicitor General in 1938,
Jackson was the number two official in the
Department of Justice, and for many reasons,

earlier.

Attorney General Homer Cummings was
ready to depart. But Roosevelt at that time
had, already, by some measure, “too many”
New Yorkers in the Cabinet, four of the ten:
Treasury Secretary Henry Morgenthau, Jr.,
Postmaster General James A. Farley, Com-
merce Secretary Harry Hopkins, and Secre-
tary of Labor Frances Perkins. Elevating
Jackson to be Attorney General would have
made half the Cabinet from the President’s
home state, and for a national politician that
was too parochial. In addition, Frank
Murphy, the just-defeated former governor
of Michigan, was an ardent New Dealer who
now needed a job. So in early 1939,
Roosevelt appointed Murphy to be Attorney
General and Jackson continued as Solicitor
General. A year later, on appointing Murphy
to the Court, Roosevelt appointed Jackson to
be Attorney General.

Thus my second point: When Jackson
became Attorney General in January 1940,
he well knew, because he had been in the top
ranks of the Department of Justice for the
preceding four years, that the Department
had problems, and he was not sure that he
wanted the job of fixing it up. Frank Murphy
was many fine things, but as Attorney
General he had been more performance artist
than substantive performer; he was great at
talk, public events, and achieving national

press coverage, but he embodied bad

management, unwise cases, weak personnel,
promises of action that were not real or
impending, and demoralized department
employees. That is the back story of
Attorney General Jackson’s much quoted,
much lauded, April 1, 1940, “Federal
Prosecutor” speech to the United States
Attorneys, assembled from across the nation
to hear Jackson's speech in the Department’s
Great Hall.”® He told them, I am cleaning it
up, and we are going to run this ship right,
ethically, from now on.

Third, in early 1940, Jackson was a

semi-serious presidential candidate. This
idea had been percolating, among New
Dealers at least and at high levels, for a

couple of years.27 In 1940, by all appear-
ances, President Roosevelt was going to
adhere to the American tradition and retire
(The Twenty-Second
Amendment., which today requires that, was
not part of the Constitution, as it was not
ratified until 1951). The New Dealers,
watching “the Boss” prepare to depart, of

after two terms.

course were thinking about who would come
next. That cohort, which included Tommy
Corcoran, Ben Cohen, Justice William O.
Douglas, and others, was united behind the
idea that Robert Jackson would become the
Democratic Party’s next presidential stan-
dard bearer.?® Apparently, President
Roosevelt was enthusiastic, too; one leading
report, for example, claimed bluntly that
“Roosevelt’s Choice for President Is Bob
Jackson.”® Public figures and press dis-
cussed, mostly with enthusiasm, the prospect
of a Jackson presidency.”

Attorney General Jackson’s activities
from January-April 1940 were parts of this
“boom.” His speeches around the country
were covered extensively in newspapers and
often broadcast on radio. Jackson addressed
such topics as the New Deal, law, liberty,
and security.”" He also urged that Roosevelt
should seck and win a third term.** This was
both clever cover for any personal ambitions
Jackson might have, and, on the merits, an
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argument that turned out to be a winner: as
the world situation changed, certainly by
May 1940 with Hitler conquering the Low
Countries and invading France and it tilting
toward surrender, Jackson’s “We need
Roosevelt” message was beginning to per-
suade the country.

A fourth, resulting dimension was the
question, what about Jackson for Vice Pre-
sident? By 1940, Vice President John Nance
Gamner had broken with President Roosevelt
over the third term possibility and was running
against him in states that held presidential
primaries. Postmaster General and Democratic
National Committee chairman James A. Farley
also seemed to be preparing to oppose the man
whom he (Farley) had helped elect, twice, to
the presidency. Assuming that the Democratic
Party would renominate Roosevelt, who would
be his running mate? There were many
possibilities: Secretary of State Cordell Hull,
Secretary of Agriculture Henry Wallace,
Justice Douglas, Senator James F. Byrnes
(D.-SC), and, yes, Attorney General Jackson.

To prepare for his possible candidacy,
Jackson sat for new publicity photographs
and had conversations with Roosevelt at the
White House. They are frustratingly undo-
cumented, but they could not all have been
about Department of Justice business.
Roosevelt was not planning to attend the
Democratic convention, so some of their talk
was, | think, the President planning political
strategy with Jackson.

In July 1940, Jackson, his wife, and his son
went to Chicago for the Democratic National
Convention. (The Jacksons’ daughter was
occupied with summer employment and did
not join them). In Chicago, the Roosevelt team
was headquartered at the Blackstone Hotel.
Jackson’s son William, then in college (and
later a law student, and still later a very leading
US. lawyer), stayed one block away in the
Stevens Hotel. If I may digress, that hotel also
was a family business—as the Jacksons, father
and son, pursued the law with interests in
politics, the Stevenses, a father and sons,

founded and ran the hotel. A grandson took a
different path. After military service and
schooling, he came to work here at the Supreme
Court, as a law clerk in 1947 for Justice Wiley
Rutledge, and then beginning in 1975 in his
own right, as Justice John Paul Stevens.™
That leads to the fifth dimension, the
1940 convention and campaign. Henry
Wallace became the Democrats’
presidential nominee. Attorney General
Jackson became a very active campaigner
for Roosevelt and Wallace throughout the

vice

fall. By our standards, it is surprising to see
how active the Attorney General was on
the stump for the reelection of the President.
Sixth is Jackson’s day job of being
Attorney General. In DOJ during those
seventeen-plus months, the work of the
Attorney General heavily concerned legal
issues related to war preparation. Most
famous is the legal basis for the Destroyer
Deal. Winston Churchill, the UK.’s new
Prime Minister that May, begged Roosevelt
for military assets to protect North Atlantic
shipping from German U-boat attacks.
Churchill kept sweetening the pot. By
summer, he proposed a swap: Give us fifty
over-aged, moth-balled, World War I-era
U.S. destroyers, and in return we will give
you ninety-nine-year leases on British naval
bases from Newfoundland to British Guiana
(today, Guyana). As Jackson wrote in his
famous legal opinion,34 that was a net win
for the United States: old boats for valuable
bases. Jackson’s legal opinion endorsed the
legality of the deal that Roosevelt wanted to
make and did make. It was not disclosed to
Congress in advance. The deal was not
authorized by legislation. Roosevelt, as the
1940 fall election campaign was commen-
cing, simply announced it and released
Jackson’s legal opinion as explanation.®
Attorney General Jackson also worked on
other war-related projects. These included
winning legislation that resumed the military
draft. The 1940-1941 U.S. defense buildup
generally involved Jackson in lobbying and



100

JOURNAL OF SUPREME COURT HISTORY

Jackson was sworn in as Associate Justice in President Roosevelt's office before his daughter Mary and wife Irene.

legal analysis. He also supervised criminal
investigations and prosecutions of real threats
to national security while not getting carried
away and targeting subversives who were
merely feared or enemies who were more
imagined than active; his 1940 “Federal
Prosecutor” speech embodies this credo.
Jackson also developed legal arguments in
this period that Nazi Germany’s military
aggression was an international crime, a
nugget of thought that became the legal theory
of the Nuremberg prosecutions that he led five
And Jackson and the DOJ
prepared, in the event of U.S. involvement in
war, for law enforcement investigations and
detentions of individuals in the United States
who were enemy aliens and Americans who
assisted them. These were individual
Germans, Italians, German-Americans, Ita-
lian-Americans, and not Japanese people or
Japanese-Americans—which shows which
war was expected and which one really did
strike as a surprise.

years later.

Seventh was Attorney General Jackson
in the War Cabinet. On the foregoing issues
and others, the heart of Roosevelt’s Cabinet
was the Secretary of War, Henry Stimson;
the Secretary of the Navy, Frank Knox: and
Attorney General Jackson. One particular
matter that they addressed was seizing
defense production facilities, threatened by
that needed to remain in
production. These were the legal matters
and advice that Solicitor General Perlman
cited as precedents to Justice Jackson in the
Steel Seizure Cases in 1952.

Eighth and notable was Jackson’s assis-
tance to Senator Harry S. Truman. In 1941,
this Missouri Senator called for the creation
of a committee to investigate and correct
corruption, fraud, waste, and abuse in the
U.S. war production effort, a committee he
then chaired. To get the committee off the
ground, Senator Truman needed a chief
So he called Attorney General
Jackson. Truman asked Jackson for a great

labor strikes,

counsel.
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Department of Justice lawyer and he gave
him one: an aggressive, experienced young
prosecutor named Hugh Fulton. He turned
out to be great indeed, and the success of the
Truman Committee made Harry Truman a
national figure. He was very grateful to
Jackson for Hugh Fulton.*® Truman’s high
regard for Jackson played a role in his
appointment by President Truman to prose-
cute Nazi war criminals.

Ninth and final was that Jackson was, in
filling that job and every one he ever held, a
“law man.” President Roosevelt knew this well,
and thus his design for Jackson came to be to
appoint him to the Supreme Court. His
appointment was part of a complex triple
play as the Supreme Court term ended in June
1941. President Roosevelt already had one
Supreme Court vacancy to fill because Justice
James C. McReynolds had retired in January
1941. Then Chief Justice Charles Evans
Hughes informed the President that age and
health required Hughes’s retirement. Roosevelt
wanted to appoint Jackson to succeed Hughes
as Chief Justice and Roosevelt told Jackson
that directly. But in June 1941, early in
Roosevelt’s third term, with U.S. involvement
in a second world war impending, he made a
different choice in the interest of national unity.
He elevated a Republican, Associate Justice
Harlan Fiske Stone, appointed to the Court by
President Coolidge in 1925, to be Chief Justice.
Roosevelt simultaneously appointed a conser-
vative Southerner, Senator James F. Bymes
from South Carolina, to succeed McReynolds.
And Roosevelt appointed Jackson to be the
junior Justice, filling the Associate Justice seat
that had been Stone’s, and Roosevelt told
Jackson that he would appoint him to be Chief
Justice at a later time.

Substance in the Jackson-Roosevelt
Relationship

In That Man, Jackson himself
chronicled moments and glimpses of the
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substarice in the Jackson-Roosevelt relation-
ship. He described Roosevelt in numerous
roles: President, politician, lawyer, Com-
mander-in-Chief, administrator, economist,
companion and sportsman, and leader of the
masses. That account is thick, interesting,
and revealing. It also is deeply autobiogra-
phical: it is Jackson’s biography of Roose-
velt, and it is a form of Jackson autobio-
graphy. But it is incomplete. And it was
limited by Jackson’s memory—he wrote it
from head and heart on legal pads as he
traveled and in spare moments between
Court work, not based on research. So here
are some additions—seven points about
these two men.

First is their mutual pleasure in each
other’s company. This was not a relation-
ship of deep intimacy. Roosevelt was not a
self-revealing type. To the extent that he
was, he admitted very few people to his
inner-most circle. Robert Jackson was not
one of them. But in the next concentric
circle outward, they took great pleasure in
their time together. It included relaxation,
including fishing trips, boat cruises, White
House poker games, and swimming in the
White House pool. Non-New Yorkers
might have trouble understanding this, but
they shared a fundamental “Upstate-ness.”
They had in common their backgrounds in
and their love for land and people they
shared and knew well, from Dutchess and
Albany Counties across the State to Chau-
tauqua County.

Second, Jackson had an independence of
mind that Roosevelt must have valued.
Maybe not at first. You will remember their
meeting, an Albany introduction back in
1911, even if Roosevelt never did. A few
years later, he knew who Jackson was. And
this young fellow from the western New
York sticks, a Democratic leader in a district
with few Democrats, began to give Roose-
velt, the Assistant Secretary of the Navy, a
hard time about Wilson Administration fail-
ures to appoint Jackson’s candidates to local



102

postmaster positions in western New York
State.

Young Jackson’s confidence is reflected
in a long, tart, pushy letter that he typed
(himself, it appears) and mailed to Roosevelt
in 1916. Here is one paragraph about a
Jackson postmaster candidate who had been
rejected in Washington:

Our friend Mr. Smith at Mayville
was turned down for appointment
as postmaster because sometime in
the remote past he suffered from a
venereal disease. Just how this
disqualified him as a postmaster I
am not able to see, but never having
suffered from this affiiction myself,
[ can not [sic] share the prejudice
against it which the Postoffice [sic]

T 3
officials seem to have.*’

The letter went downhill from there.
Jackson complained about the impossibility of
getting mail delivered to his home in James-
town or picking it up at the post office. He
concluded by asking Roosevelt to explain why
he (Jackson), with all these frustrations, should,
some agreement on foreign policy issues
notwithstanding, continue to support their Party:

Of course I'll vote the Democratic
ticket this fall because of heredity
and prejudice. But if you can look
over the situation and, leaving out
the administration’s hide-and-go-
seek game in Mexico and the
correspondence course in manners
being given Germany, tell me one
single reason why I should vote
the ticket, I would like to have it
so in case someone [sic] asked me,
I would not be entirely at sea.
Next time I am in Washington,
maybe I will drop in for your
answer. You’ll need till then to
think of a reason.™®
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In that moment, Roosevelt pushed some
buttons and made postmaster-related ap-
pointments happen for Jackson.”® Beyond
that, to the extent that this all really
registered on Roosevelt, he probably found
Jackson to be annoying, and maybe worse
than that. It might well be that Roosevelt,
in dealings with Jackson, did not entirely
value his independence and his spice in
communicating his views. Jackson was not a
yes-man. He was regularly a no-man. And he
expressed himself, always, forcefully. To
one who wants to hear “yes,” that can
irritate. But in the end, obviously, consis-
tently, Roosevelt valued Jackson: look at
how often, and how high, the President
advanced him.

And look at President Truman. He
inherited that awesome office at a deeply
demanding moment. In April 1945, among
many new burdens, Truman needed a U.S.
legal figure of great stature and skill to
become the American leader in the prosecu-
tion of what well could have been Adolf
Hitler, plus Heinrich Himmler, Joseph
Goebbels, Hermann Goering, Martin
Bormann, and perhaps others in Hitler’s
inner circle. President Truman asked Justice
Jackson to come from the Supreme Court to
the White House and offered him that job.

Third, Jackson and Roosevelt shared a
sense of propriety. After June 1941, Jackson
was out of the Cabinet; he was a Justice of
this Court. And during those years, while
President Roosevelt and the United States
were litigants and interested in the Court’s
work, these men had a continuing friendship.

What did that mean about improper
influence and sway that Roosevelt might
have had on Justice Jackson? According to
Jackson, they discussed Supreme Court work
only once. On April 6, 1942, during
Jackson’s first term on the Court, Justice
James F. Byrnes announced the Court’s
decision in Southern Steamship Company v.
National Labor Relations Board.* The
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Court held that sailors engaging in mutiny
were not strikers within the protections of
the National Labor Relations Act. Subse-
quently, during a White House card game,
the President leaned over and said, “Bob, by
the way, how did you vote on that question
of mutiny on shipboard?” Jackson was a
little annoyed by the question, both because
he thought Roosevelt was going to criticize
him for being part of the majority at whose
hands the administration had lost the case, 5-
4, and because Jackson did not think it was
something that the President should raise.
But Jackson answered. He told the President,
“Well, I voted that those fellows had no right
to have a strike on shipboard. The captain
had a right to order them to their posts.
When they disobeyed, they were in trouble.”
Roosevelt responded by stating his total
agreement: “My God, I don’t see how
anybody could take any different view of
it.” Of course, the Roosevelt-appointed
National Labor Relations Board had taken
a different view of it, as had four Roosevelt
appointees to the Supreme Court who
dissented in the case.*' Jackson later said
that “[t]his was the only decision of the
Court that he ever asked me about or
discussed with me as long as he lived, and
I saw him quite frequently in a social
way.”*
Fourth and notable: the words. As Chief
Justice Roberts mentioned, just read the
words. Of course, I mean Jackson’s words.
But I also mean Roosevelt’s writings and
speeches. They were two gifted writers, and
I think that each saw and valued that skill in
the other. In Jackson’s Cabinet years and
earlier, they sometimes wrote together, in
speech-writing conclaves at the President’s
bedside or in his office. Jackson saw
Roosevelt mark up Jackson's words and
make them better. I think that example
pushed Jackson to care even more about
his own words, to lift his writing higher.
Fifth: Roosevelt was the man for his
moments, which is a definition of historical
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greatness, as Jackson was for his. Each had
great confidence in himself. Each was drawn
to compete in the tough contest. Each then
had a knack for winning it. I think that “like”
sees and is attracted to “like,” and that their
man-moment-ness was a part of the Jackson-
Roosevelt linkage.

Sixth: They had distinct roles. Roosevelt
was the client for Jackson the lawyer, with
Jackson, before his Court years, having seen
himself as representing the President.

And, finally, seventh: That sense of
agency did not run in the opposite direction.
President Roosevelt did not advance Jackson
beyond what best fit Roosevelt’s purposes
and judgment.

Consider 1943 and 1944, when Justice
Jackson was unhappy on the Court. He was
disillusioned by a number of behaviors by
his colleagues that he viewed as political and
pre-committed rather than judicial and open-
minded. He was also particularly upset about
threats and bullying by some Justices of
others who were weaker intellectually and as
persons. So Jackson considered and explored
a number of departure scenarios. One was to
return to Jamestown to pick up the happy
and independent law practice and life that he
had left in 1934. A second was to move to
New York City, to practice there, as former
Associate Justice Charles Evans Hughes did
between his resignation in 1916, with
interruptions for Cabinet and World Court
service, and his appointment as Chief Justice
in 1930, or in something like the law practice
of former Solicitor General and former
presidential candidate John W. Davis, or
the practice of former presidential candidate
Wendell Willkie. Indeed, in 1943, in great
secrecy, Jackson negotiated with the
Simpson, Thacher law firm an agreement
that would have brought him from the Court
to lead a new firm: Jackson, Simpson,
Thacher.

By early 1944, Jackson decided not to
leave the Court for law practice. A third
scenario that he did pursue, at least privately
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with President Roosevelt that winter and
spring as the question of whether Roosevelt
would seek a fourth term was approaching,
was again the vice presidency for Jackson, or
should Roosevelt not run, perhaps a Jackson
presidential candidacy, this in the context of
Democrats, apparently including the Presi-
dent, not entirely desiring Vice President
Wallace’s continuation in office.

In those months, as part of getting ready
for what might come next, Justice Jackson
drafted an autobiography. Never published,
it is a “meet the candidate” type of manu-
script. Unlike today’s campaign books, the
prospective candidate actually wrote it
himself. It sets out his heroic, Abraham
Lincoln-like rise from the rural wilderness
of Spring Creek to the Cabinet and then to
the Supreme Court.

Justice Jackson also seems to have
drafted in this same period, privately for
President Roosevelt, a legal analysis that was
supportive of the idea of Jackson as a
Roosevelt running mate. The issue was the
Twelfth Amendment, which prohibits
presidential electors from any state from
voting for both presidential and vice pre-
sidential candidates who are inhabitants of
that same state.** For New York electors,
that could be interpreted to bar them from
voting for both New Yorker Franklin D.
Roosevelt for President and New Yorker
Robert H. Jackson for Vice President. And in
a close election, which 1944 was expected to
be and which it somewhat turned out to be,
New York electors might reelect Roosevelt
and, as Vice President, the Republican
Party’s nominee! From every Democrat’s
perspective, plus maybe for others as well,
that prospect was not desirable.

As Justice Jackson later recounted to a
friend, President Roosevelt called him to the
White House and asked him to prepare a
brief on the question of whether a state’s
electors could vote for presidential and vice
presidential candidates from that same state.
Jackson said that he prepared such a paper.
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To my knowledge, it has not survived or at
least has not surfaced yet. In it, Jackson
allegedly argued that the Twelfth Amend-
ment was no obstacle to electors so voting.

Jackson also recounted that Roosevelt
spoke with him about making the Justice his
running mate. I speculate that in addition to
his legal points, Jackson made some factual
arguments. One might have focused on
Jackson’s Hickory Hill residence, which he
had owned since 1941, which made him a
Virginian, not a New Yorker. Another might
have focused on the absence of any factor
cutting the other way. For example, Jackson
was not a New York voter; after he was
appointed to the Court in 1941, he ceased
voting because he did not believe that
Justices should be seen going into polling
places and voting.

This all President
Roosevelt told Jackson that picking him as
his running mate “was not the practical
political thing to do.”* When Roosevelt
sought his fourth term, he let the Democratic
Party convention choose the vice presidential
nominee. It discarded Vice President Wallace
and picked Senator Truman instead.

Justice Jackson was not present at that
July 1944 convention, again held in Chicago.
He believed, as with his decision to stop
voting, that a Supreme Court Justice should
not be seen attending a political convention.
As the Democrats were meeting, Jackson
was fishing on Lake Ontario with upstate
New York friends. Jackson was just fine with
that—he was, Roosevelt-like, in his place,
with his own resources including the people
he wanted to be with, and also on his own.

went nowhere.

ek

I will conclude as I began, by turning to
two specific dates. The first, just after the
July 1944 Democratic Party convention, was
August 24, 1944. On that evening, President
Roosevelt hosted a White House ‘“stag”
dinner (no women) for Sveinn Bjoernsson,
the first President of the new Republic of
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Iceland. Justice Jackson was one of President
Roosevelt’s dozens of guests.*> During the
pre-dinner reception that evening, President
Roosevelt introduced Justice Jackson to
President Bjoernsson as “my Attorney
General.” Later, during Roosevelt’s speech
at dinner, he referred to three Cabinet
members being present in the room, although
in fact only two, Secretary of War Stimson
and Secretary of Commerce Jesse Jones,
were there, plus Jackson, who Roosevelt had
promoted from Cabinet to Supreme Court
three years earlier.

Jackson took these misstatements as
evidence of Roosevelt’s weakening health.
To put it in our terms, Jackson thought that
the President was “with it,” but that he was
so immersed in the war and international
matters that he was not keeping up with
domestic details. In that state of inattention,
Roosevelt still thought, reflexively, of
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Jackson as what he had once been, his
Attorney General.*® In an important sense,
Roosevelt was not wrong. Justice Jackson,
three years on the Court, was still very much
a government “attorney general,” in the
lower case sense; he was, whatever his
job’s location in the national government,
still Roosevelt’s, meaning the President’s
and the presidency’s, and the country’s,
attorney.

The second date was March 17, 1945. It
was Franklin and Eleanor Roosevelt’s for-
tieth wedding anniversary. They celebrated
that night with a small White House dinner.
The guest of honor was Princess Juliana of
the Netherlands. She was a refugee—her
land was occupied and controlled by the
Nazis, and she spent the war years in Canada
and in the United States The other guests
included Robert and Irene Jackson. President
Roosevelt was a tired man that evening. He

Robert and Irene Jackson attended a White House dinner on March 17, 1945 to honor Princess Juliana of the
Netherlands. President Roosevelt was just back from his “Big Three” summit meeting in Yalta and in great spirits. But as
they drove home that night, Irene correctly predicted they would not see him again. FDR died a month later, at age sixty-
three. Jackson died at decade later, a age sixty-two. The Jacksons are pictured at a White House reception in 1940.
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was just back from his “Big Three” summit
meeting in Yalta. He stayed in his wheel-
chair. But he was in great spirits. The war
was going well. He mixed cocktails, told
jokes, and laughed. He told stories about
Churchill and Stalin at Yalta, and about his
post-Yalta meetings with King Saud of
Arabia, King Haile Selassie of Abyssinia,
and King Farouk of Egypt.

As they drove home that night, Irene
Jackson said to Bob. “I do not think we will
ever see the President alive again.” Jackson
disagreed strongly. But Irene explained that
she had been sitting right across from the
President during the dinner. She had a full-
on view of his face. She said that when he
was not thinking about it, he looked very
bad.*” She was right, of course. In less than
one month, FDR, age sixty-three, was gone.

In less than another decade, Robert H.
Jackson, age sixty-two, also was gone.

During our times here, as we are passing
through, we are extremely lucky to have the
legacies of Roosevelt and Jackson. Each of
these men gave us, in very direct senses, in
fullness, for our learning from their examples
and their lessons, for our better chances in
facing our challenges, very much of the other.

Author’s Note: This publication is based
on my November 1, 2017, Leon Silverman
Lecture at the Supreme Court of the United
States. Video of this program is at www.c-
span.org/video/?436652-2/justice-robert-h-
jackson-franklin-d-roosevelt (last visited
Oct. 24, 2018). I am very grateful to Chief
Justice John G. Roberts, Jr.,, and to the
Supreme Court Historical Society, and 1
thank my former St. John’s University
School of Law students Max D. Bartell and
Michael D. Manzo for excellent research
assistance.
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the upper grandstand, shouting “He missed the tag!”
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The Judicial Bookshelf

DONALD GRIER STEPHENSON, JR.

As scholars assess developments in
American constitutional government a half
century or even a full century hence, they
will look back to the varied writings of those
who preceded them. This is the opportunity
afforded today’s students as well. Insights
into a particular period are sometimes
enhanced by those who wrote at an-
other time.

Consider Popular Government, a col-
lection of four essays penned about a
century-and-a-third ago by the English legal
historian Sir Henry Sumner Maine, who
recorded his observations just as Americans
were beginning to observe the centennial of
their national Constitution.! For today’s
reader, Maine’s comments on the judiciary
contain both the familiar and the unfamiliar
—reflecting the Court of today as well as the
Court of yesterday. Then as now, one sees an
institution beset by the tension posed in the
American political system between popular
sovereignty and limited government, be-
tween “‘government by the people” and legal
restraints on the people’s government. The
tension is the hallmark of a polity founded
on both the consent of the governed and the

expectation, in Justice Robert H. Jackson’s
words, “that we submit ourselves to rulers
only if under rules.””

For Maine, the Supreme Court “was not
only a most interesting but a virtually unique
creation of the founders of the Constitution.”
In his view, the division of policy-making
authority between the President and Con-
gress, the concept of a national government
of limited powers, combined with the
existence of the states, required an institution
both to expound the Constitution and to
clarify the boundaries of political authority.
Judicial review was therefore essential to
American government. “The success of this
experiment [judicial review] has blinded
men to its novelty,” Maine declared. “There
is no exact precedent for it, either in the
ancient or in the modern world.” The Court’s
constitutional role was the product of “the
unsatisfactory condition of English Constitu-
tional law [at the time of the American
Revolution], and of its many grave and
dangerous uncertainties.” The framers
wanted to avoid “a system under which legal
questions were debated with the utmost

acrimony, but hardly ever solved . ... ”?°
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Yet there are sharp contrasts between the
Court whose work Maine witnessed and the
Court of today. Maine wrote at a time when
the Court was chiefly still a supreme court of
errors, with a docket overwhelmed mainly by
private law matters, with constitutional issues
still accounting for a small part of the Court’s
business. It was not until six years after the
publication of Popular Government that
Congress created the Circuit Courts of
Appeals, the first true and lasting intermediate
appellate benches in the federal judicial
system. With the introduction of some
certiorari jurisdiction—to be greatly expanded
in 1925—and a soon-to-be-much enlarged
corpus of federal legislation (being in Con-
gress in Maine’s day was still very much a
part-time job), a different role for the Court
would soon emerge. In contrast to the docket
of the nineteenth century, public law in its
constitutional and statutory as well as admin-
istrative forms came to consume the Court’s
time. While hardly abandoning its dispute-
resolution role, the Court has become mainly
a maker of public policy for uniform applica-
tion across the nation.

Maine also wrote before a sizeable
fraction of the constitutional cases that did
arise involved the Bill of Rights. Indeed, for
Maine, the Bill of Rights consisted of “a
certain number of amendments on compara-
tively unimportant points.”* Although he did
not elaborate, one suspects that by “com-
paratively unimportant” he may have meant
unimportant judicially, in that those provi-
sions had not become a common source of
federal litigation. That would not happen to
any significant degree until provisions of the
Bill of Rights were applied to the states
through the Fourteenth Amendment, a pro-
cess that had not yet begun in 1885. More-
over, the Fourteenth Amendment as well as
the other two Civil War amendments seemed
to Maine, with one notable exception, to
have had little impact. “[A]t the present
moment the working of the Constitution of
the United States does not, save for the
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disappearance of negro slavery, differ from
the mode of its operation before the civil
convulsion of 1861-65.”°

Change thus overtakes one’s conclu-
sions. Maine’s depiction of the Court of long
ago has to be understood in light of events he
could not foresee, events that have become
the scholarly grist for others, as recent books
provide ample evidence that attention to
what Maine called an “interesting” and
“virtually unique creation” continues at a
brisk pace.

When Maine’s book was published,
there were still some people alive who
remembered John Marshall, a figure who
continues to cast a large shadow on the
Constitution and on the development of
American political institutions. Indeed, to
write about the fourth Chief Justice after
1800 is to write about the Supreme Court
and, with only a few exceptions such as
William Johnson and Joseph Story, to write
about the Supreme Court in the first third of
the nineteenth century is to write about John
Marshall, the individual who is sometimes
referred to as “The Great Chief Justice,” as if
no one else could ever be his equal. His
place in the American pantheon means
therefore that he has rarely been allowed to
stray far from the center of scholarly
attention. Alongside at least ten full or
partial biographies or Marshall-focused
books® is a host of more narrowly focused
volumes, reams of articles, plus a muititude
of other studies in which Marshall’s handi-
work figures prominently. At the 1955
bicentennial of his birth, one bibliography
included nearly 750 titles.” The intervening
years may now have pushed that number
above 1,000.

To the current count should now be
added Without Precedent, by Joel Richard
Paul, a professor at University of California
Hastings School of Law.® This major
biography easily falls into the must-read
category, not only because of the wealth of
heavily documented information it contains
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on Marshall, his times, and the Court but
because its style so rivets the reader’s
attention that, once begun, the book is truly
difficult to lay aside.

Surely anyone contemplating compre-
hensive scholarly writing on Marshall faces a
challenge aside from the fact that Marshall’s
life has been a field frequently tilled. The
discomforting truth for any author is that,
plainly, there is so much to Marshall’s life.
For the prospective biographer, the essential
task is to grasp and convey a remarkable
variety of accomplishments that would fill a
modern-day-styled resume even before one
gets to his life-defining responsibility as
fourth Chief Justice of the United States that
spanned more than thirty-four years:

* Largely self-taught and educated at home
in a family of modest means on the
Virginia frontier

e Officer in the Culpepper Virginia
Minute Men

* Officer in General George Washington’s
Army at Valley Forge

* Practicing attorney

* Member of the Virginia state legislature

* Member of the Virginia Convention to
ratify the proposed U.S. Constitution

* Minister to France

* Member of the U.S. House of
Representatives

* U.S. Secretary of State

* Biographer of George Washington

In short, the challenge Marshall presents
for a biographer may well be similar to that
posed by any one of the three or four most
important American Presidents, especially
when one remembers that most of Marshall’s
public service coincided with the formative
years of the nation. Paul’s book succeeds
because he is able to get his arms around
Marshall’s multifaceted life and then to
relate it so fully to the reader.

Marshall’s story gives rise to key
questions Paul attempts to answer. One
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focuses on the individual while the other
places that individual in the context of an era
with its personalities and events: “How does
a man from such modest beginnings reinvent
himself so successfully? And how does a
judge transform an insignificant and impo-
tent court into a powerful coequal branch of
the federal government and breathe meaning
and life into an untested constitution?”’
Paul’s response to his own queries is that
“Marshall played many parts so well because
he was at heart a master actor” so that in “the
end his gift for illusion transformed not only
himself but the Court, the Constitution, and
the nation as well,”lO where his political
views “sprang not from theory but from his
practical experience as a frontiersman, a
soldier, and an attorney. Marshall believed in
the practical necessity for collective action
against the dangers facing his community at
home and abroad. He was in all things a
pragmatist.”'! (Paul’s suggestion that
Marshall excelled at illusion perhaps reflects
Edward Corwin’s assessment of him as a
revolutionist malgré lui—in spite of
himself).12

Paul’s book also succeeds because, even
when he is traversing episodes of Marshall’s
life that are familiar to many readers, he
somehow manages to include facts or
situations that are not widely known. The
result is always informative and sometimes
insightful, provocative, or even entertaining.

In the context of emphasizing the impact
that Lieutenant General Baron von Steuben
had on the young Marshall at Valley Forge,
for instance, the author seems to enjoy
adding that von Steuben was neither a
general nor a Prussian baron. “Though his
maternal grandfather may bhave been a
German noble, Steuben possessed neither a
title nor a fortune. He never rose above the
rank of captain in the army of Frederick the
Great.” Yet in that pre-Internet era when
snail mail was precisely that, “with his
fictionalized curriculum vitae, Steuben was
received by Americans as if he was a
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world-famous warrior” even as he was feted
by John Hancock in Boston and warmly
greeted and compensated monetarily by the
Continental Congress in York, Pennsylvania.
Yet, as Paul explains, the Prussian “thought
he had pulled off a great subterfuge until he
arrived at Valley Forge and realized that
Washington’s army [given its woefully
deficient condition] was a far more extra-
vagant deception.”"?

Paul seems to have completed Without
Precedent before publication of Paul
Finkelman’s Supreme Injustice, which
took Marshall, Justice Joseph Story, and
Chief Justice Roger Taney to task for their
decisions on slavery.'" Juxtaposing what
might have been with what was, Finkelman
concluded that through their actions as well
as inactions the three jurists “almost always
failed to consider liberty and justice in cases
involving slavery and race. To the contrary,
with only a few exceptions in their many
years on the bench, they continuously
strengthened slavery in the American con-
stitutional order.”'® In doing so they squan-
dered the chance to leave the nation “with a
legacy of liberty and justice,” consistent with
America’s founding ideology of equality and
“unalienable rights” rather than one of
“slavery, racism, and oppression.”'(‘

In contrast to several scholars whom
Finkelman criticized because they ‘“have
mostly ignored [Marshall’s] personal and
judicial relationship with slavery.”'” Paul
addresses the subject directly and in some
detail, against the backdrop, as Paul insists,
that “slavery was the Constitution’s original
sin.” The Framers had not merely tolerated
slavery but had “enshrined it in the
Constitution.”"® In a chapter entitled “Slaves
and Hypocrites,” for example, he recognizes
that *“Virginians of Marshall’s generation
saw no contradiction in their fierce advocacy
of equality and their dependence on slavery.
Slavery made it possible to regard all white
males as equals regardless of of their social
status.”'” Accordingly, “Marshall was not

JOURNAL OF SUPREME COURT HISTORY

William Marbury's counsel Charles Lee (above) read an
affidavit signed by Chief Justice Marshall's brother,
James, who had assisted the Chief Justice with the
commissions, which provided crucial evidence that
Marbury's commission had been properly signed and
sealed. According to Joel Richard Paul, author of
Without Precedent: Chief Justice John Marshall and His
Times, James's testimony “was most likely a complete
fabrication” and the Chief Justice had probably asked
him to lie.

free of racial prejudice, and he did enjoy the
comforts that his household slaves provided
to him. He viewed slaves as family members
who needed his guidance and support.” In
terms of treatment, “[t]here is no evidence
that Marshall ever separated families or
mistreated or whipped his slaves—as
Thomas Jefferson did.”*"

While Finkelman’s approach was pro-
secutorial and emphasized Marshall’s moral
shortcomings, Paul is more inclined to stress
the worth of Marshall’s contributions in
contradistinction to what later generations
view as colossal ethical transgressions not
only by Marshall but many of his contem-
poraries as well. His harshest statements
about Marshall and slavery appear in dis-
cussion of The Antelope?' a factually
complex admiralty case involving Spanish
and Portuguese commercial interests along-
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side the status of some 250 Africans who had
been packed on board a vessel seized by a
U.S. revenue cutter in Spanish waters.
Declining to view the slave trade as a
violation of the law of nations, Chief Justice
Marshall concluded for the majority that,
however “abhorrent” the slave trade was, it
had *“claimed all the sanction which could be
derived from long usage and general
acquiescence.”** For this reason, the United
States was obliged to recognize the rights of
other nations to participate in the slave trade.
However, because a number of the Africans
in question had been captured aboard an
American vessel, the United States retained
possession of some of that total who were
then returned to Africa the following year.
The remaining Africans were sold to
American slave owners with the proceeds
conveyed to the Spanish and Portuguese
claimants as restitution. Even though Paul
insists that personally Marshall “viewed
slavery and the slave trade as an abomina-
tion,” his decision in The Antelope “‘betrayed
this conviction.” It also “revealed certain
faults in Marshall’s character: a readiness to
submit to the authority of the law no matter
how cruel or capricious it was and a failure
of empathy for those seeking justice in his
court.”??

If, as Finkelman contended, some scholars
have played down or even neglected Marshall’s
connections to slavery, surely none has over-
looked Marbury v. Madison,** the case that is
the one most indelibly linked to Marshall’s
name. It was in that decision that the Court not
only invalidated an act of Congress but for the
first time offered a reasoned defense of its
authority to do so. In this “case of the missing
commissions,”25 Marshall was uncomfortably
involved. He had been Secretary of State in the
last weeks of the outgoing Adams administra-
tion when the Federalist Congress passed
legislation®® authorizing the President, among
other things, to appoint magistrates for the
District of Columbia, and it was Marshall’s
responsibility to make sure the commissions of
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office for these Senate-confirmed magistrates
were delivered. Yet, when newly elected
Thomas Jefferson was sworn in as President
in March—barely five weeks after Marshall
had become Chief Justice—several commis-
sions, including one bearing the name of
William Marbury, not only remained undeliv-
ered, but the new Secretary of State James
Madison was determined that they would so
remain.

However, when Marbury’s counsel
Charles Lee filed suit in the Supreme Court
under section 13 of the Judiciary Act of 1789
for a writ of mandamus directing Madison to
turn over Marbury’s commission, Lee con-
fronted “a challenging evidentiary hurdle” in
that all the facts of the case had to be proven
in a situation where Madison, who boycotted
the proceeding, would not even acknowledge
the Court’s jurisdiction over him. The
situation was thus especially awkward in
that the “one person who was uniquely
situated to testify that Marbury had been
confirmed ... and that the commissions were
properly signed and sealed was John
Marshall. But as he was the sitting chief
justice, that was impossible.” Instead, Lee
read an affidavit signed by the Chief
Justice’s brother, James, who had assisted
the Chief Justice with the commissions.*’
This testimony “was the only evidence that
the commissions were issued—and it was
most likely a complete fabrication.”*®

“Historians,” Paul explains, “have long
accepted James’s story but it made no
sense.” Paul reaches that conclusion because
of a communication from Marshall to James
that would have been unnecessary had
James’s account been accurate. “It is
apparent that James Marshall perjured him-
self in the Supreme Court and that the chief
justice not only knew this but probably asked
him to lie,” insists Paul. Admitting that it
would be unthinkable today for a Chief
Justice to suborn perjury in his own court or
to participate in a case in which he was truly
the principal witness, Paul explains that “the
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time and circumstances were extraordinary.
. . Marshall
thought the ends justified the means . . . . The
lie bridged an evidentiary gap by estab-
lishing in court the existence of the commis-
sions, which the whole world knew was
true.”*® Moreover, Paul points out that under
the 1789 Judiciary Act, Lee should have
begun the quest for a writ of mandamus in
the circuit court, from which the statute gave
the Supreme Court appellate jurisdiction. In
what appeared to have been a tactically
deliberate misreading of the law, Lee filed
the petition in the Supreme Court as an
original action instead, thus creating the
basis for what the Court chose to do in
the case.

Marshall’s opinion in Marbury, which
“ran more than forty pages or eleven
thousand words [and] took four hour to
read,” was delivered at Stelle’s Hotel, where
the Court met temporarily because Justice
Samuel Chase was confined there by illness.
For Paul, it would “be remembered as the

Facing a constitutional crisis .

single most significant constitutional deci-
sion issued by any court in American
history.”® By refusing to issue the writ
because the statute’s section 13 violated the
Constitution, the Court attempted to accom-
plish several objectives. First, and most
immediately, the decision plainly avoided
an unwinnable confrontation with the execu-
tive branch even as it enlarged the Court’s
authority. Marshall’s assertion of power was
therefore an acknowledgment of weakness.
Second, in explaining why the judiciary
could not apply a statute passed by Congress
that, in the Justices’ view, conflicted with the
Constitution, Marshall implicitly countered
the competing theories of his day that state
legislatures or Congress would properly be
the judge of the constitutionality of national
policy. Third, Marshall’s opinion explained
why the executive must be answerable to the
Court, although in doing so, Marshall was
careful to distinguish between discretionary
(that is, “political”) actions that were not
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judicially cognizable and nondiscretionary
actions that were. “By the constitution of the
United States,” conceded Marshall, “the
President is invested with certain important
political powers, in the exercise of which he
is to use his own discretion, and is
accountable only to his country in his political
character and to his own conscience.”" But
delivery of commissions fell into the other
category. “The question whether a right has
vested or not, is, in its nature, judicial, and
must be tried by the judicial authority.”*?
Fourth, the Court was an independent entity of
government. Rather than sit as the agent of one
political force against another, the Court was
the agent of the Constitution. Thus, an
independent judiciary, moreover, was not the
same as an administration-friendly or a party-
friendly judiciary. Individuals claiming viola-
tions of rights might pursue judicial remedies.
Or, as styled by a scholar slightly more than a
century later, judicial review was expedient:
“the substitute offered by political wisdom for
the destructive right of revolution.”

Paul’s treatment of Marbury follows his
discussion of Marshall’s nomination as Chief
Justice by lame-duck President John Adams
following Oliver Ellsworth’s resignation.
For Paul, it is “more surprising that Marshall
accepted this appointment than it is that
Adams offered it.”*! Yet the acceptance of
what by then had become a difficult position
to fill must be understood, the reader is told,
in light of the deep animosity that already
existed between Marshall and his cousin and
fellow-Virginian Thomas Jefferson. By
1800, this antagonism had moved well
beyond political rivalry into a fierce ideolo-
gical tension about the future of the Republic
so that Marshall and Jefferson appeared to be
on “opposing sides of every major political

. 35
1ssue.”’

Marshall was therefore willing to
accept the nomination from Adams less
because he had no political future in
Republican-dominated Virginia or that his
earnings from his law practice had usually

been below the Chief Justice’s salary, than
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from a sense of duty that as Chief Justice
he could resist “the onslaught of the
Jeffersonians,”® a claim that would perhaps
be more plausible had Marshall at the time of
his nomination had prescience of Marbury
and its progeny.

Truly, one of the delights of Paul’s book
is the occasional pithy contrast between
Marshall and Jefferson, although each seems
worded, if ever so slightly, to the Chief
Justice’s favor, as one might expect from a
biographer of Marshall:

Marshall’s dress and manner were
always plain and simple. He was
not a philosopher like Jefferson
[who] reigned over hundreds of
slaves with a sense of privilege
that most English lords would have
envied . . . . Jefferson may have
loved humankind, but he was not
especially fond of most people, and
he had few close friends. Though
Marshall belonged to the party of
elites, he practiced republicanism in
his everyday life. By contrast,
Jefferson preached democracy but
lived more like the European aris-
tocrats he despised.’

Dissimilarities played out in other ways as
well as in that they had a fundamentally
different relationship to authority figures.
Jefferson was often skeptical and even disloyal,
especially toward Washington and Adams;
Marshall’s whole career was defined by his
loyalty to Washington, General Steuben, and
Adams. Jefferson was as fiercely loyal to his
ideology as Marshall was to his leaders.
Marshall would compromise his own opinion
before he would compromise his associates. On
a personal level, Marshall was warmer and
more gregarious; Jefferson preferred the world
of books and ideas.*®

Whether a reader chooses one or the other
of these principal antagonists as a favorite, the
clarity of Paul’s analysis throughout remains a
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valuable window into the understanding of
key actors in so crucial an era of American
political and judicial history.

A useful ancillary to Paul’s biography is
Marbury v. Madison by William E. Nelson,
a professor at New York University School
of Law.* First published in 2000, Nelson’s
book has now been reissued in a second
edition. Both editions are part of the
Landmark Law Cases & American Society
Series, published by the University Press of
Kansas under the general editorship of Peter
Charles Hoffer and N.E.H. Hull. Remark-
ably, this succession of case studies now
claims more than five dozen titles, almost all
of which treat decisions by the United States
Supreme Court. The Kansas series fits
comfortably into and has substantially
enlarged and enriched an established scho-
larly category that has been an instructive
part of literature on the judicial process for
more than five decades.*’

The Nelson addition adheres to the
organization of, and pursues the objectives

David M. O'Brien, the Leone Reaves and George W.
Spicer Professor of Politics at the University of Virginia
since 1996 and a long-time member of the editorial
hoard of this Journal, died in December 2018 at age
sixty-seven. 0'Brien was the author of Storm Center:
The Supreme Court in American Politics and editor of
Judges on Judging. He masterfully explained the
workings of the Supreme Court to broad audiences.
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of, most of the other books in this group.
Like them, Nelson’s helpfully includes a
thorough bibliographical essay, and, essen-
tial for any case study, a detailed chron-
ology. Also like them, his contribution sadly
lacks footnotes or endnotes. (While foot-
notes or endnotes are not usually important
for classroom use, where, one suspects the
principal marketing thrust for the Kansas
series is directed, their presence would
greatly aid use of the bibliographical essay
for general readers and scholars, with
probably no loss of appeal to either a
classroom or wider audience.)41

The fact that this volume is a second
edition poses its own question. With, say, a
book on American foreign policy that was
first published in the 1990s, one can easily
imagine the need for updating and even
major revisions a decade or more later. The
same might be said for a book on civil
liberties and civil rights in the United States
that made its first appearance at about the
same time. Passing years invariably take
their toll of obsolescence on what has been
written. So, what is there about Marbury v.
Madison, decided well over two centuries
ago, that calls for a new edition less than two
decades after the book first appeared? While
correctly noting that “the case is an essential
part of the adolescence of American demo-
cratic republicanism,”** the series editors
seem not to address the need for revision, as
one might expect. Neither does the author.
Instead, the answer is found in a one-page
“new book release” announcement from the
publisher that accompanied the copy of
Nelson’s book that this author
According to that promotional piece, the
new edition is distinctive in that it includes
coverage of colonial and early national
institutions, events, and thinking that helped

received.

to create a highly receptive environment for
what Marshall advanced. Additionally, the
reader might also suppose that changing
attitudes about judicial review—the key
doctrinal contribution of Marburv to the art
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of government—and the increasing use of
judicial review in other nations since the first
edition appeared, would provide adequate
justification for the re-issue.

In terms of content, Without Precedent
and Chapters 7 and 8 of Nelson’s book are
most similar. Chapter 7 is a tightly com-
pressed biographical overview of Marshall
through the election of 1800. The focus of
chapter 8 is the case itself, including a
thorough discussion of the partisan differ-
ences that had developed. For Nelson, “clear
cut party divisions had emerged by the
second half of the 1790s. On one side stood
the Republicans, avowing . . . ‘the doctrine
that mankind are capable of governing
themselves,” and accused by their opponents
of scheming ‘to introduce a new order of
things as it represents morals and politics,
social and civil duties.” Opposite them stood
the Federalists, claiming . . . to preserve ‘that
virtue [which] is the only permanent basis of
a Republic,” and accused of attempting to
restore monarchial govemment."’43

Acknowledging that both parties or
factions were internally divided, Nelson
explains that, when forced to choose, “those
who styled themselves Federalists generally
proclaimed their preference for customary
standards, while those who saw themselves
as Republicans generally proclaimed their
allegiance to the people’s will.” Signifi-
cantly, such competing notions had been
rooted in experiences that were compara-
tively fresh. “Republicans in 1800 could
look back upon a quarter-century of fervid
political activity during which a majority of
the people had transformed the American
constitutional landscape” and so could
“plausibly hold that the popular majority
would secure revolutionary improvements in
government through continued exertion.” By
contrast, “Federalists recognized a tradition

. of government by customary norms
whose validity all right-thinking people
accepted.”** These were the contrasting
outlooks that opposed each other in the
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election of 1800, creating the environment
during the time Marbury v. Madison came
before the Supreme Court.

In addition, Nelson’s volume enhances
Paul’s work in key respects. First, Nelson
reconstructs the intellectual origins of
Marshall’s assertion of judicial review. As
Paul’s account of the case makes clear, a
remarkable aspect of the Court’s holding in
retrospect is that, for the legal and political
community of 1803, the decision was in at
least one respect thoroughly unremarkable.
That is, to the degree that Marshall’s opinion
ruffled feathers, its annoyance stemmed not
from the claim that the Court
disregard a statute the Justices believed was
in conflict with the Constitution. Indeed,
what had troubled Republicans, aside from
the Chief Justice’s lecture on political
etiquette to his cousin the President, was
the claim that an executive officer was
subject to the judicial process. Instead,
Marshall’s claim of judicial review—as
with Alexander Hamilton’s matter-of-fact
assumption of it in Federalist No. 78—was
unremarkable because it found a receptive
intellectual environment that had already
been nurtured by James Otis and the writs
of assistance case of 1761 along with various

would

reactions within the colonies to the Stamp
Act of 1765 and the Townsend acts of 1767-
68. Building on these developments were
decisions in some state courts in the critical
formative period during the two decades
after 1776. Thus, avoiding either disapproval
or praise for Marbury, Nelson insists
throughout that his goal is “to assist the
reader in understanding the decision as an
elaboration of American, and, more recently,
global constitutionalism.”*

Second, Nelson contends that the judicial
function and judicial review in Marshall’s day
had specific meaning in that “judicial review
in Marbury ... granted judges authority to
decide only issues of law and directed them to
avoid political decision making.”*® Specifi-
cally, the Marshall Court “was striving to
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preserve what the justices and nearly all their
fellow citizens found best in eighteenth
century constitutionalism, while at the same
time accommodating that constitutionalism to
new nineteenth-century political realities.”
Americans of the mid-eighteenth century
“did not want any government entity to
engage in social policy choice. They under-
stood law as fixed and immutable, not as
something that government could change in
response to shifting conceptions of social
good.” Indeed, “they equated fixed law with
liberty and changeable law with arbitrary rule
and tyranny.”™*’ Thus, the decision in Marbury
was important because in it, Marshall drew a
line “which nearly all citizens of his time
believed ought to be drawn, between the legal
and the political—between those matters that
most Americans believed were fixed and
immutable, and thus subject to legal control,
and those matters open to fluctuation and
change, and thus the subjects of democratic
politics.™**

Thus, while at one level, Marshall’s use of
judicial review in Marbury was an assertion of
power, the Court’s refusal to issue the writ of
mandamus amounted to an abstention from
political decision making and so “coincidentally
[if ironically] strengthened the law.” Before the
decision, “courts were merely one more
government entity performing the same legal-
political functions that all other entities per-
formed.” Afterwards

[iln contrast, courts and law became
distinctive and special, superior to and
capable of invalidating political deci-
sions in regard to matters subject to
the law. In a sense, Marbury . . . thus
accomplished what jurists have long
assumed it accomplished—it did not
establish judicial review, which was
already in place, but over time it
created the concept of the rule of law
as a mechanism capable of controlling
excesses generated in the democratic
process.*’
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Third, Nelson’s book outlines the trans-
formation of judicial review in the years
following Marbury. If at the beginning of the
nineteenth century, judges were perceived
not as political actors but as agents of the
law, that understanding, not unexpectedly,
would soon change. For instance, one would
suppose that there would be different under-
standings of even presumably immutable
legal principles, with the outcome of a case
necessarily promoting one set of values in
place of another. For an example, one need
to look no further than the Marshall Court’s
decision and opinion in McCulloch v.
Maryland™® that sparked such an outrage
precisely two hundred years ago that Chief
Justice Marshall felt compelled to respond in
print through essays by a “Friend of the
Constitution.”®' Furthermore, Nelson points
to “dictum in Marbury ... that the Constitu-
tion and its rule of law barred political actors
from interfering with rights akin to the
right of property.” Accordingly, Nelson
explains, for “more than a century after
Marbury, judges continued to protect private
property, as they had always done. In so
doing they could understand that they were
preserving the law of property as something
fixed and immutable—that they were up-
holding Marshall’s distinction between law
and politics.””*

Yet a changing economy that brought
forth vast accumulations of wealth led to
demands for “redistributive regulation™ with
the result that those who demanded more
government intervention came to view the
judiciary’s continued protection of constitu-
tional rights as “controversial and political
rather than as legal and immutable.™* The
result for some was dissolution of the
distinction between law and politics with
“judicial review [passing] into the realm of
policy choice.” After the Court’s about-face
during the New Deal era and then pursuit of
its newfound interest after 1938 in protecting
non-property aspects of civil liberties and
civil rights, “judicial review as we know it
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today came to fruition.””* For Nelson, this
change has come about at substantial cost,
whether the context is the United States or
another country where courts engage in
judicial review. “Every policy decision
judges make calls their impartiality into
question and leads the electorate to demand
the selection of judges who agree with
majority views,” writes Nelson in an echo
of one of Justice Antonin Scalia’s most
memorable dissents.” “Judges who are so
elected, insists Nelson, become only margin-
ally better than legislators in protecting
minorities.””® Nelson seems to gaze back
longingly to Marshall’s “profound wisdom”
that recognized ‘“that the power of judges
depends on their impartial adjudication of
issues of law and their avoidance of political
issues of social policy. Yet, there is appar-
ently no turning back. Because “protection
of minorities involves inevitable policy
choices, judges today cannot totally avoid
policy making. The protection of minority
rights and judicial impartiality are simply in
tension with each other, and judges must
make an ultimate policy judgment about how
much weight to give to each.”’

The title Joel Paul chose for his
biography of Marshall—Without Prece-
dent—would have been equally appropriate
for David Lynch to select for his study of the
work of Justices on circuit during the
Marshall era: The Role of Circuit Courts
in the Formation of United States Law in
the Early Republic, published in 2018.7* A
retired English circuit judge, Lynch is
visiting research fellow at Liverpool John
Moores University and a Master of the
Bench of the Honorable Society of the
Middle Temple in the United Kingdom,
and so provides one more illustration that
interest by English scholars in American
constitutional government has persisted long
after Maine >

Among the notable departures from the
Articles of Confederation that the Philadelphia
Convention wrote into the Constitution was
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provision for “one supreme Court, and ... such
inferior Courts as the Congress may from time
to time ordain and establish.”® Acting upon
this authority, the First Congress in September
1789 passed the Judiciary Act. Although the
statute provided for three types of courts
(district courts, circuit courts, and the Supreme
Court), it authorized the appointment of judges
only for the district courts and the Supreme
Court. Except for a brief period in 1801-02, no
separate circuit judgeships existed until 1855
(for California) and then in 1869 for the rest of
the nation. Each circuit court was at first
staffed by two Associate Justices—a number
soon reduced to one—sitting with the single
district judge. As a result, the early Justices
spent far more time traveling their circuits and
holding circuit court than they did sitting as the
Supreme Court.

Lynch has taken this structure and used
it as a window through which to view the
work of some of the early Justices through
their decisions on the circuit courts. In doing
so, he provides a useful view, given the
demands of the circuit “experiment,” as he
calls it in chapter one, of the significance and
overall effects of this part of the Justices’
professional time. Thus, he responds to the
challenge posed some nine decades ago by
Felix Frankfurter and James Landis when
they wrote that “the actual volume of
business in the various district and circuit
courts, the manner of its disposition, . . . we
shall not know until pride in the history of
individual federal courts and an appreciation
of the significance of their records leads to
an illuminating writing of their story.”®'

To this end, Lynch has analyzed the work
of four Associate Justices (hence circuit
judges) who sat during the Chief Justiceship
of John Marshall (1801-35), some fifteen
individuals at a time when the High Court’s
roster was set at seven: William Cushing
(1790-10), William Paterson (1793-06), and
Samuel Chase (1796-11), appointed by Pre-
sident George Washington; Bushrod Wa-
shington (1799-29) and Alfred Moore (1800-
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04), appointed by President John Adams;
William Johnson (1804-34), Brockholst Li-
vingston (1807-23), and Thomas Todd (1807-
26), appointed by President Thomas Jefferson;
Gabriel Duvall (1811-35) and Joseph Story
(1812-45), appointed by President James
Madison; Smith Thompson (1823-43), ap-
pointed by President James Monroe; Robert
Trimble (1826-28), appointed by President
John Quincy Adams; and John McLean
(1830-61), Henry Baldwin (1830-44), and
James Wayne (1835-67), appointed by
President Andrew Jackson.%

From this cohort of presiding judges in
their circuits, Lynch chose to examine, in order
of appointment, Washington, Livingston, Story,
and Thompson. They were selected, Lynch
explains, because, “whilst there are some
similarities in their jurisprudence, each demon-
strates a distinctive contribution to the devel-
opment of federal law.” Such contributions
included “Washington’s dependence on legal
precedent; Livingston’s advancement of com-
mercial law; Story’s admiralty expertize, and
the championing of common law; and Thomp-
son’s states’ rights stance and promotion of the
Cherokee cause.” Together, they “reveal how
each, in his own way, shaped American law.”
Moreover, the four were among the most
prominent of Marshall’s colleagues, enjoyed
substantial tenures, and, perhaps most impor-
tantly, produced enough primary material “to
reach meaningful conclusions.””®*

That primary material of the fifteen circuit
judges was undeniably substantial. Lynch
reports analyzing some 1,317 circuit opinions,
a figure that swells to 1,854 when he includes
their Supreme Court opinions, and, for
Cushing, Chase, Moore, Johnson, Livingston,
Todd, Duvall, Thompson, McLean, and
Wayne their opinions on various state courts.
(Although Marshall sat on circuit as well,
Lynch excluded the Chief Justice because
Marshall has been studied so extensively,
while most of his colleagues have enjoyed
“scant attention™® at best.) Moreover, while
the body of the book is rich in data throughout,
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readers should not overlook Appendix A,
which contains useful reversal rates by the
Supreme Court for cases from state courts and
the lower federal courts.

Lynch’s book leaves the reader with
several major impressions. The first is the
sheer novelty of Federal Justice in 1789.
What Congress put in place in the first
Judiciary Act was truly without a model in
what had become the United States. People
had long been familiar with legislative
assemblies, judges, and courts, first through
their colonial governments and after {776
through their state and local governments.
Yet the Judiciary Act created an organiza-
tional overlay of something entirely new and
different. What these new courts and their
judges did, how well they did it, and how
people would react to them would determine
how, and, whether, this experiment in a
national court system would work. There
was certainly no guarantee.

Second, while it has been customary in
biographies of Justices from the Marshall era
and later to describe the physical and
emotional hardships of circuit duty that
persisted at least until interstate rail travel
became widespread, more dependable, and
comfortable by mid-century, Lynch provides
perspective on what might be termed the
professional or intellectual hardships that
circuit duty entailed that contrasted sharply
with conditions during the time they would
spend when convened as the Supreme Court
in Washington. “Once they reached their
circuit destinations they had to dispense
justice often without the benefit of a law
library, contending with the absence of
written state statutes and case citations which
sometimes failed fully to record the issues
and arguments.” This was also at a time
when the volume of congressional legislation
and the Supreme Court’s output in number
of decisions, especially before Marshall, was
still so puny “as to be of little assistance to
the justices riding circuit who, individually
and collectively, had to source and fashion
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American law to resolve the nation’s crim-
»%5 Moreover.
working in relative legal isolation also meant
that communicating with knowledgeable
colleagues about some thorny or unfamiliar
issue might take days or weeks.

Third, Lynch casts doubt on the view of
some scholars “that the early Supreme Court
rose to prominence, in the main, through its
landmark decisions . . . . 7 Instead, “[a]s so
few circuit opinions were appealed, they

inal and civil litigation.

were generally regarded as final resolutions,
and therefore, shaped that branch of the law
for the circuit and, if followed by other
justices, for the nation.”%® Thus, in Lynch’s
thinking, federal law was created not so
much by judges who responded to cues from
the top but more accurately grew from the
bottom up as circuit rulings eventually found
their way into, and became, the law of
the land.

Fourth, the circuit system was crucial to
education of both the American public and
the Justices. That is, without circuit duty,
reception of federal law in the young nation
would have been more difficult and the
Justices would have been much less in-
formed about life in the various states. As
scholars have known for decades, education
of the public typically occurred through the
circuit justice’s charge to a grand jury.
Initially heavy with political content, the
charges gradually became less so “with the
advent of John Marshall and the emerging
concept of an independent judiciary,” along
with a fear of possible impeachment during
the Jefferson administration. Once that threat
subsided and “the new federal institutions
began to gain general acceptance . . . there
was no need to hammer home the virtues of
central government.”®’

The circuit system in turn instructed the
Justices by bringing them into direct contact
with people in a variety of locations and
circumstances. Lynch agrees with Jeffrey
Morris’s observation that an “itinerant justice
had the opportunity of meeting everyone who
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was anybody on his route—from state gover-
nors, to the president of Yale, to inventors, and
even local beauties . . . swap political and other
gossip, visit fledging industries and generally
make himself ‘enormously knowledgeable
about the progress of manufacturing, the
condition of farm crops and cattle.”®® Without
such day-to-day exposure, Lynch believes that
“the reception of federal law would have been
infinitely more difficult and the justices much
less informed about local conditions.””®
Indeed, he insists that their experience “under-
pinned the rise of the Supreme Court from a
position of weakness to an authoritative and
effective department of the federal govern-
ment” and that “the experience and confidence
gained on circuit was a factor in the federal
judiciary’s ability to withstand political attacks
by Republican opponents during the vulner-
able formative years of the Marshall Court.”™

Fifth, Lynch makes two findings about
the legal or constitutional views expressed in
circuit opinions. The first is that, while
Livingston, Story, and Thompson were
“politically active in the Republican Party
before appointment,” each “disappointed
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their respective nominating presidents by
failing to vigorously defend states’ rights
from federal encroachment.” This Lynch
finds unsurprising, as each came from
similar backgrounds “and shared the same
fundamental values.” Moreover, given the
attacks leveled at the federal judiciary,
the general effect was to unite “the Supreme
Court justices, whatever their political per-
suasion, against all opponents.”’" In addi-
tion, “the convention of the single opinion of
the Court had the effect of achieving
unanimity through compromise because of
the need for unity in the face of a determined
opposition,” resulting in “all members of the
Court being more amendable to the general
view.””? His second finding was that a
Justice’s circuit opinion was “generally a
more reliable indicator of his jurisprudence
than his opinion for the Supreme Court.”
While the latter “often required the compro-
mise of strongly held views for unanimity,”
the situation for the former was often
different. While a “justice on circuit some-
times sat with a district judge, the justice’s
view of the law or fact usually prevailed and

While the physical difficulties of circuit-riding have been well documented, in his new book, The Role of Circuit
Courts in the Formation of United States Law in the Early Republic: Following Supreme Court Justices Washington,
Livingston, Story, and Thompson David, Lynch emphasizes the intellectual ones. Once a Justice reached his circuit
destination he worked “without henefit of a law library, contending with the absence of written state statutes and
case citations which sometimes failed fully to record the issues and arguments.” Moreover, the volume of
congressional legislation and the Supreme Court’s output in number of decisions was so small “as to be of little
assistance to the justices riding circuit who, individually and collectively, had to source and fashion American

law to resolve the nation’s criminal and civil litigation.”
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the opinion occasionally expressed his personal
and political views on the issues before him.”"?

Lynch’s research adds considerably to
what is known about both cases decided by
the early federal judiciary and those Justices
who served. These “found
American law a skeleton at the beginning of
the nineteenth century” and in turn “left a fully
formed body of federal law to which later
generations have added™™* —an outcome that
was surely fortunate, yet hardly assured.

Among scholars of the Supreme Court,
few have done more to explain and publicize
the workings of the institution than David M.
O’Brien, whose death on December 20,
2018, has left emptiness in the field.”> The
Leone Reaves and George W. Spicer Pro-
fessor of Politics at the University of
Virginia since 1996 and a member of the
editorial board of this Journal, O’Brien was
author, co-author, editor or co-editor of some
seventeen books, including the widely read
and quoted Storm Center: The Supreme
Court in American Politics, first published
by W. W. Norton in 1986 and now in its
eleventh edition. O’Brien’s sequence of
books includes two that appeared as recently
as 2017, the first being Justice Robert H.
Jackson’s Unpublished Opinion in Brown v.
Board.® This valuable monograph focuses
renewed attention on one of the most
important judicial figures of the post-1937
Supreme Court’’ and on one of the most
consequential, researched, and commented-
upon judicial decisions’® of the twentieth
century and appears at a time when a modern
biography of this Pennsylvania-born and
New York-bred legal figure is long over-
due.”® O’Brien’s book is also important
because of the additional light it sheds on
Associate Justice and later Chief Justice
William H. Rehnquist, who clerked for
Jackson.

As the title promises, the book’s focus is
on an unpublished opinion Justice Jackson
drafted while Brown v. Board of Education
was being considered by the Court. This draft

individuals
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opinion has been a subject of some specula-
tion, O’Brien notes, at least since Richard
Kluger's Simple Justice (1975) made its
existence well known, leading some to think
the opinion had been prepared as a dissent,
even though Brown, as it came down, was
unanimous. Explaining that writing an opi-
nion that was never published was not unique
to Jackson, as his successor John Marshall
Harlan kept his own numerous ones bound for
use as reference in chambers, O’Brien found
that Jackson's “considerable number of
suppressed drafts . . . [in a variety of cases]
reflect not only conversations with himself
but also his thinking about fundamental issues
of constitutional interpretation, law, and
politics that still remain debated.”®® The
unpublished opinion in Brown. which
O’Brien included in full,®' went through six
drafts, “changing in length, structure, and
substantive focus™ as the length grew from
fourteen to twenty-three pages, with material
being added, deleted, and elaborated. This
succession in turn reveals that “from the first
to the last. the tone and analysis grow less
pessimistic and more reconciled to the result,”
yet remaining anxious throughout about
compliance and implementation—"less so
than Frankfurter or Reed, but more so than
Black or Douglas.”82

Chapter three, entitled “Justice and
Company,” is alone worth the publisher’s
price of admission. Aside from being a
worthwhile stand-alone discussion of the
Justices” varying uses of law clerks in the
modern era, O’Brien highlighted several
reasons why Jackson’s own misgivings
about the growing reliance on clerks—
O’Brien reports that Jackson “invariably”
wrote the first draft of an opinion®—provide
a context for appreciating the significance of
his unpublished opinion in Brown. “First, it
reveals Jackson’s thinking unfiltered and
unencumbered by the influence of clerks.”
of whom Jackson had one until after 1949
when Congress authorized two.** Second, it
“reflected his intellectual struggles with
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fundamental questions of constitutional in-
terpretation” and so contributes to contem-
porary debates about competing theories.
Indeed, in Jackson’s case, the opinion
expressed the tension between notions of a
“living constitution” and original intent.
Third, the opinion “further discredits claims
made by Rehnquist” during the Senate
Judiciary’s Committee’s hearings on his
nomination as Associate Justice and again
the same claims made at the hearings in 1986
on his elevation to the center chair when
Chief Justice Burger retired. “On both
occasions, Rehnquist contended that a 1952
memo on Brown that he wrote as a clerk,
arguing against overruling Plessy v. Ferguson’s
doctrine of separate-but-equal, reflected Jack-
son’s views not his own.” O’Brien reprinted a
reproduction of the 1952 Rehnquist memo®
and insisted that the unpublished opinion makes
“abundantly clear,” contrary to Rehnquist and
some scholarly speculation, that Jackson never
planned on dissenting in Brown.”®

Why then did the thorough and
thoughtful opinion remain unpublished?
There may be no demonstrable explanation,
but O’Brien suggested the answer lies in
Chief Justice Warren’s well-known desire
for unanimity, deemed particularly important
in a case like Brown, and in Warren’s
nonaccusatory, narrow, and straightforward
opinion” for the Court.®’

The second O’Brien book published in
2017 is a new edition of his edited work
Judges on Judging,®® the first edition of
which appeared in 1997. Compiled mainly
for students of the judicial process, this
collection is nevertheless serviceable to
novice, seasoned scholar, and practitioner
alike and of particular value to anyone
desiring to read about what judges do as
described not by outsiders but by judges
themselves, as the subtitle—"“Views from
the Bench”—indicates. Moreover, perhaps
to avert any confusion that the “bench” at
hand is of the judicial and not the athletic
variety,* O’Brien’s introduction tellingly
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points to the common observation that
most Americans know very little about
the Supreme Court and the other federal
courts—much less in fact than they do
about Congress—yet hold the judiciary in
much higher regard, an anomaly that once
led former member of Congress and later
U.S. appeals court judge Abner J. Mikva to
comment, “I hate to think we’re only
beloved in ignorance.”® The humor points
to the book’s objective of making acces-
sible Justices’ and judges’ thinking about
judicial activism and restraint, rival ap-
proaches to constitutional interpretation,
and the judicial role in the political
process. Moreover, with a balanced selec-
tion of entries, the volume seems well
constructed to contribute to the ongoing
debate about the propriety of certain off-
the-bench remarks and to encourage
readers to think about the qualities of
Jjudges—their temperaments, characters,
Jjudicial philosophies, and political views—as
well as the role of courts in American politics.
However, as O’Brien explained, judges’
explanations are “only partial and must be
supplemented with what we learn from social
science, history, and philosophy.”gl

As such, Judges on Judging has
proven to be what might be described as
a self-replenishing book in that its selec-
tions do not represent a canon whose
contents are locked or closed. Given the
broad topics covered, one may safely
predict that judges, including no doubt
some who have yet to be heard from, will
not only continue to speak and write about
what they do, but perhaps will do so in
occasionally uncommon ways that may
rankle both the public and their colleagues.
Yet, should circumstances someday happily
allow for a new edition by a successor editor,
this author hopes that it will include an index, a
truly essential feature that would have made
this very small part of O’Brien’s considerable
and impressive legacy notably more functional
and convenient to use.
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Organizationally, the new edition adheres
closely to the structure of its predecessors,
including an invaluable selected bibliography
on off-bench commentary (Appendix C) that
extends to twenty-four pages. As for sub-
stantive content, the book’s thirty-four entries
represent the work of thirty-one different
judges, of whom seventeen are current or
former members of the United States Su-
preme Court. With the exception of two state
appellate judges, the remaining authors are or
were judges on one of the United States
district courts or one of the United States
courts of appeals. To lend additional coher-
ency to the volume, O’Brien grouped the
selections into four parts and began each part
with an introduction: (1) Judicial Review and
American Politics: Historical and Political
Perspectives; (2) The Dynamics of the
judicial Process; (3) The Judiciary and the
Constitution; and, injecting a federalism
component (4) Our Dual Constitutional
System: The Bill of Rights and the States.
Readers will find both some well-known
pieces and some that may be new for many.
In the former category, there are entries such
as Oliver Wendell Holmes® “The Path of the
Law,” published while the future Justice was
still sitting on the Supreme Judicial Court of
Massachusetts,92 and Justice Hugo Black’s
signature discourse on ‘“The Bill of Rights.”
Among the latter is Justice Ruth Bader
Ginsburg’s “Speaking in a Judicial Voice:
Reflections on Roe v . Wade.” which she
wrote shortly before her nomination to the
Supreme Court in 1993.

Collectively the selections in this edition,
like its predecessors, continue to provide
insight into the judicial process and will
simulate conversations about its”* relationship
to what Justice Harlan Fiske Stone once
termed, in the context of a bar association
address, the “‘judicial instinct of self-pre-
servation.”** Certainly O’Brien’s book. as
well as the others surveyed here. demonstrate
the High Court’s continuing presence and
prominence in scholarly literature.

JOURNAL OF SUPREME COURT HISTORY

THE BOOKS SURVEYED IN THIS
ARTICLE ARE LISTED
ALPHABETICALLY BY AUTHOR
BELOW

LyncH, Davip. The Role of Circuit
Courts in the Formation of United States
Law in the Early Republic: Following
Supreme Court Justices Washington, Li-
vingston, Story, and Thompson. (Oxford,
United Kingdom and Portland, OR, Hart
Publishing, 2018). Pp. xxi, 233. ISBN:
9781509910854, cloth.

NeLson, WiLLiam E. Marbury v. Ma-
dison: The Origins and Legacy of Judicial
Review. (Lawrence, KS: University Press of
Kansas, 2" ed., 2018). Pp. xiii, 170. ISBN:
978-0-7006-2640-3, paper.

O’Brien, Davip, M. Judges on Jud-
ging: Views from the Bench. (Thousand
Oaks, CA: CQ Press, 5" ed., 2017). Pp. x,
380. ISBN: 978-1-5063-4028-9, paper.

O’BrieN, Davip, M. Justice Robert H.
Jackson’s Unpublished Opinion in Brown
v. Board: Conflict, Compromise, and
Constitutional Interpretation. (Lawrence,
KS: University Press of Kansas, 2017). Pp.
xii, 220. ISBN: 978-0-7006-2158-5, cloth.

PauL, JoeL Ricuarp. Without Prece-
dent: Chief Justice John Marshall and His
Times (New York, NY: Riverhead Books,
2018). Pp. 502. ISBN: 978-1-47259448-823-
8, cloth.

ENDNOTES

! Henry Sumner Maine, Popular Government (1886).
The English edition was published first in 1885, three
years before Maine's death. The fourth essay is entitled
“The Constitution of the United States™ and is the one of
interest here.

? Youngstown Co. v. Sawver, 343 U.S. 579, 646 (1952)
(Jackson, J., concurring).

* Popular Government, pp. 218, 221-22.

*1d., p. 243.

S Id.. p. 245.

® For example, see Albert J. Beveridge, The Life of
John Marshall, 4 vols. (1916-19): Robert K. Faulkner.
The Jurisprudence of John Marshall (1968); Stanley 1
Kutler, ed., John Marshall (1972); Leonard Baker.



THE JUDICIAL BOOKSHELF

John Marshall: A Life in Law (1974); Francis N.
Stites, John Marshall: Defender of the Constitution
(1981); Charles F. Hobson, John Marshall: The Great
Chief Justice and the Rule of Law (1996); Jean
Edward Smith, John Marshall: Definer of a Nation
(1996); Herbert A. Johnson, The Chief Justiceship of
John Marshall (1997); David Robarge. A Chief
Justice’s Progress (2000); R. Kent Newmyer, John
Marshall and the Heroic Age of the Supreme Court
(2001); and Richard Brookhiser, John Marshall, the
Man Who Made the Court Supreme (2018).

7 James Servies, A Bibliography of John
Marshall (1956).

& Joel Richard Paul, Without Precedent (2018). here-
after as Paul.

°1d., p. 2.

4.

" 1d., pp. 234-35.

2 Edward S. Corwin, “John Marshall. Revolutionist
Malgré Lui,” 104 University of Pennsylvania Law
Review 9 (1955).

'3 Paul, pp. 10-11.

4 paul Finkleman, Supreme Injustice (2018).

S, p. 3.

%14, p. 2.

7 1d., p. 26.

18 paul, p. 350.

' 1d., p. 46.

2 1d., pp. 46-47.

2123 U.S. (10 Wheaton) 66 (1824).

2., 115.

2 Paul, pp. 361, 363.

2457, S. (1 Cranch) 137 (1803).

25 The phrase within quotation marks is the title of the
lead essay by John A. Garraty on Marbury in Garraty’s
Quarrels That Have Shaped the Constitution (rev.
ed., 1987), pp. 1-19.

26 The District of Columbia Organic Act of 1801.

27 James was also one of the “midnight judges” Adams
had named to the short-lived Circuit Court for the
District of Columbia under the Judiciary Act of 1801.

28 paul, pp. 252-53.

2 Id., p. 254.

O 1d., p. 255.

35 U.S. (1 Cranch) 165-66 (emphasis added).

2 1d, p. 167.

3 Edward S. Corwin, The Doctrine of Judicial Review
(1914) p. 59.

* paul, p. 222.

3 1d., p. 438.

3 1d., p. 224.

3 1d., pp. 234-35.

B 1d., p. 438.

* William E. Nelson, Marbury v. Madison Q™ ed..
2018) (hereafter as Nelson).

125

0 For example, see Clement E. Vose, Caucasians Only:
The Supreme Court, the NAACP, and the Restrictive
Covenant Cases (1959), and C. Herman Pritchett and
Alan F. Westin, eds., The Third Branch of Govern-
ment: 8 Cases in Constitutional Politics (1963).

1 In defense of the omission of footnotes or endnotes,
the series editors explain that they “asked all authors to
omit formal citations to make our volumes more
readable, inexpensive, and appealing for students and
general readers.” Nelson, p. 157. The defect in that
defense is easily illustrated by two useful quotations the
reader finds on pages 131 and 132. The first is by Judge
Learned Hand. the second by Professor John Dickinson.
Suppose a reader wishes to examine the context for
each. With a citation provided for neither, the reader is left
wondering about the specific source of both statements.
Perhaps they are from a publication mentioned in the
bibliographical essay. If so, which one and where? If not,
the reader is left adrift with little more than Google.

*2 Nelson, p. ix.

., p.76, emphasis omitted.

H1d., pp 76-77.

YId.p. 1.

*1d., p. 6.

TId.p. .

14 p. 8.

*1d., pp. 8-9.

17 U. S. (4 Wheaton) 316 (1819).

3! Gerald Gunther, ed., John Marshall’s Defense of
McCulloch v. Maryland (1969).

32 Nelson, p. 9.

B .

H1d., p. 10.

3 “As long as this Court thought (and the people
thought) that we Justices were doing essentially
lawyers” work up here—reading text and discerning
our society’s traditional understanding of that text—the
public pretty much left us alone. Texts and traditions are
facts to study. not convictions to demonstrate about. But
if in reality, our process of constitutional adjudication
consists primarily of making value judgments ... then a
free and intelligent people’s attitude towards us can be
expected to be (ought to be) quite different.” Planned
Parenthood of Southeastern Pennsylvania v. Casey, 505
U. S. 833, 1000-01(1992). Scalia J., dissenting.

3 Nelson, p. 153.

ST 1d., pp. 153-54.

** David Lynch’s book is hereafter cited as Lynch.

¥ Another recent example is In Defense of the United
States Constitution by Robert S. Singh of the
University of London. Singh’s book was published in
2019 by Routledge.

5 Articie III, section 1.

® Felix Frankfurter and James M. Landis, The Busi-
ness of the Supreme Court (1928), p. 52.



126

2 In two places on the same page, Lynch refers to
“14” with Marshall.
Lynch at xxi. However, Appendix C lists fifteen.
1d., 202-05. This author’s count is also fifteen, not
fourteen.

% Lynch, p. 3.

% 1d., p. xxi.

% Id., p. 183.

5 1d, p. 1.

7 1d., p. 186.

 Lynch draws the quoted passage from Jeffrey B.
Morris, Federal Justice on the Second Circuit (1987).
p- 19.

% Lynch, p. 6.

1d., p. 184.

" 1d., p. 186.

1d., p. 187.

P d., p. 185.

" 1d., p. 194.

73 hitps://www.nytimes.com/2018/12/28/obituaries/
david-m-obrien-dead.htm! (last accessed January
6. 2019).

S David M.O’Brien, Justice Robert H. Jackson’s
Unpublished Opinion in Brown v. Board (2018)
[hereafter O’Brien (1)].

7 Justice Jackson was appointed by President Franklin
1941

Associate Justices who sat

Roosevelt in and served until his death in
October 1954.

8 Brown v. Board of Education, 347 U. S. 483 (1954).
7 Eugene Gerhart's America’s Advocate: Robert H.
Jackson (1958) was written before some important

judicial and other sources became available.

JOURNAL OF SUPREME COURT HISTORY

8 O Brien (1), p. 3.

81 1d., pp. 123-32.

8 1d., p. 3.

8 1d.. p. 54.

¥4 As a former clerk, William Rehnquist made public
on at least two occasions his own misgivings about
the influence of clerks. Rchnquist, “Who Writes
Decisions of the Supreme Court?” U. S. News &
World Report (December 13, 1957, p. 74,
“Another View: Clerks Might ‘Influence’ Some
Actions,” U. S. News & World Report. February 21,
1958, p. 116.

85 O Brien, p. 66.

Y 1d.. p. 5.

8 1d., p. 53.

* David M. O'Bricn. Judges on Judging (5" ed..
(2017) [hercafter O Brien (2)].

8 0"Brien’s book is thercfore not to be likened to Alan
Williams's Walk on: Life from the End of the
Bench (2006).

% 0" Brien (2). p. 3.

'1d. p. 8.

2 Justice Holmes is counted with the former members
of the U. S. Supreme Court.

“* While O'Brien included a lecture from 1988 by
Justice Antonin Scalia. one wishes the book featured an

and

excerpt tfrom Reading Law: The Interpretation of
Legal Texts (2012). which Justice Scalia co-authored
with Bryan A. Garner.

! Harlan F. Stone. “Fifty Years® Work of the United
States Supreme Court.” 14 American Bar Association
Journal 428, 428 (1928).



Contributors

John Q. Barrett is a law professor at St.
John’s University in New York City and the
Elizabeth S. Lenna Fellow at the Robert H.
Jackson Center in Jamestown, New York.

James W. Ely, Jr. is Milton R. Underwood
Professor of Law Emeritus and Professor of
History Emeritus at Vanderbilt University.

Mark R. Killenbeck is the Wylie H. Davis
Distinguished Professor at University of
Arkansas School of Law.

Adam Hines is a history student at Oklaho-
ma University.

Nicholas F. Jacobs is a doctoral candidate in
the Department of Politics at the University
of Virginia.

Sidney M. Milkis is White Burkett Miller
Professor and Cavaliers’ Distinguished
Teaching Professor and Director, Honors
Program, in the Department of Politics at the
University of Virginia.

Saikrishna Bangalore Prakash is James
Monroe Distinguished Professor of Law,
Paul G. Mahoney Professor of Law, and
Miller Center Senior Fellow at the University
of Virginia.

Grier Stephenson, Jr. is Charles A. Dana
Professor of Government, Emeritus, Franklin
and Marshall College.



INustrations

Page 9, Library of Congress Pages 44, 46, 48, Harvard Law School Library

Page 11, National Archives Pages 54, 57, 58, 64, Library of Congress

Page 12, Statue by William Wetmore Story Page 76, Byrnes’s Archives, University of Clemson.
Page 15, Painting by Rembrandt Peale. Courtesy of  Page 81, Harris & Ewing, photographer, Library of
Maryland Historical Society Congress

Page 27, U.S. Mint Page 84, The New York Times

Page 29, National Archives Page 86, Byrnes’s Archives, University ot Clemson
Page 30, Library of Congress Pages 97, 100, 105, 112, 121, Library of Congress
Page 32, National Park Service Page 115, Courtesy of University of Virginia

Page 42. Engraved by Stephen Alonzo Schoft in
1878 from an original drawing by Sam W. Rowse.
Library of Congress

Cover: James F. Byrnes. Courtesy of the Truman Library




	project_muse_874777
	project_muse_874778
	project_muse_874779
	project_muse_874780
	project_muse_874781
	project_muse_874782
	project_muse_874783
	project_muse_874784
	project_muse_874785
	project_muse_874786



